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EDITORIAL 

 
Rebuilding an educational system … or … when is 
the right time for changing the rules? 
 

When the educational system from a country fails to do 
its job it is known that is time for a change. Everybody 
knows that a good educational system means a necessary 
base for good future. It is also known that if an educational 
system is not constructed and maintained properly its 
irreversible results will be revealed after 10-30 years. 
Although in every electoral period the educational system is a 
strong issue to present and use, there are not too much 
peoples who put this system in its right place. 

When someone wants to change this situation he/she 
needs to do first an evaluation to find out what is the status 
of the system and more important what is wrong in the 
system. For that, adequate instruments, methodology of 
collecting and processing the data and quality standards are 
required. With these must be done an impartial and 
transparent evaluation. 

Before the evaluation starts, a presentation of it must be 
done so every actors from this system to know what are the 
requirements, how the data will be collected and processed, 
what are the main category of the results. All of these are 
necessary because it is need it that the results and the 
corrective measure to be accepted by all. 

After the evaluation and diagnostic, the system must be 
corrected where is necessary or entirely reconstructed. The 
corrective measure must cut surgically only the bad parts of 
the system. 

In reality not always the things are like above. After 
many experiences in many countries in time there are a few 
questions that always arise: 

What is happened when the corrective measures are 
applied before an evaluation?   

What is happened when the methodology of collecting 
and processing the data is kept secret or it does not really 
exists or is changed during the process of evaluation? 

What is happened when the quality standards are not 
used or are not adequate? 
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What is happened when the rules are not the same for the 
entire educational system or are changed during the 
evaluation? 

The answers is: the evaluation fails, or the corrective 
measure are not accepted because of lack of trust and finally 
the system become worse that before.  

  
 

Assoc. Prof. Ph.D Costel Ionascu. 
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RECENT DEVELOPMENTS IN THE EU TAXATION 

Assoc. Prof. Flavia Barna Ph.D 
West University from Timişoara  
Faculty of Economics and Business Administration  
Timişoara, Romania 
Assist. Petru-Ovidiu Mura Ph. D Student 
West University from Timişoara  
Faculty of Economics and Business Administration  
Timişoara, Romania 

Abstract:  Anticipating the economic and social change, European Union 
member states have decided to restructure their aspirations and fiscal 
priorities. European Union fiscal policy aims to achieve important goals, 
such as free movement of capital, competitiveness, economic growth and 
employment, avoiding, at the same time, harmful tax competition between 
Member States. In this paper we undertook a structural - quantitative 
analysis of the EU taxation in order to highlight the degree to which fiscal 
policy objectives proposed by European decision makers are fulfilled and 
the existent disparities among the member states, resulting in frustration of 
the taxpayers.  

JEL classification: E62, E63. 

Key words: fiscal policy, labor taxation, tax burden, implicite rate of taxation, fiscal 
revenues structure. 

1. Introduction 
In a general sense, the fiscal policy means “the volume and source of the means 

of financing the public funds, the assessment methods to be used, the objectives and 
means of achieving them”. (Manolescu, G., 1997) Another approach argues that fiscal 
policy reffers to “all the measures, practical actions - based on an economic 
conception– the types of taxes used, their place throughout the budgetary revenues, the 
dynamic relations between them, as well as how to use them as leverage to stimulate 
economic development, solving social and political problems in the country”. (Dobrotă, 
N., 1997,  p. 468) 

Seen as a support of complex decision making, fiscal policy means “all fiscal 
decisions taken by public decision-makers, in order to ensure the financial resources to 
finance public needs and achieving the socio-economic goals, while the real economy is 
affected by objective factors, annd their trend is not exclusively cyclical”. (Corduneanu 
Carmen, 1998, p. 379) Fiscal policy is determined directly related to the state’s options 
on taxes, meaning that it must require conscious use of the full set of fiscal tools and 
methods for determining the level, structure and fiscal incentives regime in the 
distribution of social product, so as to ensure political, economic and social objectives. 
(Condor I., Stancu R., 2002) 
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The European desire is to create a favorable tax area that may influence the 
economic growth and competitiveness in Europe, leading to the creation of a European 
welfare state, modern, innovative and sustainable. The fiscal policy adopted in the EU 
proposes to achieve important goals, such as free movement of capital and employment, 
avoiding, at the same time, harmful tax competition between Member States. In this 
context, we show that European fiscal system affects different categories of taxpayers 
due to structural differences that appear in terms of income, consumption, degrees of 
regulation, different ways of administering the tax system branches and the possibility 
of avoiding tax liabilities. 

2. Objectives  
The objectives of this article can be summarized as:  
1. to illustrate the evolution of fiscal pressure in EU. 
2. to highlight the evolution of tax burden related to labor taxation, the 

implicite rates of labor taxation and the composition of labor taxation rates. 
3. to offer a detailed description of the structure of tax revenues by country and 

cathegory of taxes. 

3. Structural - quantitative analysis of taxation in the European Union 

3.1.  Fiscal pressure in the European Union 
 The European Union is, taken as a whole, a high tax area. In 2008, the overall 

tax ratio, i.e. the sum of taxes and social security contributions in the 27 Member States 
(EU-27) amounted to 39.3 % in the GDP-weighted average, more than one third above 
the levels recorded in the United States and Japan. The tax level in the EU is high not 
only compared to those two countries but also compared to other economies in general; 
among the major non-European OECD members, only New Zealand has a tax ratio that 
exceeds 34.5 % of GDP(2). As for less developed countries, they are typically 
characterised by relatively low tax ratios. 

 
Source: Commission Services for the EU, OECD for the US and Japan 

Figure no. 1 Overall tax-to-GDP ratio (incl. SSC) in the EU, US and Japan 2008, 
in % 
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At the end of the 1990-2000 decade, a number of countries have benefited from 
dynamic tax revenues to reduce tax burden, applying reductions for income tax, social 
security or income tax. A clear decline in the tax burden is evident between the years 
2001-2002 (see Figure 2); however, successive increases in the years following 2004 
show that in most countries there is a limited appetite regarding a drastic reduction in 
overall tax burden. The most aggressive tax cuts were recorded in the Member States of 
Central and Eastern Europe (in the 90s), due to the urgent need of restructuring their 
economies. 

 
Source: Commission Services 

Figure no. 2 Long-term trend of tax burden (including social contributions) - 
1970-2008 (% of GDP) 

 
Today, in response to the global financial crisis, European countries have 

resorted to carrying out extraordinary public programs and the designing of growing 
budget deficits, which will complicate in the future the reducing of the tax burden and 
also the budgetary stability. 

Tax burden has declined since 2000, but only for a few years. The reducing of 
the tax rate was quite steep in 2001, but decreased in intensity in the years that followed 
and stopped in 2005. Between 2005-2007, there was an increase, followed by a further 
decline in 2008 (see Figure 2). Cyclical factors were those who contributed to this 
development: economic growth has slowed immediately after 2000, reducing the fiscal 
revenues, and since 2004 the growth accelerated (see Figure 3). 

In addition, some countries’ need to reduce the general government deficit 
made it more difficult to fiscal relaxation. The high general level of taxation does not 
mean that each Member State shall impose higher rates. The geographically peripheral 
countries (except the Nordic countries and Cyprus) tend to apply lower tax rates, 
especially in Eastern Europe. There are two groups of countries with a high tax burden, 
ie the Nordic countries (Denmark, Sweden, Finland) and four Member States of Central 
Europe (Belgium, France, Italy and Austria), which recorded values of the tax burden 
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over 40% in 2008. Overall, differences in tax levels within the EU are significant, 
eaching over 20% of GDP: from 27.9% in Romania to 48% in Denmark. 
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Source: Data processed using the Eurostat statistical series 
Note: the value of GDP used to express the tax rate, also includes estimates of 

production made by the informal sector (“gray” or “black” economics). So a low tax burden 
may reflect not only lower taxes but a higher tax evasion. 

Figure no. 3 Evolution of GDP (at market prices) during 1997-2009 (millions of 
euro) 

 
Source: Eurostat for EU countries and Norway, OECD for U.S. and Japan 

Figure no. 4 Tax burden in EU, U.S., Japan and Norway in 2008,% of GDP 
In general, the taxes / GDP report tends to be significantly larger in the EU-15 

than in the 12 new countries: the first seven items (after tax burden) are occupied, 
indeed, by the old member countries (see Figure 4). There are exceptions: for example, 
Ireland and Greece have among the lowest tax rates in the European Union. Euroland 
shows a slightly higher tax burden than the EU-27, this being explained by the fact that 
euro area contains mostly old Member States. 
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Regarding the tax burden related to labor taxation, it started growing strongly in 
the early 1970s. The increase was very marked in the 1970, decelerating only slightly in 
the 1980s and the first half of the 1990s. The weighted EU-15 average implicit tax rate 
on labour employed (ITR on labour) increased from about 28% (1970) to almost 42 % 
(1997). Now, only five countries in the EU have ITRs (implicit tax rate) below the 30 
% mark. Labour taxes rose so forcefully because they were the only ones that could 
provide the volume of funds necessary to finance the additional government 
expenditure and because unlike consumption taxes, they could be made progressive in 
line with the social and political demands of the time. 

 
Source: Eurostat  

Figure no. 5 Long-term trend of ITR on labour - 1970-2008 (% of GDP) 
 

Starting from the late 1990s, concerns about excessive labour costs prompted 
initiatives to lower the tax burden on labour income, in order to boost the demand for 
labour and foster work incentives. Some Member States opted for cutting taxes or 
social contributions across the board while others focused on targeted reductions in 
social contributions for low wage and low-qualified workers. These cuts in social 
contributions were mostly aimed at granting relief to employers, although some 
countries have also implemented substantial cuts in employees' social contributions. 
The EU-27 arithmetic average has slightly decreased from 36.0 % in 1999 to 34.2 % in 
2008. Eight Member States have ITRs on labour below the 30 % mark and seven are 
above the 40 % threshold. 

There are large differences in the level of labour taxation among the Member 
States. At one extreme, Malta (20.2 %) and Cyprus (24.5 %) stand out with the lowest 
ITR on labour in the Union. This might be linked with their historical ties to Britain, as 
the United Kingdom and Ireland are the only other two countries whose ITR on labour 
is more than eight percentage points below the EU-27 average. Other countries, too, 
have low taxes on labour. Bulgaria has a below 30 % ITR, while the rate in Portugal 
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and Romania is very close to the 30 % mark. In contrast to these geographically more 
peripheral Member States, most 'continental' European Member States (Italy, Belgium, 
Czech Republic, France, Hungary, Austria, Germany, Slovenia) exhibit above average 
ITRs. 

The same applies to the Nordic countries. Within these two groups of countries 
Italy, Sweden, Belgium, Finland, Czech Republic France, Hungary and Austria stand 
out for reporting an ITR on labour which exceeds 40%. When comparing the ITR on 
labour with the overall tax-to-GDP ratio, it is noticeable that those Member States that 
exhibit a high ITR on labour in most cases also have a high tax-to-GDP ratio. The same 
applies to low-tax countries. This result is in line with the high share of labour taxes in 
overall tax revenues. The reason is that the fiscal policy implemented in the EU aims 
the sustainability of public spending based on tax revenues. 

 
Source: Eurostat  

Figure no. 6 Composition of labor taxation rates (2008) 

3.2.  Income structure by tax types 
Within the European Union, the structure of tax revenue (total tax) includes:  
  taxes on production and imports (d2) (3),  
  current taxes on income and wealth (d5),  
  capital taxes (d91),  
  actual compulsory social contributions (d61111 + d61121 + d61131). 
“Indirect taxes” are defined as taxes linked to production and imports (code d2 

in the ESA95 system), i.e. as compulsory levies on producer units in respect of the 
production or importation of goods and services or the use of factors of production. 
They include VAT, import duties, excise duties and other specific taxes on services 
(transport, insurance etc.) and on financial and capital transactions. They also include 
taxes on production (d29) defined as 'taxes that enterprises incur as a result of engaging 
in production', such as professional licences, taxes on land and building and payroll 
taxes. 
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Indirect taxes are defined as the sum of the following ESA95 tax categories: 
• VAT: value added type taxes (d211). 
• Excise duties and consumption taxes: excise and consumption taxes (d214a) + 

excise duties (d2122c). 
• Other taxes on products (incl. import duties): taxes and duties on imports 

excluding VAT (d212), excluding excise duties (d2122c), taxes on products, except 
VAT and import duties (d214), excluding excise duties (d214a). 

• Other taxes on production (d29). 
“Direct taxes” are defined as current taxes on income and wealth (d5) plus 

capital taxes including taxes such as inheritance or gift taxes (d91). Income tax (d51) is 
a subcategory, which includes personal income tax (PIT) and corporate income tax 
(CIT) as well as capital gains taxes. 

Direct taxes are defined as the sum of the following ESA categories: 
• personal income tax: taxes on individual or households income including holding 

gains (d51a + d51c1); 
• corporate income tax: taxes on the income or profits of corporations including 

holding gains (d51b + d51c2); 
• other income and capital taxes: other taxes on income corresponding to other 

taxes on holding gains (d51c3), taxes on winnings from lottery or gambling (d51d) and 
other taxes on income n.e.c. (d51e); taxes on capital defined as other current taxes (d59) 
and capital taxes (d91). 

Actual compulsory social contributions are paid by employers and employees 
on the basis of a work contract, or by self- and non-employed persons. They include 
three subcategories: 

- compulsory employers' actual social contributions (d61111); 
- compulsory employees' social contributions (d61121); 
- compulsory social contributions by self- and non-employed persons (d61131). 

Figure 7 presents an overview of the structure of tax revenues, both the EU27 
and the Eurozone. 

 
Source: Tax revenue in the European Union (Lupi, 2010) 

Figure no. 7 Composition of tax revenue in EU-27 and EA -16 (2008) 
 

Tax revenue in the EU-27 were relatively equally distributed between social 
contributions (33.9%), taxes on production and imports (33.0%), and current taxes on 
income, wealth, etc. (32.3%). A less balanced distribution of tax revenue was recorded 
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for the euro area, with social contributions accounting for 37.4% in 2008, while current 
taxes on income, wealth, etc. accounted for the lowest share, at 29.9%. The EA-16 
results highlight the relative importance of social contributions in Germany and France. 
In fact, these two countries together accounted for 53.4% of the EA-16 aggregate in this 
category. In addition, in 2008 a difference in the residual component “other” was 
observed in the EU-27 (0.8%) compared to the euro-area (0.3%) due to the jump for 
capital taxes in the United Kingdom (+1.2 percentage points in terms of GDP compared 
to 2007). 

In general, new Member States have a different structure from the old Member 
States; while the old Member States have recorded tax revenue, in roughly equal share 
of indirect taxes, direct and social contributions, new Member States often show a 
smaller proportion of direct taxes in total taxes. The lowest share of direct taxes is 
recorded in Bulgaria (only 21.0 % of the total), Slovakia (22.1 %), and the Czech 
Republic (23.8 %); in Poland the share of direct taxes shrank by one third between 1995 
and 2004 but has increased again since then and currently stands at 25.2 %. One cause 
of the low level of direct tax revenues is the moderate tax rates, applied to income and 
profit tax. Several of these countries have adopted stationary rate systems, which 
usually induce a greater reduction in the rates of direct taxes than the indirect taxes. 

The low share of direct taxes in the new Member States is counterbalanced by 
higher values of the share of indirect taxes, and also of social contributions. The highest 
value is found in Bulgaria and Cyprus, where indirect taxes weigh more than half of the 
total tax burden. Malta and Romania, too, show relatively high indirect tax shares. 
Regarding the social security contributions, the Czech Republic stands out with a share 
of 44.9%; high share of social contributions are found in Slovakia, Germany and 
France. 

We encounter significant differences in the countries of the EU-15. Nordic 
countries, but also Great Britain and Ireland, have a high share of direct taxes in total 
tax revenue. In Denmark, and in a lesser extent in Ireland, Malta and the UK, the share 
of social contributions in total tax revenue is low. There is a specific explanation for the 
low level of social security contributions in Denmark: most of the “public welfare” 
spending are financed from general taxation. This requires greater levels of direct 
taxation and, indeed, the share of direct taxes in total tax revenue in Denmark is by far 
the largest in the European Union. Among the old Member States, the German system 
is the opposite of Denmark: Germany has the largest share of social contributions, 
while the share of direct taxes in total tax revenue is among the lowest in the EU-15 
(see Figure 8). 

4. Conclusions  
Faced with the effects of rapid changes resulting from liberalization of trade 

and capital flows, increased competition in the global context, European Union Member 
States have become aware of the importance of continuing efforts to increase 
competitiveness and eliminate disparities existing among the integrated regions of the 
European space, to cope with the challenges of economic and financial globalization. In 
this context, fiscal policy can become a vector of competitiveness, in order to ensure 
sustainable economic growth and higher life standards for European citizens.  
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Source: Tax revenue in the European Union (Lupi, 2010) 

Figure no. 8 Structure of tax revenues by country and cathegory of taxes in 2008 
(% of GDP) 

 
Quantitative structural analysis of taxation in the European Union indicate that 

currently (year 2009) the European tax system affects differentiated many cathegories 
of taxpayers due to structural differences that occur in terms of income, consumption, 
varying degrees of regulatory, different ways of tax system management branches and 
the possibility of avoiding tax liabilities. In general, the tax burden falls on taxpayers 
who have a higher consumption and achieve significant revenues. New Member States 
have a different structure from the old Member States, focusing on a lower share of 
direct taxes in total taxes, while the old Member States have raised fiscal revenues in 
approximately equal shares of indirect taxes, direct ones and social contributions. 

In this context, European policymakers must step up efforts to transform 
structurally and functionally the fiscal area within EU, to ensure improved quality and 
performance of human capital, capital efficiency of the firms and their openness to 
innovation in order to create non-pollutant technologies. 
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Abstract: The evaluation of the economic and financial performance of a 
company actually illustrates the management’s capacity of achieving the 
established goals. The evaluation of management performance requires a 
complex comparative and evolutional analysis of a company’s financial 
development. The study aims at outlining the importance of the analysis of 
income statements and cash flows in the evaluation of management 
performance. 
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1. Introduction  
For any economic entity, it is important to know, at any time, its capacity to 

reach the proposed goals. The main competence of the management consists in 
maintaining a company at the desired performance level. For this reason, it is essential 
that the management should be permanently evaluated in terms of the recorded 
performances.  

2.Concepts and Methodology: 
A company has performance if it is profitable, competitive and provides 

customers with quality products1. This approach of professor Iulia Jianu incorporates 
the newest approaches of economic and financial performance and defines the most 
important goals of a company’s management. 

A company’s performance depends both on the operational management and on 
financial management2. The financial management requires a more detailed approach, 
because its actions influence both the company’s current financial situation and the 
future evolution thereof. The financial management is that component of the general 
management which controls the achievement of the established financial goals, 
manages the company’s assets, in order to prevent its bankruptcy risk, draws up annual 
financial statements and accomplishes financial predictions for the following period. 
The fulfilment of all these attributions is essential for the company to reach the target 
performance and maintain it for a longer time.  
                                                      
1 Jianu,I., Evaluarea, prezentarea si analiza performantelor intreprinderii, Ed. CECCAR, 
Bucharest, 2007, p. 484 
2 Batrancea, I., Batrancea,L.M., Borlea,S.M., Analiza financiara a entitatii economice, Ed. 
Risoprint, Cluj-Napoca,2007, p. 35 
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Performance is a major concept in theoretical approaches and, at the same time, 
a permanent concern in practice3. For these reasons, performance must be assessed not 
only in theoretical terms, but also in practical terms, by means of the company’s annual 
financial statements. 

The evaluation of performances on basis of financial statements is oriented 
towards past, which is why extrapolations are extremely difficult. However, any 
decision is the result of such an analysis of performances, which can only affect the 
future4. 

A dimension of financial performances is outlined by means of the income 
statement. This statement provides information used both for the evaluation of a 
company’s previous performance and for estimating its future financial results5. 

The income statement is a synthetic accounting document, which classifies the 
operating, financial and extraordinary flows of a company6. 

The structure of the income statement in Romania complies with the Order of 
the Minister of Public Finance no. 1752/2005 (for the financial statements elaborated 
from 2005 to 2009) and contains the detailed presentation of the achieved result, by 
outlining the incomes and expenses, according to their nature, as well as the result of 
the exercise, by categories of activities and globally7. Thus, the achieved gross result 
represents the accumulation of the operating result, the financial result and the 
extraordinary result. The net result is obtained by subtracting the income tax from the 
gross result. Within the accomplished study, only the specific results for each type of 
activity will be used, not the related incomes and expenses as well.  

The income statement provides an incomplete image of performances, if not 
used in combination with the balance sheet and the statement on changes in the 
financial position8. Changes in a company’s financial position is presented by means of 
the cash flow statement. 

The balance sheet presents the balance of liquidities and liquidity equivalents at 
the end of the period. However, the balance sheet does not indicate why liquidities and 
liquidity equivalents increased or decreased. The income statement presents the 
information of the type of incomes, expenses and results released by the various 
activities, which represent key information on sources and uses of liquidities and 
liquidity equivalents, but this statement does not explain why such elements increased 
or decreased9. 

Thus, in order to assess management performances, besides the analysis of the 
information on sources and uses of liquidities, the analysis of the cash flow statement 
must be performed, in order to obtain information on the variation of liquidities. The 

                                                      
3 Niculescu, M., Diagnostic global-strategic (Diagnostic financiar) vol 2, Ed. Economica, 
Bucharest, 2003, p. 42 
4 Helfert, E., Tehnici de analiza financiara. Ghid pentru crearea valorii, BMT Publishing, 
Bucharest, 2006, p. 111 
5 Batrancea, I., Batrancea, L.M., Borlea, S.M., Analiza financiara a entitatii economice, Ed. 
Risoprint, Cluj-Napoca,2007, p. 237 
6 Idem, p. 237 
7 Siminica, M., Diagnosticul financiar al firmei, Ed. Universitaria, Craiova,2008, p. 21 
8 Brezeanu, P., Finante corporative, vol I, Ed. CH Beck, Bucharest, 2008, p. 34 
9 Batrancea, I., Batrancea, L.M., Borlea, S.M., previously cited work, p. 271. 
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cash flow statement may also be used for evaluating any economic decision and reveals 
the company’s economic performance10. 

Within any economic entity, in accordance with the structure of cash flows, 
three main financial cycles may be identified: the operating cycle, the investment cycle 
and the financing cycle11. The cash flow statement presents the surplus, respectively the 
deficit in each of the three cycles and the methods through which each of these has 
attained a certain result. The total amount of these flows is represented by the net cash 
flow obtained during the analysed financial exercise. 

Because the financial evaluation of the managers’ performances depends both 
on the human factor and on the company’s policies12, the results expressed by the 
income statement (expressing the consequences of the use of liquidity sources) and the 
cash flow (showing the statement of liquidities and the causes leading to this situation) 
must be analysed. 

3.The Analysis of Management Performances by Means of the Income Statement and 
the Cash Flow in Pfizer Inc and Abbott Laboratories: 

In order to outline the importance of an assessment of management 
performances by means of the income statement and the cash flow, a comparative study 
was made in Pfizer Inc and Abbott Laboratories, for the period 2005-2009. Both 
companies belong to the group of the biggest medicine manufacturers at a world level.  

The study includes the analysis of the income statement and the cash flow 
statement for each company and the comparison of the obtained results, in order to 
reach the study conclusions.  

The income statement and cash flow statement for Pfizer Inc are presented in 
table  

Interpretation: 
Analysis of the income statement: In order to outline the importance of the 

analysis of management performances by means of the income statement, an annual 
analysis of the evolution of synthetic indicators must be made: 

During the period 2005-2009, except for the year 2006, the operating result is 
positive and the financial result is negative, which means that revenues exceeded 
expenses in the operating activity and the other way around, in the case of the financial 
activity, which diminished the total result. Analysing the total result, the management 
achieved its profitability objective, but with higher financial expenses than the revenues 
obtained from this activity. In the entire analysed period, the extraordinary activity did 
not influence the total result. 

In the year 2006, the total result had the highest value, due to the positive 
financial result. 

Cash flow analysis:  In order to outline the importance of the analysis of 
management performances by means of the cash flow, an annual analysis of the 
evolution of its components must be made: 

In 2005, the operating cash flow is positive, whereas the investment and the 
funding cash flows are negative. Such a situation is specific to mature companies, 

                                                      
10 Idem, pag. 266 
11 Batrancea, I., Analiza trezoreriei entitatii economice, Ed. Risoprint, Cluj-Napoca, 2008, p. 72 
12 Jianu,I., Evaluarea, prezentarea si analiza performantelor intreprinderii, Ed. 
CECCAR,Bucharest, 2007, p. 501 
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undergoing a moderate growth, whose operating activity generates the funds required 
for the current activity, partially investment funds whose value has not been fully 
covered by selling decommissioned assets, but also but also the funds required for 
paying the debt or reducing the registered capital. The net cash flow is positive and the 
operating activity manages to generate additional cash.  

Table no. 1 The income statement and cash flow statement of Pfizer Inc13. 

The analysed indicator 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 

  Income statement 

The operating result (Re) 14,925 14,282 10,336 15,034 15,456 

The financial result (Rf) -3,416 7,047 -1,169 -5,285 -4,624 

The exceptional result 
(Rex) 0 0 0 0 0 

The total result (Rt) 11,509 21,329 9,167 9,749 10,832 

The income tax (Ip) 3,424 1,992 1,023 1,645 2,197 

The net result (Rn) 8,085 19,337 8,144 8,104 8,635 

  Cash Flow 

Operating cash flow 14,733 17,594 13,335 18,238 16,587 

Investment cash flow -5,072 5,101 795 -12,835 -31,272 

Funding cash flow -9,222 -23,100 -12,610 -6,560 14,481 

Currency exchange 
differences 0 -15 41 -127 60 

Net cash flow 439 -420 1,561 -1,284 -144 
In 2006, the operating cash flow is positive, the investment cash flow is 

positive and the funding cash flow is negative. The surplus from the operating activity 
is increasing in comparison to the previous year, but also the deficit in the funding 
activity increases during this year in comparison to the previous year. The investment 
activity generates a surplus during this year, as the company collects money from the 
sale of decommissioned assets, more than the payments incurred for the purchase of 
new assets, and the resulting surplus is used together with the one resulting from the 
operating activity, either for repaying loans or for reducing the registered capital 
(capital repayment to shareholders), according to the increase in the funding deficit. 
The net cash flow is negative, which means that the company’s activity throughout this 
year resulted in a temporary deficit of liquidities. 

In 2007, the operating cash flow is positive, the investment cash flow is 
positive and the funding cash flow is negative. The operating surplus is lower than in 
the previous year, and the funding deficit is also lower than in the previous year. The 
surplus from the investment activity is lower than in the previous year which means 
that, together with the surplus resulting from the operating activity, it is used for 
                                                      
13 www.smartmoney.com 
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repaying loans or reducing registered capital, but to a lower proportion than in the 
previous year, which is supported through the increase in the deficit from the funding 
activity. The net cash flow is positive, as the company manages to generate additional 
liquidities in this year. 

In 2008, the operating cash flow is positive, the investment cash flow is 
negative and the funding cash flow is positive. The surplus in the operating activity is 
higher than in the previous year, the funding activity generates a significant surplus 
throughout this year, and the investment activity has a significant deficit in comparison 
to the previous year. The evolution of cash flow components is explained through the 
fact that investments increased significantly throughout this year and they are partially 
covered through the sale of decommissioned fixed assets, partially from the operating 
activity and partially from external funding sources. The net cash flow is negative, as 
the company has a cash deficit this year, mostly generated by the achieved investments, 
but the recorded deficit is lower than in the previous year.  

Identifying correlations between the income statement and the cash flow 
analysis. 

Reuniting the results of the previous analyses, the following information may 
be obtained (for allowing comparisons, the analysis was made starting with the year 
2006): 

In 2006, the total result had the highest value in the analysed period, given a 
positive result in the funding activity, and the net cash flow had a deficit of liquidities, 
given the achieved investments. The two results of the analysis support the idea of 
contracting a significant loan, for partially covering investments.  

In 2007, the total result was diminished, given a negative result from funding 
activity, and the net cash flow has a surplus of liquidities, given the decrease in the 
value of the investments made this year.  

In 2008, the total result is diminished as well, given the deficit from the 
company’s funding activity, and the net cash flow presents a temporary deficit of 
liquidities, given the investments which are partially funded from the surplus generated 
by the operating activity. 

In 2009, the total result is close to the total result of 2008, but the net cash flow 
still presents a deficit of liquidities, lower than in the previous year, which means that 
the management is more involved in decreasing the deficit of liquidities. 

 In the period 2006-2009, the variations in the income statement results 
are supported by cash flow, which provides information on the evolution of the 
financial result. Moreover, the cash flow analysis allows for an evaluation of financial 
management decisions.  

The study also includes the analysis of the income statement and cash flow for 
Abbott Laboratories.  

Table 2 includes the income statement and cash flow for Abbott Laboratories. 
Interpretation: 
Analysis of the income statement: In order to outline the importance of the 

analysis of management performances by means of the income statement, an annual 
analysis of the evolution of synthetic indicators must be made: 

In 2005, 2008 and 2009, the total result was positively influenced both by the 
operating result and the financial result. 

In 2006 and 2007, the total result was negatively influenced by the financial 
result, with a more significant impact in 2006 than 2007. 
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Table  no 2: The income statement and cash flow statement of Abbott 
Laboratories. 

The analysed indicator 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 

  Income statement 

The operating result (Re) 
4,379 4,056 4,578 5,791 6,405 

The financial result (Rf) 
241 -1,781 -109 211 787 

The exceptional result (Rex) 
0 0 0 0 0 

The total result (Rt) 
4,620 2,275 4,469 6,002 7,192 

The income tax (Ip) 
1,248 559 863 1,122 1,447 

The net result (Rn) 
3,372 1,716 3,606 4,880 5,745 

  Cash Flow 

Operating cash flow 5,174 5,329 5,184 7,344 7,275 

Investment cash flow -720 -11,398 -1,136 -2,087 -3,699 

Funding cash flow -2,592 3,622 -2,313 -3,486 1,002 

Currency exchange differences -194 74 200 -115 119 

Net cash flow 1,668 -2,373 1,935 1,656 4,697 
Cash flow analysis:  In order to outline the importance of the analysis of 

management performances by means of the cash flow, an annual analysis of the 
evolution of its components must be made: 

In 2005, the operating cash flow is positive, with the investment cash flow and 
funding cash flow having negative values. As in the case of Pfizer, the cash flow is 
specific to mature company, which undergo a moderate growth, whose operating 
activity generates the funds required for current activity, partially the funds for 
investments, but also the funds required for repaying loans or reducing the registered 
capital. The net cash flow is positive, with the operating activity managing to generate 
additional cash as well. 

In 2006, the operating cash flow is positive, the investment cash flow is 
negative and the funding cash flow is positive. The surplus in the operating activity is 
higher than in the previous year, with the funding activity generating a significant 
surplus this year. The investment activity presents a significant increase of the deficit, 
in comparison to the previous year. The evolution of cash flow components is explained 
by the fact that investments have increased significantly throughout this year and they 
are partially covered through the sale of decommissioned fixed assets, partially from the 
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operating activity and partially from external funding sources. The net cash flow is 
negative, with the company having a deficit of cash throughout this year, mostly 
generated by investments.  

In 2007, the operating cash flow is positive and the investment and funding 
cash flows are negative. The surplus from the operating activity is lower than in the 
previous year, and the funding activity has a deficit. The deficit from the investment 
activity is lower than in the previous year, which means that investments have 
diminished throughout this year and the funding activity is focused on repaying loans. 
The net cash flow is positive, as the company manages to generate additional liquidities 
this year. 

In 2007, the operating cash flow is positive and the investment and funding 
cash flows are negative. The surplus from the operating activity is higher than in the 
previous year, and the deficit from the funding activity is higher than in the previous 
year. The investment activity has a higher deficit than in the previous year, due to the 
increase in investments, which were partially funded from the valuable use of fixed 
assets and partially from the surplus generated by the operating activity. The net cash 
flow is positive, but slightly lower than in the previous year, due to the increase in the 
funding and investment deficits.  

In 2009, the operating cash flow is positive, the investment cash flow is 
negative and the funding cash flow is positive. The surplus from the operating activity 
is lower than in the previous year, and the funding activity has additional financial 
resources. The investment activity has a growing deficit in comparison to the previous 
year. The evolution of cash flow components is explained by the fact that investments 
increased significantly this year and are partially covered from the sale of 
decommissioned fixed assets, partially from the operating activity and partially from 
external funding sources. The net cash flow is positive, as operating and funding 
activities have a surplus which is higher than the investment deficit. 

Identifying correlations between the income statement and the cash flow 
analysis. 

Reuniting the results of the previous analyses, the following information may 
be obtained (for allowing comparisons, the analysis was made starting with the year 
2006): 

In 2006, the total result decreases, given a negative result from the funding 
activity, and the net cash flow presents a deficit of liquidities, due to the achieved 
investments. 

In 2007, the total result is still diminished by the financial result, but to a lower 
extent, and the net cash flow presents a cash surplus, given the decrease in the value of 
investments. The financial result is still negative, because the company prefers to repay 
financial loans this year. Hence, financial expenses are higher than financial revenues. 

In 2008, the total result increases, with a positive value of the financial result, 
and the net cash flow also presents a surplus of liquidities. However, the value is 
slightly lower than in the previous year, given increases in investments.  

In 2009, the total result increases as well, with positive values of the financial 
result and the net cash flow presents a surplus of liquidities, higher than in the previous 
year, although investments have gone up. However, the latter have been partially 
funded from external funding sources. 

In the period 2006-2009, the variations of the results in the income statement 
are supported by cash flow, which provides information on the evolution of the 
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financial result. Moreover, the cash flow analysis allows for the evaluation of financial 
management decisions. 

4. Conclusions   

The evaluation of management performance may be made both by means of the 
income statement and cash flow. Although the income statement represents a synthetic 
financial statement mostly used in evaluating performance, it cannot provide enough 
information for evaluating management performance, which is why cash flow must be 
analysed, in order to perform a full assessment of management performance. 
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Abstract: The present paperwork contains issues regarding financial 
reporting at the public institutions and non – financial entities. The main 
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1. Introduction 
In the current economic environment, accounting is indispensable within any 

entity because its theoretical and practical limits enable knowledge about economic 
phenomena, but also about their systematization and presentation.  

Public institutions, economic agents and other entities are required to submit a 
series of information about how activity is run, financial position and obtained results, 
which is necessary information for a wide range of users. For this, they are required to 
prepare financial statements or reports.   

The importance of financial reporting, and therefore of accounting, is obvious 
considering the number of institutions dealing with organizing and regulating 
accounting. Financial reporting is the end result of the accounting activity by 
classifying and summarizing financial transactions.  

The need to prepare financial statements arises from the need to provide 
information needed to make decisions regarding the organization and running of the 
activities of entities in order to reflect a true, clear and accurate picture both in the 
public sector and at the level of the non-financial entities.  

Thus, both public institutions and economic agents (non-financial entities) are 
required to summit financial statement, quarterly and annually, and biannually and 
annually.  

The information included in financial reports must be accurate, relevant and it 
must allow knowledge about certain aspects regarding the entity in question (name, 
reporting period, balance sheet date). 
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2. Objectives 
Preparing financial reports is an obligation of all entities, public or private, 

financial or non financial. They allow the assessment of the activity and of the obtained 
results. This paper aims to accomplish a comparison between the financial statements of 
public institutions and those prepared by non-financial entities by establishing their 
main similarities and differences in terms of objectives, and also of the structural 
components, regulated by national legislation and international accounting standards.  

3. Research methodology 
Research, as a methodical and systematic searching process for subjects of real 

interest, aims to acquire additional knowledge by discovering new facts and visions 
regarding the existent accounting reality.  

In terms of the subject of the paper, the research method is a cognitive approach 
of the perception phenomenon of financial statements prepared by public institutions 
and economic agents, a systematic approach to investigate the reality reflected by them.  

The work technique consisted in reviewing the specialized literature and 
legislation that provide the presentation manner of financial statements in public 
institutions and non-financial entities in order to make comparisons that reflect main 
similarities, but also their differences.   

4. Financial reporting – presentation and characterization  
Observing economic phenomena and processes requires organizing, presenting 

and keeping accounting information in a structured form: financial statements.   
Currently, entities are forced to prepare financial statements that highlight the 

activity, as well as its situation at a given moment.  
Financial reporting is the end result of the activity. It must allow knowing the 

financial position, the performance, as well as the evolution of the financial position in 
order to make fair and relevant decisions.  

According to IAS 1, “Presentation of financial statements”, financial statements 
are a structured representation of the financial position of a company and of its 
transactions, targeting to provide information about financial position, performance and 
changes in the financial position of an enterprise to a wide range of users.  

According to IPSAS 1, “Presentation of financial statements”, financial 
statements are a structured representation of the financial position of an entity and its 
undertaken transactions. 

Thus, a unified approach of the financial statements’ content is obvious, 
regardless if they are prepared by public institutions or private entities.  

According to international accounting norms, the situation regarding financial 
performance must present an adequate classification of revenues for the activities of the 
entities and the analysis of expenses by using as criterion the nature of expenses or their 
destination.  

IPSAS 2, “Cash flow statements”, states that entities which prepare and present 
financial statements under the accrual basis of accounting should prepare a cash flow 
statement and present it as an integral part of its financial statements for each reporting 
period.   

Any transaction performed by an entity implies noticing its effect over the 
elements in financial statements.  
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Considering the leading role played by financial statements at the level of 
public institutions and non-financial entities, it is required to present their object and 
purpose. Therefore, the objective of financial statements14 is to provide information 
about the performances and financial position of the reporting entity, information that 
must prove to be useful for a wide range of users during the assessment of the 
management manner, which is conducted by the directors of the enterprise, and during 
the process of making economic decisions.  

IPSAS 1 shows that the objective of general purpose financial reporting in the 
public sector should be to provide useful information for decision-making and to 
demonstrate the accountability of the entity for resources entrusted to it. 

The purpose of preparing financial statements is15 to obtain and provide useful 
information for decision-making and to justify the use of financial resources after 
achieving a centralized accounting system.  

Another role of financial statements is to provide predictive information, which 
allows predicting the quantity of required resources, but also of the resources to be 
consumed during the activity, by taking into account certain risks.    

The information in financial statements must meet with a series of qualitative 
characteristics, such as:  

 Understandability – the ability of the information to be comprehensible for 
its users, who study financial statements;    

 Relevance – making a judgement that has the possibility of influencing the 
decisions of users; 

 Reliability – involves the lack of significant errors so that the information is 
credible;  

 Comparability – represents the possibility to compare information across 
time and space. Financial statements must include comparative information for the 
current period, as well as for the previous period.  

These qualitative characteristics are required for the final products of public 
institutions’ accounting, as well as for non-financial entities.   

They are important for decision-making because they avoid confusions and 
problems faced by the entity in question. Preparing financial statements involves taking 
into account all the factors that may influence the performance of public institutions and 
economic agents, but also potential changes regarding the assessment of revenues, as 
well as funding opportunities.  

Financial statements based on cash accounting provide information about cash 
resources resulted during the period, about the purposes for which cash was used and 
about the cash balances at the reporting date.  

Cash accounting is a basis of accounting that recognizes transactions and events 
only when the entity receives or pays in cash or cash equivalents.  

The requirements of IAS 1, “Presentation of financial statements”, are applied 
only to external reports prepared and presented according to international financial 
reporting standards.  

IAS 1 also requires entities to prepare financial statements maintaining the 
presentation of their elements from a period to the next unless significant changes occur 
                                                      
14 Liliana  Feleagă,  Niculae Feleagă, Contabilitate financiară. O abordare europeană şi 
internaţională, Economică Publishing House, Bucharest, 2007, p. 206. 
15 Iuliana Cenar,  Contabilitate instituţiilor publice, Casa Cărţii de Ştiinţă Publishing House, Cluj 
– Napoca, 2007, p. 230. 
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in the nature of the entity’s activity or when these changes are required by a subsequent 
accounting rule. These requirements are also found in IPSAS 1.  

We noticed the subordination of financial statements to a precise objective – 
accurate picture, the need for qualitative characteristics in incorporated information, the 
need to meet the information requirements of various categories of users.  

Public institutions are dealing with two categories of financial statements: 
prepared on the accrual basis of accounting and on the cash basis of accounting, the 
latter being the effect of combining public finances (budgetary principles) with 
accounting principles in the realm of public institutions.   

5. Content of financial statements in public institutions and non-financial entities 
Preparing financial statements is a complex process16 of aggregating current 

accounting data, a generator of economic and financial indicators regarding the 
financial situation and the results obtained by each centre of economic decision.  

Even if the structure of financial statements is similar in all countries, there are 
differences due to the diversity of users’ needs.   

Currently, all entities, public or non-financial, are required to present a set of 
financial reports that accurately reflect the situation and their financial 
accomplishments, differentiated by the size of the enterprise.  

General financial statements provide information regarding the activity of 
entities, private or public. These must be prepared and presented annually.  

International requirements stipulate the compulsoriness of the following 
elements in financial reports: name of the reporting entity, the reporting unit and 
currency, the reporting date, the reporting period, changes occurred in such information.  

The table below displays the structure of financial statements for economic 
agents and the private sector according to national regulations (OMPF 3055/2009 for 
the approval of accounting regulations in accordance with European Directives and 
OMPF 1917/2005 for the approval of Methodological Norms on the organization and 
management of public institutions’ accounting, with subsequent amendments and 
completions). 
 
Table no. 1.  Structure of financial statements at public institutions and non-financial 
entities 

Public institution  Non-financial entities 
Balance sheet Balance sheet 
Income statement Profit and loss account 
Treasury flow statement Cash flow statement  
Statement of changes in assets  Statement of changes in equity 
Annexes to the financial statements 
(accounting policies and noted to the 
financial statements) 

Notes to the financial statements 

Budget execution account  
 

Based on the data in the table we can see a few similarities and differences 
between these two patrimonial entities.  

                                                      
16 Iuliana Cenar,  Contabilitate instituţiilor publice, Casa Cărţii de Ştiinţă Publishing House, Cluj 
– Napoca, 2007, p. 237. 
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Thus, public institutions prepare the income statement, which replaces the 
profit and loss account of non-financial entities. The reason is simple, namely being the 
pursued goal, because public institutions are not profit driven, but are focused on 
providing complete, quality services.  

The income statement presents the situation of revenues, funding and expenses 
during the current year; funding is also a specific category for public institutions, along 
with tax incomes and contributions.  

On the same grounds, it must be said that the income statement doesn’t include 
indicators regarding income tax expenses and other tax expenses. Instead, it includes 
other stock expenses (specific for public institutions), other expenses authorized by law 
and expenses with staff incentives.  

The element in the structure of financial statements that makes a difference 
between non-financial entities and public institutions is the budget execution account. It 
is divided into budget execution account for expenses and budget execution account for 
revenues. This type of account allows comparisons between expected income, as well 
as realized income and budgetary appropriations, and budgetary expenditure achieved 
in terms with two aspects: net cash payments and actual costs. These documents reveal 
deviations from initial or final budgetary provisions, the encashment level of revenues, 
and the payment level of incurred expenses, etc. 

The balance sheet prepared by both categories of entities looks like a list and 
includes: assets, equity and debts grouped by liquidity, provenance and chargeability.   

Note the different structure of equity, meaning the replacement at public 
institutions of social capital, of share premiums, of reserve funds (fund of depreciable 
fixed assets, fund of the assets belonging to the public/private domain of the 
state/territorial administrative units, special funds).   

This difference is natural considering that public institutions are built on laws 
by delimiting their assets from the assets of the government, unlike non-financial 
entities that are built on subscribed capital and on paid-up capital contributed by 
associated/shareholders.  

In the balance sheet of public institutions there is a specific element in the 
category of tangible fixed assets, namely: other assets of the state that include deposits, 
mineral resources or other assets owned by the state. Another specific element is 
represented by the budget account receivables that may belong to the state budget, the 
local budget, the social insurance budget, the special funds budget, the unemployment 
insurance budget and the social health insurance budget.  

Regarding available assets, the public sector includes distinct categories: 
budget availabilities, disposable special funds, cash in hand of public institutions and 
activities funded integrally or partially from own revenues and cash in hand from 
revenues of special funds.  

The statement regarding capital changes in public institutions does not include 
the concept of subscribed capital due to how it was established.  

The common elements of the financial statements of the two categories of 
entities comprise:  

 Both public institutions and economic agents are required to prepare a 
balance sheet that highlights assets, debts and equity at the end of the year, as well as in 
other situations stipulated by the law. Preparing financial statements is done according 
to the regulations issued by the Ministry of Public Finance. The regulating body 
establishes the forms’ model.  
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 Financial statements involve complying with certain rules regarding 
elaboration, approval and publishing;  

 The purpose of financial reports is identical: ensuring an accurate picture, 
showing the financial position, the financial performance and the changes of the 
financial position through financial reporting;  

 The format of the balance sheet and of the income statement resembles a 
list for both categories of entities;  

 Public institutions and economic agents are required to prepare the cash 
flow statement in order to show the existence and movement of cash;  

 The statement regarding assets/equity changes provide information about 
the structure of equity, increases and decreases of each element of capital account for 
both entities; IPSAS 1 stipulates the compulsoriness of presenting the total value of 
revenues and expenditure for the period when changes in net assets/equity in the public 
sector occur.  

Users of accounting information are represented in public institutions by 
authorizing officers, employees, contributors and subscribers to various services, 
government, Parliament, creditors, clients and other users (international financial 
institutions); in the case of economic agents, the recipients are owners, managers, 
auditors, current or potential investors, current or potential creditors, tax authorities, 
control institutions, planning bodies, employees, unions and the general public.      

We note a similar structure of the users of accounting information (creditors, 
employees, state institutions, media), but the place of investors at the level of public 
institutions is taken by contributors and state. What is certain is that the producers of 
accounting information (accountants, auditors, analysts, evaluators, etc) face numerous 
challenges generated by the evolution of society, the information demands of users, the 
complexity of economic activities, etc.  

In terms of the international accounting rules for the public sector, the 
components of financial statements are presented separately on two type of accounting: 
accrual accounting and cash accounting. Romanian legislation presents them as a 
whole, but recognizes two components: revenue and expenditure accounting, which 
reflects the encashment of revenues and the payment of expenses associated with the 
budget year, and general accounting based on the rights and obligations principle, 
which reflects the evolution of the financial situation and the asset situation, as well as 
the assets’ surplus or deficit.  

Although they have different contents, the financial statements of public 
institutions and economic agents reflect their entire activity and preparing them is 
required in order to accurately assess financial positions, financial performances and 
treasury flows.  

6. Conclusions 
The society of the third millennium is labelled by the presence of permanent 

changes, in which communication in an accounting language is a survival necessity, 
satisfied by understanding the significance of transparency and the quality of the 
accounting information.   

The aspects mentioned previously lead us to draw at least the following 
conclusions:  

 Preparing financial statements allow public entities and economic agents to 
know their situation and the achieved performances; 
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 Financial reporting is a representation of the final outcome of the activity, 
having as purpose to provide information about the financial position, the performance 
and the changes occurred within the financial position of the entity;   

 Their goal is to obtain relevant information for fair decision-making. Thus, 
the information is required to comply with a series of qualitative conditions, such as: 
understand ability, reliability, relevance and comparability;  

 The structure of financial statements is similar for all entities, but there are 
a few differences due to the diversity of users’ needs;  

 The differences between statements of public institutions and the ones of 
economic agents come from the financing manner. It the case of economic agents, the 
entire activity is organized by complying with the self management principle, while in 
public institutions prevails the need to use public financial resources with maximum 
efficiency;  

 In terms of the components of these difference, they are not major and are 
caused by their goals and needs;   

 Preparing financial statements is absolutely necessary at the level of all 
entities because it allows good emphasis of the activity in order to make relevant 
decisions for sustainable development.  

In the context of internationalization, financial statements should comply with 
the requirements of a wide range of users, should contribute to reaching the 
fundamental objective of accounting – accurate picture. Accounting should be adapted 
to respond to the complex contemporary challenges, generated by globalization, by 
extending financial markets, etc.   

The meaning17 of producing accounting information is justified by its 
“consumers”, whose satisfaction should be a crucial issue as a result of increasing the 
impact and social responsibilities over the optimum combination and dosage of 
information resources that trigger synergies, being the basis of building a systemic 
vision where elements with a prospective and constructive feature have decisive weight.   
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Abstract: The purpose of this study is to conduct a comparative analysis 
regarding the field distribution of Romanian companies that have liabilities 
to the state budget at the end of 2010. In our approach, we have studied 
all the companies with debts to the state of the category of large 
companies in Romania. The database comprises 558 large companies, 
involved in the following activity fields: agriculture, processing industry, 
electricity and heat production and supply, gas, hot water and air 
conditioning, water distribution, sanitation, waste management, 
decontamination activities, civil engineering, commerce, transport and 
storage, brokerage, and insurance. We can notice an increase in the 
residual amounts owed to the state budget in comparison to the year 2009, 
as well as an increase in the number of indebted companies. The largest 
amount of liabilities  comes from the value-added tax, interests and 
penalties, each having a different share depending on the activity field. 

JEL classification: G38, M38  

Key words: budgetary overdue debts, liabilities, large companies, descriptive 
analysis, state budget.  

1. Introduction 
This material aims to be a warning signal that records the disastrous economic 

balance of the year 2010, as well as a imperative claim to commute from Sein’s field to 
Sollen’s field as regards to the value-added tax reimbursement to the righteous firms. 

The business environment is characterized by economic and legislative 
instability, as well as uncertainty and disbelief. The financial and economic crisis has 
led to the increase of debtor companies, but also to a rise of the liabilities to the state 
budget. 

The budgetary arrears analysis is the first step towards the embracement of 

                                                      
18 Acknowledgments: This work was supported by the the European Social Fund in Romania, 
under the responsibility of the Managing Authority for the Sectoral Operational Programme for 
Human Resources Development 2007-2013 [grant POSDRU/CPP 107/DMI 1.5/S/78342]. 
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efficient measures that would stop the economic fall. At the same time, although The 
Fiscal Council strongly recommends the expedient payment of the arrears owed to the 
private business environment, even with priority to other expenses, the practice proves 
the contrary. 

2. Research Methodology 
The purpose of this study is to conduct an analysis through dynamics and 

structure of the state liabilities of large companies registered at the end of 2010. For the 
population description, we have determined the indicators for the central bias, the 
dispersion and the distribution of the analyzed variables. Following this research, we 
wish to obtain data regarding the structure of state liabilities of large Romanian firms, 
from different activity fields. 

In our approach, we have studied all the Romanian firms with state liabilities 
that are included in the category of large companies. Thus, we have included in our 
study 588 large companies, from the following fields: agriculture, manufacture, 
production, and the delivery of electricity and thermal energy, gas, hot water and air 
condition, water distribution, sanitation, waste management, decontamination activities, 
civil engineering, commerce, transport and storage, financial brokerage, and insurances. 
From the initial list published by the National Agency for Fiscal Administration, we 
have eliminated 54 large companies, from other activity fields.  

The database contains information regarding the state budget liabilities from 
previous years, the ones from the current year, the structure of these liabilities at 
12/31/2010, as well as the condition of the analyzed firms at the end of 2010 (there are 
adjustment claims in settlement, the repo procedure is in course, and the company is 
under special administration, according to the 137/2002 law).  

The debts to the state budget include: the income tax, the value-added tax, the 
wage tax, duties and other taxes, interests and penalties. 

3. The research results  
The results of the dynamics analysis of the liabilities to the state budget may 

represent the basis of the evaluation of the efficiency of the governmental measures for 
countering the effects of the economic crisis. In order to recover the overdue debts, the 
fiscal administration bodies may apply all the collection methods provided in the Fiscal 
Procedure Code, namely: payment calls, account attachments, third party revenue 
attachments, distraint on personal and immovable goods, or attracting the combined 
accountability of the administrators, associates, and shareholders. However, the 
companies entitled to request VAT reimbursement are forced to wait for excessively 
long amounts of time, the payment terms being overdue by months in a row. Hence, 
considering that companies that have to pay the VAT for every issued invoice, although 
undrawn, plus delay interests, but cannot force the state to reimburse the VAT, their 
liquidity, as well as the premise for the continuity of their activity become blind spots. 

According to a study conducted by The National Forecast Commission, the 
residual payments in Romanian economy have frozen, after 2001, at around 60 billion 
lei, with a highest peak in 2003, when the debts reached a total of 63.5 billion lei, and a 
lowest peak in 2006, with 53.1 billion Lei. 2008 was the year with the most pronounced 
increase of the overdue debts (by approximately 22% compared to 2007). Thus, at the 
end of 2008, the overdue debts have reached the value of 70.4 billion lei, compared to 
57.8 billion lei at the end of 2007. 
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In 2010, the number of large companies with liabilities to the state budget has 
raised by 36.30% compared to 2009, while the value of the residual amounts has not 
increased in the same pace, the debts increasing by only 21.88%. On December 31, 
2010, 612 companies registered as large taxpayers recorded debs to the state budget. At 
the end of 2009, the number of debtors on the NAFA list was of only 449 companies. In 
relation to the amounts due, the liabilities of the large companies raised at 
5,209,912,334 lei at the end of 2010, from 4,274,694,929 lei at the end of the previous 
year.  

  
Figure no. 1 The evolution of indebted companies and the value of the liabilities to 

the state budget in the period 2009-2010 
The company with the highest debts to the state budget is the National Coal 

Company, with a total debt of 1,467,081,653 lei.  
It is also important to know that the first 10 firms in the top record the highest 

part of the liabilities to the state budget. In 2009, they held 78.69% of the total debts, 
meaning 2,926,871,024 lei, and in 2010 this amount has decreased by 10.22%, reaching 
68.47%, that is 4,099,579,683 Lei. The first two positions were occupied by the same 
companies in 2010 and in 2009. Five of the companies with state liabilities in 2009 can 
also be found among the first 10 indebted companies in 2010.   

  
Figure no. 2 Top 10 companies indebted to the state budget at the end of 2009 and 2010  

The average value of the liabilities to the state budget at the end of 2010 for 
large companies is 6,119,284 lei. Following the analysis, it is noticeable that there are 
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two extreme values that determine the asymmetry to the right of the distribution of 
large Romanian companies that record debs to the state budget at the end of 2010. This 
asymmetry can be observed both in total debts and in each of the seven categories in 
which the total state liabilities are structured.  

 

Figure no. 3 The graphic representation of the distribution of the debts to the state 
budget at the end of 2010 for large companies, in the eight activity fields 

In figure no. 3, we can notice that the extreme values are recorded on the 
positions 128 and 219. Therefore, the firms with the largest debts to the state budget are 
GALAXY TOBACCO CO., with liabilities of 919,016,683.00 lei, and the National 
Railway Company “CFR” SA with liabilities of 852,520,055.00 lei. The first company 
activates in the field of “processing industry”, while the activity field of the National 
Railway Company “CFR” CO. is represented by services associated with land transport, 
being included in the “Transport and storage” activity field. For both companies, the 
repo procedure has started. For the other activity fields, the companies with the highest 
debts to the state budget are presented in table no.1. 
Table no. 1 The companies with the highest debts to the sate budget, according to 

activity fields 
No. Company name Activity field Liabilities to the 

state budget on 
12.31.2010 

Remarks 

1. INTERAGRO SRL   Agriculture   7,768,467.00 The repo procedure 
has started 

2. Electrificare 
C.F.R. SA                

The production and supply of 
electricity and heat, gas, hot 
water and air conditioning 

231,786,219.00 The repo procedure 
has started 

3. URBAN SA              Water distribution, sanitation, 
waste management, 
decontamination activities 

47,748,815.00 The repo procedure 
has started 

4. THE NATIONAL 
COMPANY 
“IMBUNATATIRI 
FUNCIARE” SA       

Civil engineering 73,272,320.00 The company is under 
special administration, 
according to Law 
137/2002  

5. SILO IMPEX 2007 
SRL                         

Commerce 91,818,406.00 The repo procedure 
has started 

6. MIDAL LEASING-
IFN-SA                    

Brokerage and insurance   5,406,216.,00 The repo procedure 
has started 

Source: NAFA /liabilities to the state budget on December 31, 2010 
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In order to compare the average values of the liabilities to the state budget at 
the end of 2010 for large companies, in each of the eight activity fields, we have 
applied the One-Way ANOVA model using the SPSS program. As figure no. 4 shows, 
there are significant differences between the average values of the liabilities to the state 
at the end of 2010 for large companies in the eight activity fields.  

 
Figure no. 4 The average values of the debts to the state budget at the end of 2010 

for large companies, for each of the eight activity fields 
The existence of significant differences in the eight activity fields between the 

average values of the liabilities to the state at the end of 2010, for large companies, can 
be explained by the different proportions of the number of large companies in each 
activity field in the total number of companies. Their weight is shown in figure no. 5. 

 
Fig. 6 The ratio of large companies with liabilities to the state budget at the end of 

2010, for the eight activity fields  
Following our analysis, the results that highlight the structure of the debts to the 

state for all of the eight activity fields are presented in figures 7-14. It can be seen that 
for the fields of agriculture, water distribution, sanitation, waste management, 
decontamination activities, civil engineering, commerce, brokerage, and insurance, the 
first place is taken by the value-added tax, while for the processing industry, the 
production and supply of electricity and heat, gas, hot water and air conditioning, 
transport and storage, the most liabilities to the state budget are those from the category 
of interests and penalties. 
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Figure no. 7 The structure of the debts to the state for the agriculture field 

 
Figure no. 8 The structure of the debts to the state for the processing industry field 

  
Figure no. 9 The structure of the debts to the state for the production and supply 

of electricity and heat, gas, hot waterand air conditioning 

 
Figure no. 10 The structure of the debts  to the state for the water distribution, 

sanitation, waste management, and decontamination activities field 
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Figure no. 11 The structure of the debts to the state for the civil engineering field 

 
Figure no. 12 The structure of the debts to the state for the commerce field 

 
Figure no. 13 The structure of the debts to the state for the transport and storage 

field 

 
Figure no. 14 The structure of the debts to the state for the financial 

intermediation and insurance field
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Revista Tinerilor Economişti (The Young Economists Journal)
4. Conclusions 

The perpetuation of the budgetary overdue debts has a negative role on the real 
economy and it delays the economic regeneration. The non-recovery of the VAT from 
the state budget may paralyze acompany’s activity and, as a result of the domino effect, 
the activity of several other companies.  

 As an extended effect of the economic crisis, an increase of the amounts owed 
to the state budget takes place, as well as an increase in the number of the indebted 
companies. The largest amount of liabilitites derives from the value-added tax and from 
interests and penalties, each having a different weight for every activity field.  

The solutions to the economic crisis should not be searched by monitoring the 
companies that have liabilities to the state, but in the payment of the state debts to the 
private environment and in the privatization of the state companies, large resource 
consumers, especialy if we consider the fact that the overdue debts of state companies 
represent 5% of the GDP, according to the conclusions of the seventh evaluation of the 
stand-by agreement. 

REFERENCES  
1. Ghizdeanu I., 

Ristea C. 
Evoluţia şi structura arieratelor, available at 
http://discutii.mfinante.ro/static/10/Mfp/revista_nou/2010/RFPC_3_
2010_Ghizdeanu_Ristea.pdf, accessed on 02.26.2011. 

2. * * * NAFA/back payments to the state budget on 12.31.2010, available at 
http://static.anaf.ro/static/pdf/Lista_ORBSm_31.12.2010.pdf, 
accessed on 02.01.2011.

3. * * * NAFA/ back payments to the state budget on 12.31.2009, available 
at http://www.capital.ro/uploads/pics/0-46909-
restante12luni2009.pdf, accessed on 02.22.2011. 

4. * * * Franks: Arieratele companiilor de stat reprezintă 5% din PIB, 
available at: http://www.mediafax.ro/economic/franks-arieratele-
companiilor-de-stat-reprezinta-5-din-pib-7963429, accessed on 
02.26.2011 



 

 

    43 

Finances - Accounting 

THE APPROACH TO PENSION PLANS THROUGH THE ESTABLISHMENT OF ACCOUNTING 

POSTULATE 

Assoc. Prof. Iuliana Cenar Ph.D 
University “ 1 Decembrie 1918”  
Faculty of Science 
Alba Iulia, Romania 

Abstract: To decipher the "threads" of various forms and elements of 
content that show the pension plans, public or private, we appealed to the 
principle of accounting entity. The plans of defined contributions and the 
plans of defined benefits were investigated in terms of the following 
entities: the state, the employer, the reporting different entity by the 
employers of plan participants.  
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1. INTRODUCTION  
The optimization of financial communication depends on the organization of 

accounting information, in turn, a legal product19 (Berheci, 2010), whose achievement, 
presentation and distribution are regulated. Also, the systems of pensions from Europe 
(and not only) are facing with the problem of financial sustainability, generated by 
demographic factors, by the orientation of social policies etc., and as a result of the 
institutional elections and by the structures/useful components within the system.  

The way of presentation problem, accounting and reporting of pension plans is 
approached by the following international accounting standards: IAS 19 and IPSAS 25 
„The employee benefits” as well as IAS 26 „The accounting and reporting of pension 
plans”. 

An essential role in the delimitation of pension plans and creating an array 
image, is laid in our opinion to the accounting entity postulate, component of the 
conceptual edifice of accounting and reference system for the judgments and 
accounting solutions, including those relating to pension plans.  

Further analysis of information flow and how to account the transactions 
generated by pension plans will create premises for superior utilization of accounting 
information.  

2. OBJECTIVES 
The main objective that we propose for this paper is to highlight the role of 

accounting entity principle in deciphering the complex mechanisms of any system, 

                                                      
19 M. Berheci, Valorificarea raportărilor financiare, Bucureşti, CECCAR Publishing, 2010,    p. 
65. 
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including those of the pension system. As subsidiary objectives we mention: the 
analysis facilitation of each component, the streamlining information flow and creating 
conditions for the establishment of an optimal mix of components of a pension scheme. 

3. RESEARCH METHODOLOGY 
Any activity of scientific research is based on a fixed point of view on an 

“object” chosen to be investigated, between the point of view and object is interposing 
as a tool the method, which will lead to a scientific idea.  

The informational support to carry out this research was the specialty literature. 
The method operates in each area, in a mediated way, by previous theories and 
assumptions.  

In this regard, we called for cross-sectional research methods, aimed at finding 
the relations between the studied sides, issues and processes and at a time: the 
reasoning, the comparison method, the analysis, the synthesis. 

4. THE WAY OF USING AND THE DIFFERENCE BETWEEN THE PENSION PLAN 
The pensions, as the main back benefit of working period, may be granted in 

two plans, whether public or private: defined contributions plans and defined benefits 
plans. A pension plan is a formal contract under which benefits are provided to 
employees, on or after the end of the service, as annual income or lump sum, with the 
possibility of estimating or determination of benefits, or contributions before the 
retirement.   

To characterize a pension plan is necessary the recourse to the principle of 
accounting entity, whereby the retirement phenomenon requires to be studied from an 
accounting perspective by reference only to the owner of a trader (the state, the 
employer, the separate reporting entity from the participants employers at the plan), 
constituting a closed reported entity, which is exercising the ownership, possession and 
use. We underline this point, because, a defined contribution plan for the employer will 
be treated as defined benefits plan for an entity/fund and vice versa, respectively, a 
defined benefits plan from the standpoint of the employer should be treated as a defined 
contributions plan by the fund (separate reporting entity from the participant employer 
at the plan). 

4.1. The plans of defined contributions (CD)  
The satisfaction of the future obligations to pay the pensions by an entity/a 

background (including those who belong to state) separate by the employer involves the 
identification of defined contribution plans with “the pension plans under which the 
amounts who are going to be paid like pensions are resulting from contributions to a 
fund and from earnings from investing these contributions”20. 

If we refer to the employer, the defined contribution plans require the limiting 
of obligation to the size of the contribution due, including the quality of representative, 
and the current risk of certain pension benefits lower than those originally provided and 
the investment risk of impairment of assets affected by the payment of the benefits are 
assumed by the employees. The possibility of an obligation of the entity appears then 
when the size of the pensions is not only a function of the size of contributions paid, 
                                                      
20 CECCAR, Ghid pentru intelegerea si aplicarea IAS 26 „Contabilizarea si raportarea planurilor 
de pensii”, par. 8,  Bucureşti, CECCAR Publishing, 2004 
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this guarantees a certain effect of contributions or rectifies by increasing the benefits 
paid to current pensioners in relation to the inflation factor21. 

In the case of public defined contribution schemes the efficiency depends on 
wage growth, unlike private schemes where it is a function of capital efficiency. The 
objective of many countries is to streamline the pension system, through a strong 
dependency relationship between contributions and pensions. This objective can be 
materialized by converting the redistributive pillar with definite benefits in one who has 
at base the defined national accounts. The contributions are accumulated notional and 
the size of pension is given by the accumulated amount reported to average life forecast 
to retirement age.  

The defining characteristic of pension schemes with notional defined 
contribution is22 the direct link established between pensions and contributions paid, as 
well as the possibility efficiency in any European Union member country. Each 
contributor will receive the notional equivalent of his individual account where the paid 
contributions are accumulated (the contribution rate is the same for all generations) and 
adjusted for inflation. The technique of notional accounts is, in a regime by division, the 
means of recording and measuring of the insured contributory effort of the owner 
throughout his career. 

The motivation to a higher contribution leads to the automatically adjusting of 
retirement age, intergenerational equity and the possibility of reducing the evasion at 
the payment of contributions. The protection of small gains requires the existence of a 
minimum pension guaranteed, the redistribution needs are oriented to the current 
payments, issues that maintain intergenerational transfers, don’t amplify the saving by 
capitalizing, and make necessary the establish of a reserve fund having a role of 
stopping the growth of contributions of new generations. This scheme creates favorable 
conditions for achieving financial balance, by the “transfer” of the non-contributory 
spending (sick leave, flight treatment etc.) in the assignment of the state budget. 

A public system partially capitalized is built on the idea of encouraging more 
savings to create additional resources for investment, with the possibility of stabilizing 
contribution rate for long periods of time (20-30 years), by taking a part of the load 
redistribution by investment component. The state assumes full investment risks, fact 
which determines a low-risks investment, but also, in the case of excessive investments 
in government securities, to the effect of their profitability, reason for such an option is 
not desirable for Romania.  

Universal pension funds with defined contributions, through personal financial 
support provided by each beneficiary lead to empowerment by taking a retirement 
decision, being a real property law generated by private accounts, through a capitalized 
funds system. Additional component of the traditional contributes at the reducing of 
pressures of early retirements and constitutes an alternative means of saving. This 
provides the faster growth of investment which will contribute to the increase of the 
gross domestic product and will create new jobs. 

Such a component of the pension system involves the establishing of the 
additional mandatory contributions, and, in long term, the rate of return on invested 
capital will address to an aging population, the relationship between those who want the 
                                                      
21 CECCAR. Ghid pentru intelegerea si aplicarea IAS 19 „Beneficiile angajatilor”, par. 7, 
Bucureşti, CECCAR Publishing, 2004. 
22 Ce este sistemul de pensii cu contribuţii noţional definite?, Piaţa pensiilor Review, May 2002, 
p. 25. 
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liquidation of fixed assets and those who seek to acquire these assets threatening to 
become disproportionately.  

The occupational pensions with capitalization and defined contributions 
provide flexibility in the labor market, the accumulated financial support being easily 
transferable. They are organized for employees by employers or unions on the basis of 
real property law on the amounts accumulated in individual accounts.  

In such an acceptance, the public system is not absolved of implicit pension 
debt and consequently the budget deficit is not reduced due to the extremely small 
number of employers who can afford the organization of such plans. The possibility to 
invest some of benefits involves running a profitable activity in periods characterized 
by stability, by the absence of restructuring and recession.  

4.2. The pension plans based on defined benefits (DB)  
It should be addressed also in a context based on the separation of asset. If for a 

reporting entity different by the employer such schemes are plans “and where the 
amounts to be paid as pensions are determined using a formula that is, usually, based on 
employees’ earnings and/or years of service”23, for the employer, such plans require 
actuarial risk transfer and investment risk on the entity, which is responsible for 
payment of pension benefits.  

Pension public schemes of defined benefits ensure a minimum income to 
persons who because of illness or misfortune have not contributed enough to their 
pension. The income from pensions is correlated with average wages, issue that leads to 
different levels of income for pensioners.  

The pension plan based on defined benefits makes necessary the recognition as 
an obligation, by the employer, of the services rendered by employees, even if the 
benefits have not yet purchased (entitlement to benefits is subject to future work). The 
decrease of the required period for entitlement to pension benefits for every year 
worked generates an obligation (future streams of benefits expected in return for 
contributions paid) in what concerns these pensions.  

The implied obligation includes the present value of pensions owed to existing 
pensioners plus the present value of promised retirement benefits for the current 
contributors as a result of their previous contribution to the pension scheme, in other 
words the present value of estimated future benefits expected for the workers in the 
exchange of the paid contributions.  

It is a duty inherent in systems based on solidarity between generations, the 
taxpayers expecting to receive a pension which will reflect their contributions to this 
system, but there is no accumulation of assets to enable the payment of these pensions.  

When the workers pay the taxes in return they expect to receive a particular 
benefit. The present value of this future flow of benefits is called implicit debt of public 
pension, and depends on the coverage of the pension system and on the benefits level. 

To be assured adequate funding levels, the defined benefits plans require that 
actuarial analysis and assumptions which form is difficult due to lack of data on rates of 
earnings and administrative costs. These factors plus the small number of staff trained 
in modern actuarial techniques may result additional costs, fraud may occur, can affect 

                                                      
23 CECCAR, Ghid pentru inţelegerea şi aplicarea IAS 26 „Contabilizarea şi raportarea planurilor 
de pensii”, par. 8,  Bucureşti, CECCAR Publishing, 2004. 
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labor mobility otherwise becoming difficult the protection of private pension fund 
members.  

The importance for the systems based on individual accounts is the time for 
collecting the contributions, which may leads to losses in the form of interests, and the 
transfer speed, which can erode the value of pensions under the effect of inflation. 
There are reasons that plead for rhythm and regularity of transfers, so that individual 
accounts to be operative credited.  

A defined benefit system does not prove viable in countries with high life 
expectancy, increases the implicit debt and the degree of dependence. In fact, highlights 
the futility of large contributions (and therefore of declaration of income) and does not 
generate property rights.  

The occupational pension schemes with defined benefits guaranteed a 
minimum rate of return to beneficiaries, they anticipated being able to know the size of 
pensions and for their support the employers adjust their own contributions. The 
motivational factors are losing their influence on performance of employers, because it 
is expected a fixed amount of pension.  

There is the possibility of fluctuation of the employees’ contribution (especially 
on the upside), this being the exclusive benefit of persons on the verge of retirement.  

5. CONCLUSIONS 
Principled, the defined-benefit pension schemes can offer pensions whose 

amount is set percentage from certain average wage or according to income during the 
active, and the pension schemes based on defined contributions, take into account the 
accumulated paid contributions, the current interest and the estimated life expectancy 
upon retirement. The administration of pension funds with defined contributions 
implies lower costs, compared to pension funds with defined benefits which are 
involving highly complex actuarial calculations in the absence or existence of a small 
number of specialized staff in this regard.  

Although present in both pension schemes (defined contributions/defined 
benefits), the risk is significantly lower in the defined contribution plan, by the present 
of the state as guarantor of the system (for a minimum pension) and by the existence of 
an automatic mechanism for adjusting the size of pensions based on life expectancy. 
The risk implies the knowledge of possible alternatives and their probability of 
occurrence, without knowing the likelihood of events. 

The differences concerns also the investment diversity, so, if in the first case 
are considering all forms of non-financial instruments, in the second the investment 
area is restricted to government bonds. The investments exclusively in bonds made by 
pension funds based on defined contributions generate additional costs of managing 
acquisitions and transfers of bonds; they risk the inefficiency, and the compensation law 
requires “the annihilation” of the advantage obtained with higher rates of profit, rates of 
economic growth through additional future payment. We also mention the supplement 
of the administrative costs which are involved by the necessity to attract a large number 
of customers. 

The differences between the two schemes are removed when; the defined 
contributions schemes provide an annuity at retirement. Also, the contributory negative 
reasons are eliminated by the transfer of contributions in investments made for 
retirement. But, while the parameters like life expectancy or the rate of profit are 
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subjects of political decisions, such schemes are not schemes of defined contributions, 
as they were designed.  

The possibility of confusion between different types of pension system is 
highlighted by Hollzman and Palacios: “if we analyze the system of defined benefits, 
based on earnings during the entire life (such as Germany and France), and we compare 
it with a flow system based on defined contributions (such as Lithuania, Poland, 
Sweden), the two types of benefits are not different at all”24. 

Besides these two basic options, it is possible also a form of mixed system, that 
combines elements of the funded system, and of the redistributive one, resulting a wide 
range of hybrid systems and options. However, any final decision related to the exact 
final shape that would be to have a pension scheme is as much driven by political and 
institutional factors as by the economic reasoning.  
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Abstract: Access and absorption of structural funds is the biggest 
challenge for public administration for business and nongovernmental 
sector. European integration itself depends on the optimization and 
efficient absorption of substantial funds for Romania. The main obstacles 
faced by new EU members, among which is found and Romania, are 
reflected in reduced ability to efficiently use the allocated funds, the lack of 
experience in developing large scale projects to European standards, lack 
of transparency in the organization auctions, and the low level of 
understanding of the methods by which to access European funding. This 
article aims to conduct an analysis of absorption of funds under the 
Operational Programmes in Romania. 

JEL classification: G, H 

Key words: Strategy absorb structural funds, operational programs, the convergence 
project, the National Strategic Reference Framework 

1.INTRODUCTION 
In line with the strategic lines for growth and employment in the new Lisbon 

agenda, programs supported by cohesion policy target three priorities: a) increase the 
attractiveness of Member States, regions and cities by improving accessibility, ensuring 
quality services and protecting the environment; b) Encouraging innovation, 
entrepreneurship and the development of knowledge-based economy through research 
and innovation; c) Creation of more jobs and better by taking more people and attract 
them to entrepreneurship, improving adaptability of workers and enterprises and 
increasing investment in human capital.  

National Strategic Reference Framework. Member States must provide the 
Commission with a National Strategic Reference Framework (NSRF), which ensures 
that Community structural aid is consistent with the Community strategic guidelines 
and identify the link between Community priorities, on the one hand, and national and 
regional priorities, the Moreover, in order to promote sustainable development. Each 
national strategic reference framework shall contain a summary of Member States' 
strategy (strategic section) and the mechanism for implementation (operational 
section).According Acquis Cohesion Policy, each Member State shall draw up a 
National Strategic Reference Framework (NSRF), as a reference for programming the 
Structural and Cohesion Funds.  
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NSRF includes six chapters and two annexes, as follows: 1) socio-economic 

analysis - at which they are presented macro-economic context, infrastructure and 
environmental situation, the competitiveness of Romanian economy, human capital, 
administrative capacity, the territorial dimension; 2) Strategy - indicating the strategic 
vision, the thematic priorities and promote balanced regional development, 3) Overview 
of operational programs under the Convergence objective - Operational Program on 
Transport, Environment Operational Programme, Operational Programme Increase of 
Economic Competitiveness, Regional Operational Programme Operational Program 
Human Resources Development Operational Programme Administrative Capacity 
Development Operational Program Technical Assistance, 4) financial plan; 5) 
Implementation and complementarity, 6) Partnership and consultation.  

The total amount of Structural and Cohesion Funds allocation for Romania is 
19.668 billion, of which 12.661 billion will be allocated under the European Structural 
Funds Convergence 6.552 billion euros are allocated to the Cohesion Fund, and 0.455 
billion will be allocated to Objective "European Territorial Cooperation". 

2. Objectives  
Structured financing instruments available to Member States. During those 

three objectives, assistance provided through the Funds will consider a part of specific 
social and economic characteristics, and secondly the specific territorial characteristics.  

The funds will contribute to achieving the three objectives, in accordance with 
specific rules that govern them, as follows: 

- Convergence objective (ERDF, ESF and CF); 
- The regional competitiveness and employment (ERDF and ESF); 
- Objective "European Territorial Cooperation (ERDF). 

3. Methodology  
Principles and rules of assistance from structural funds. Implementation and 

management of structural funds based on the following principles: 
1. Complementarity, consistency and compliance. Funds will be allocated 

additional financial assistance measures in national, regional and local priorities by 
integrating them in the community. National and EU authorities will have regard to the 
assistance provided through the structural instruments is consistent and in line with the 
activities, policies and community priorities. 

2. Programming. Tracking funding objectives is a multi-annual programming 
framework, which includes setting priorities, process management, decision-making 
and financing.  

3. Partnership. Assistance provided through the Structural Funds is based on 
the idea of partnership at two levels - on the one hand, the European Commission and 
Member States and on the other hand, in each Member State and between: a) public 
authorities at regional and local levels, b) economic and social partners; c) any other 
body representing civil society partners in environmental protection, non-governmental 
organizations and bodies responsible for promoting equal opportunities.  

4. Subsidiarity and proportionate intervention. Implementation of operational 
responsibility of the Member States in accordance with the institutional system specific 
to each of them. Subsidiarity principle is to avoid situations in which delegation of 
powers at any cost EU supranational entities may generate counterproductive effects in 
comparison with the situation in which those powers remain in the portfolio of member 
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governments. 

5. Additionality. Contribution offered by these funds will not replace public or 
equivalent structural expenditure by Member States. The level of additionality is 
determined by macroeconomic conditions in which funding is made, taking into 
account specific situations, such as privatization and an exceptional level of public or 
equivalent structural expenditure in the Member States. 

General Regulation on Structural tools and features to make the main 
components of structural instruments management: 

National Strategic Reference Framework. Member States must provide the 
Commission with a National Strategic Reference Framework (NSRF), which ensures 
that Community structural aid is consistent with the Community strategic guidelines 
and identify the link between Community priorities, on the one hand, and national and 
regional priorities, the Moreover, in order to promote sustainable development. Each 
national strategic reference framework shall contain a summary of Member States' 
strategy (strategic section) and the mechanism for implementation (operational section).  

Section NSRF strategic must: a) thematic and territorial priorities, including 
urban regeneration and economic diversification of rural areas dependent on fishing and 
b) only for the convergence objective, the proceedings provided for strengthening the 
administrative efficiency of the Member States, including management funding and 
evaluation plans, c) only for the objective "Regional competitiveness and employment 
", the list of regions chosen for regional competition. 

Operational section should contain: a) a list of operational programs and the 
indicative annual allocation from each fund for each program, ensuring a balance 
between regional and thematic activities, b) the mechanism for ensuring coordination 
between operational and funding programs, c) the contribution of other instruments and 
the coordination of their funds. 

Operational programs. Operational programs are documents approved by the 
Commission for implementation of those sectoral priorities and / or regional National 
Development Plan which are approved for funding through the Community Support 
Framework. Each operational program must cover the period 2007-2013, will include 
goals and priorities of the NSRF and will cover only one of the three objectives of 
cohesion policy. OP should receive funding from a single fund. ERDF and the ESF may 
finance specific measures other Fund in the amount of up to 10% of the amount 
allocated to each operational program priorities (flexibility clause).  

Operational programs that support the goal of "convergence" to be screened at 
the appropriate geographical level, at least at the regional level NUTS II. 

4. Analyses 
Access and absorption of structural funds is the biggest challenge for public 

administration for business and nongovernmental sector. European integration itself 
depends on the optimization and efficient absorption of substantial funds for Romania 
during 2007-2013. Our country will receive in 2007-2013 Structural and Cohesion 
Funds amounting to 19.67 billion euros. The money will be allocated to basic 
infrastructure projects (60% of the total) and economic competitiveness (15%), human 
capital (20%) and capacity (5%). National co-financing the same period is estimated at 
5.53 billion euros, made up of both public (77% of the total co-financing) and private 
sources (23%). According to the information provided by the Ministry of Finance, the 
total amount was paid by Romania to the EU budget in 2007 was 3.97 billion lei (1.2 
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billion euros) in 2008, our country's contribution to the Community budget was 
approximately 4.23 billion lei, while in 2009 it was 4.15 billion lei. Between 2010 and 
2011, Romania's contribution is estimated at 4.58 billion lei, respectively 4.70 billion. 
The main obstacles faced by new EU members, among which is found and Romania, 
are reflected in reduced ability to efficiently use the allocated funds, the lack of 
experience in developing large scale projects to European standards, lack of 
transparency in the organization auctions, and the low level of understanding of the 
methods by which to access European funding. 

European funds are one of Romania's economic development opportunity, in a 
context where their use would mean an annual influx of capital that is, as a share to 5% 
of gross domestic product. Moreover, once the fund-raising post-accession, Romania 
could become a favorite target of investors, potential development of investment 
projects, especially infrastructure, is a fairly high level. But the lack of programs and 
delays in decisions on the budget, the European Union have made the seven operational 
programs to be sent to Brussels until 2007, ie after the entry into the European Union. 
Absorption of EU funds after the first year of Romania's accession to the European 
Union stood at about half the level in countries like the Czech Republic, Poland, 
Hungary and Slovakia, according to a study published by the National Bank of 
Romania in March 2008. Thus, the absorption rate in Romania was 21.7% 42.9% 
42.8% Hungary or Poland. Structural and Cohesion Funds have been acquired at a rate 
of 32.7% and agriculture and rural development have been attracted only 3%. In the 
year 2009, most funds were directed toward economic competition program - 934 
projects - and the regional program - 578 projects for implementation, according to data 
published by the Authority for the coordination of structural instruments, indicating that 
the rate of absorption in these two sectors was 16.40% and 15.35%. Operational 
Programme which has advanced the least was that of transport - with the absorption 
level of 2.4% in December. Overall have been made to pay around 40 million at the end 
of December. 

To radically improve the absorption of EU funds have recently taken a series of 
measures involving the following: - The country's budget was set as a priority 
allocation of investment resources is carried out with co-financing from EU funds. In 
this regard, the maximum pre-financing increased from 15% to 20% of the project; - 
Pre-financing grant recipients are covered by state aid of up to 35% of the grant;  
- Has introduced the option for private beneficiaries of the project and opening of bank 
accounts from commercial banks; - VAT is reimbursed after each invoice. Were also 
simplified the conditions for submitting project documentation. In this way the request 
was dropped when submitting project documents, by replacing them with statements on 
oath of the applicant, the submission of the documents required of the contraction 
phase. When applying for funding at the present time, we also accept certified copies of 
copies instead of the beneficiary. Certified copies will be required only to sign the grant 
contracts. Guidelines for applicants have been reviewed and more clearly give the 
documents to be submitted by applicants in the contracting phase. There are currently 
implementing a series of measures to increase liquidity in the economy and finance: - 
Adopt legislation on public-private partnership to increase private investment growth in 
infrastructure; - Compensation to recover VAT paid VAT or other taxes payable to the 
State and in the months following the month in which the application for refund, and 
after the legal deadline of 45 days; - Will be offered the opportunity to participate in 
bidding for goals financed with European funds and companies who owe the state 
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budget, provided that such debt is less than or equal to the debt that has to budget 
companies concerned. In this sense there is already a draft ordinance by the 
government. Assuming that the absorption of structural funds should be made at a level 
higher, we can say that this goal was not achieved as was planned so far. Analyzing the 
situation of the submission and approval of projects, signing contracts and funding for 
payment to beneficiaries on 31 January 2010, shows that Romania must do more to be 
able to accelerate and optimize the allocation of structural funds absorption at his 
disposal. The following is an empirical analysis of the situation. Us with reference to 
the amounts allocated to each OP, we can say that they are pretty consistent, compared 
to the amounts allocated under the pre-accession funds. We see a greater concentration 
of them in the Regional Operational Program (ROP), Sectoral Operational Programme 
Environment (SOP) and the Sectoral Operational Programme Transport (SOPT), 
programs aimed at general rehabilitation in specific areas that have been designed. They 
are followed closely by Increase of Economic Competitiveness Operational Program 
(SOP) and Human Resources Development Operational Programme (SOP) and to a 
lesser extent Administrative Capacity Development Operational Programme (OP) and 
OP Technical Assistance. As regards the projects submitted in 31.01.2010, it is noted 
that the number was higher for SOP (5415) and SOP (5273), and ROP (3415) and the 
other operational programs their number was much lower. In the OP were a total of 931 
submitted projects at the end of January 2010, similar to December for the year 2009, 
while in the SOP were submitted a number of 204 projects registered to date 
31/01/2010, an increase of 63 in number, from 31.12.2009 when only 141 projects were 
submitted, but far below expectations, given the importance that is OP. Also, if SOP 
was submitted a maximum of only 41 projects, 31.01.2010, maintaining the same level 
as those observed on 31.12.2009. This shows that both authorities together with other 
'actors' (businesses, NGOs, trade unions, employers, SMEs, etc.) Belonging to the 
target group through the OPs, showed no interest in to submit applications for funding 
these programs operational, although the amounts allocated to them were quite 
significant. 

4.1 Critical 
Analyzing the situation of approved projects, we can see that the number was 

much lower than that of projects submitted. This shows that in Romania there are still 
enough people who have expertise in this area. For example, if the ROP in 3415 a 
number of projects submitted, only 736 were approved, rejected 1013 and the 
remainder of 1666 is under evaluation. Also, in terms of SOP, in 5415 a number of 
projects submitted, 2216 were rejected, 1265 were approved, and 1921 is under 
evaluation. Thus a total of 15,312 projects submitted, only 3910 were approved, and a 
number of 6772 have already been rejected. It follows that nearly half (44%) of the 
projects submitted were declared ineligible, but their numbers can grow, given the fact 
that 4617 projects are under evaluation. However, their total value, expressed in lei is 
proportional to the number of projects to be approved and implemented  

Of course, this development is disproportionate due to some inconsistencies in 
the structural funds management capacity and internal procedures for approving such 
projects. There have also been proposed and implemented a series of changes in 
national legislation, which was subject to approval from the European Commission, 
amendments aimed primarily to reduce the period of evaluation of projects developed 
in Romania, for which the European funding of more than 80 days to about 30 days. 



 

 

54 

Revista Tinerilor Economişti (The Young Economists Journal)
This is expected to increase the operability of both the MA and the applicants, which 
will lead to a more efficient absorption process. The total number of contracts 
concluded with beneficiaries, 31.01.2010, 2263 is compared with the existing 2224 
31.12.2009. In this case, it appears relatively insignificant progress, considering that 
their number increased by approximately 0.18%. This is mainly due to the fact that the 
applicants have submitted projects to an extent far greater than in January for the year 
2010 than they did in December of 2009. Also the total value of projects already 
contracted various developments recorded separately on each operational program. For 
example, the highest values were recorded for projects submitted by the ROP, SOP, 
SOP, SOP and SOP, with amounts ranging from 2.994.999.517 6.401.741.904 lei and 
lei, and for the other OPs total value of contracted projects was much lower, if the OP 
were contracted projects amounting to 182,543,080 lei and the OP Technical 
Assistance, the contracts amounted to 144,880,156 lei, significantly reduced amounts 
compared with other OPs. Data presented are for the year at Jan. 2010.  

Analysing and the payments made to beneficiaries, we also notice that there are 
discrepancies, quite significant in this case, between the operational programs. The total 
payments made to 31.01.2010 were between 3,017,437 and 904,846,991 lei, 
accumulating a total of 2,666,266,850 lei, which covers all operational programs. The 
highest amount paid to beneficiaries was settled by the ROP, followed by SOP and 
SOP, the reduced amounts paid were recorded for OP Technical Assistance. As 
amended and updated regulations, which were mentioned above, in the hopes that the 
process concerns payments made to beneficiaries, to produce an improved and more 
efficient to ensure the implementation of as many successful projects. Romania has 
absorbed from December 2008 until mid-March 2009 structural funds worth about 400 
million, the amount absorbed far as amounting to approximately 1.5 billion, about 10% 
of structural funds, according to A report published by the Authority for the 
coordination of structural instruments in January for the year 2010. In this case, given 
the very low percentage of registered fund-raising to date in order to improve the 
process of absorption of structural funds, the state took a series of measures such as pre-
financing increased from 15% to 20% and settlement VAT for each invoice submitted 
by the companies. 

 

5. Conclusions  
In conclusion, we can say that based on analysis completed, the absorption of 

structural funds allocations to achieve in a limited extent and with some gaps in terms 
of legislation, as well as ensuring their effective management. But at the same time, 
there is a positive development resulting from the increasing number of projects have 
already started to be implemented and those that have been approved for the year 
comparing January 2010 to December 2009 for the year. Prospects in this regard are 
some favorable because it is trying to increase as greater absorption, especially in the 
context of global economic crisis that has sharply reduced the opportunities for easy 
access to various financing arrangements. 
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Abstract: The current economic crisis has had a large effect on Greece. 
Two of the most important economic sectors, tourism and shipping, were 
seriously affected. This resulted in increased poverty and political 
instability. This paper focuses on describing the impact of economic crisis 
on Greek tourism. Therefore, the article presents the relationship between 
tourism and economic issues, while emphasizing the role of the European 
Union in fighting the Greek debt crisis. The practical part of the paper 
presents the results of an online survey regarding Greece’s financial 
problems and tourism sector attractiveness. The survey includes 
Romanian respondents who have visited Greece at least once. Results of 
the study show that most Romanians will continue to travel to Greece 
despite country’s economic problems. Thus, the article offers relevant 
support in determining the impact of economic crisis on Greek tourism. 
Moreover, the article emphasizes tourism sector importance and 
encourages further research. 

JEL classification: G01, H12, L83 

Key words: economic crisis; tourism; Greek debt crisis; tourist arrivals; Romania  

1. Introduction  
Tourism accounts for almost 20% of Greek gross domestic product and almost 

17.5 million tourists visit Greece every year. However, the current recession hit Greece 
very strong. The violent protests and strikes in Athens, as well as the declining euro 
have determined many tourists to change their travel destination. Nowadays, Greece 
faces serious debts, increasing unemployment rates and a country image that is slowly 
deteriorating. In this paper, the author seeks to emphasize the impact of the economic 
crisis on Greek tourism. Thus, the article describes the evolution of major statistical 
indicators regarding Greek tourism during 2008-2010 and analyses Romanian 
preferences for Greek destinations in times of economic decline. Therefore, the author 
carried out a survey among Romanian population during January-February 2011, to 
provide relevant information about tourism in Greece. Results of the study show that 
Greek tourism remains in the top preferences of travel destinations for 2011. The 
reasons regard Romanians’ belief that Greece is a safe country despite the negative 
economical context and the cheap travel packages that Greeks offer in order to attract 
tourists. To conclude, the article presents an in-depth review on an important economic 
issue while providing significant support to institutions and associations oriented 
towards tourism in general.              
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2. Greek tourism during the economic crisis 

According to the Greek National Statistical Service, Greece is among the first 
15 travel destinations in the world and the second most visited country in Europe. More 
than 9000 hotels and 400 campsites accommodate international and domestic visitors 
every year. 

The economic downturn started in 2008, caused significant losses in Greek 
tourism and hotel industry. The situation got worse in 2009, when the Institute for 
Tourist Research and Forecasts announced that Greece was down 20% from 2008. 
However, the significant drop in tourist arrivals was not entirely due to Greece’s debt 
crisis. Countries worldwide were facing serious economic problems and, as the 
unemployment rates were rapidly increasing, more people decided to postpone their 
vacations (Conrady, 2010). In promoting travel packages, many public institutions tried 
to encourage tourism among consumers through marketing campaigns (Serban, 2011).  

Realizing the importance of maintaining the cash flows in tourism, the Greek 
government dropped prices and made the country less expensive for foreign visitors. 
Still, strikes by Greek workers and frequent protests have disrupted travel plans for 
many people, making them reconsider their travel to Greece.  

Greek government main priority is to keep the crisis primarily economic and 
encourage the development of tourism and shipping, two of the most important sectors 
of the economy.  

According to the report “Greece – Second Review Under the Stand-by 
Arrangement” issued by the International Monetary Fund in December 2010, Greece is 
still fighting the debt crisis, though some economic sectors have shown signs of slow 
recovery. 

Figure 1 presents the evolution of tourism and shipping sector in Greece, during 
the economic crisis. The shipping sector experienced a downturn in 2009 but managed 
to recover very well by July 2010. Tourism, however, hardly registered positive values 
during the period 2008-2010.  
 

 
Source: Bank of Greece 

Figure no. 1 Evolution of tourism and shipping in Greece during January 2008 – 
July 2010 

Recent statistics on tourism provided by the European Travel Commission in 
the report “European Tourism in 2010: Trends and Prospects, Quarterly Report 
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(Q4/2010)” show that Greece has registered low rates both in foreign visits and hotel 
occupancy (figure 2 and figure 3).  

 
Source: TourMIS, ETC,*Date varies by destination 

Figure no. 2 Foreign visits to selected destinations, 2010 
As regards foreign visits, Greece has experienced low rates in the last quarter of 

2010 – almost 2%. Aside from the economic crisis, another reason could be country’s 
orientation towards summer tourism. The hotel occupancy rates registered negative 
values – almost -5%, unlike most of the European countries.    

 

 
Source: STR Global 

Figure no. 3 Hotel occupancy rates in different countries, 2010 

3. Study among romanians regarding the impact of the economic crisis on greek 
tourism 

3.1 Purpose 
The purpose of this study is to describe the extent to which the economic crisis 

in Greece has changed Romanians perceptions about traveling to this country.  
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3.2 Methodology 

The study was based on a survey conducted in January-February 2011. The 
survey included a self-administrated questionnaire and was considered valid only for 
respondents which have traveled to Greece at least once. The objective was to 
determine the probability of returning on vacation in this country given the rigid 
economical context.  

The study included a total sample of 67 respondents, out of which 15 
respondents were eliminated because of incomplete responses or not having passed the 
filter question. Therefore, a final sample of 52 respondents was considered in the final 
research.  

Respondents were selected by using the random sampling method. 
The questionnaire was applied in public places: universities, shopping malls, 

hypermarkets. The questionnaire included one filter question („How many times did 
you travel to Greece?”), 5 questions related to the topic and 4 socio-demographic 
questions related to age, sex of respondent, level of education and occupation. The 
questions were structured and closed, with one-choice answer.    

3.3 Analyses 
In analyzing the answers, the completed questionnaires were at first validated. 

The first question included a filter in order to separate the respondents who have 
traveled to Greece before from the ones who had never been to Greece (figure 4). 
Therefore, only 52 questionnaires were considered valid. 

The answers to the first question showed that most respondents traveled to 
Greece at least once in their life – more than 48% of respondents agreed. The second 
option was “less than 3 times” in their life (36%), while only 15% of respondents 
admitted to have visited Greece more than 3 times in their life.  

 

 

Figure no. 4 Frequency of travel to Greece among Romanians 
The second question described the types of tourism one can choose from while 

traveling to Greece. Though Greece is not a big country, it holds great historical 
landmarks, various landforms and beautiful religious sites.  

Figure 5 shows that most Romanians prefer going to Greece during the summer 
–30% of respondents agreed. However, a considerable number of respondents  prefer 
Greece for its culture (17%), while others for its religious sites (19%). 

Figure 6 shows the reasons for which most respondents choose to travel to 
Greece. The most important factor is beautiful sightseeing – 25% of respondents 
answered this way. Other important factors were: cultural attractions, better 
accommodation and similar prices to Romania. 
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Figure no. 5 Romanian preferences regarding Greek tourism 

 

 
Figure no. 6 Description of reasons for traveling to Greece  

In addressing the economic crisis issue, the questionnaire included 3 questions. 
The first question described the impact of the Greek debt crisis on country’s tourism. 
As figure 7 shows, most Romanians consider that the economic crisis had a great 
influence on Greece’s tourism – more than 73% of respondents agreed. 2 respondents 
considered the impact to be low, while 13 respondents said the impact was medium. 

 

 
Figure no. 7 Impact of the economic crisis on Greek tourism 

The answers to the following questions were grouped and presented in figure 8. 
As a result, Romanians consider going to Greece in spite of the economic crisis (77%). 
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Most respondents agree that the tourism sector was not seriously affected by the 
economic context and recent travel packages offers have made the country more 
attractive.  

  

 
Figure no. 8 Description of reasons for traveling to Greece during the economic 

crisis 
Moreover, Greece holds second position among the top foreign travel 

destinations for Romanians. Along with Bulgaria and Turkey, Greece is considered to 
be a perfect country to spend summer vacations. 

The reasons for which Romanians choose Greece in times of economic crisis 
are: cheaper accommodation (34%), special offers: bonus trips, extra-meals or airport 
taxes included (25%), promotional flight prices and lower docking fees for cruise ships.  

5. Conclusions  
In this paper, the author presented some important aspects of the economic 

crisis in Greece. Thus, the article described the relationship between the tourism sector 
and the economical context in Greece as well as their relevance to the consumer.  

The practical part of the paper presented the results of a survey among 
Romanian consumers regarding Greece’s economic decline and its impact on tourism. 
Results showed that Greece’s approach for 2010 – continue to reduce prices and 
increase the quality of services – was successful among Romanians. Moreover, travel 
agencies in both countries  indicated that the number of Romanians who cancelled their 
holiday to Greece because of the protests in Athens was considerable small compared to 
those who chose to travel to Greece in the same period. Better travel packages and a 
strong belief in the national safety of the country convinced many Romanians to travel 
to Greece in spite of the demonstrations. 

Another advantage of Greece in these difficult times is citizens’ long 
experience in tourism. Greece stands for tradition and culture and its values are well 
preserved by the population. In attracting tourists, Greeks show respect to their guests 
and, above all, hospitality. All these things, make the Greece’s debt crisis less dramatic 
for the Romanian consumers. 

By analyzing the case of Greece, the article presents some important view-
points regarding the economic crisis in Europe. The information provided reflects the 
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amplitude of the economic crisis worldwide and its rapid spread in most areas of 
activity. The focus on Greek tourism and its relationship with Romania can offer 
specialized associations a starting point in further analyzing Romanian tourism and the 
current tourism strategies. 

REFERENCES  
1. Conrady, R. Trends and Issues in Global Tourism 2010, Berlin: Springer-Verlag 

Publishing, 2010 
2. Glaesser, D. Crisis Management in the Tourism Industry, 2nd edition, Oxford: 

Butterworth Heinemann, 2006  
3. Hellander, P. Greece, Footscray: Lonely Planet Publishing, 2008 
4. Henderson, J. 

C. 
Tourism crisis: causes, consequences and management, Oxford: 
Butterworth Heinemann, 2007 

5. International 
Monetary Fund 

Greece – Second Review Under the Stand-by Arrangement – Staff 
Report; Press Release on the Executive Board Discussion; and 
Statement by the Executive Director for Greece, Country Report No. 
10/372, Washington: International Monetary Fund Publications, 
2010 

6. Kaar, M. A Critical Analysis of the 2007-2009 Global Financial and 
Economic Crisis and Its Implications for the Travel Industry and 
Associated Businesses, Norderstedt: GRIN Verlag, 2009 

7. Serban, C. Partnership in social marketing programs. Socially responsible 
companies and non-profit organizations’ engagement in solving 
society’s problems. Amfiteatru Economic, 2011 

8. Vella, L. European Tourism in 2010: Trends & Prospects, Quarterly Report 
(Q4/2010), Brussels: European Travel Commission, 2010 

9. Vella, L. European Tourism in 2010: Trends & Prospects, Quarterly Report 
(Q3/2010), Brussels: European Travel Commission, 2010 

10. * * * http://www.bankofgreece.gr/Pages/en/default.aspx 
11. * * * http://epp.eurostat.ec.europa.eu/portal/page/portal/eurostat/home/ 
12. * * * http://www.etc-corporate.org/ 
13. * * * http://www.statistics.gr/portal/page/portal/ESYE 
14. * * * http://www.strglobal.com/Products/Hotel_Market_Forecast.aspx?pro

ductId=95 
15. * * * http://www.tourmis.info/index_e.html 

 



 

 

    63 

Management – Marketing - Tourism 

ASPECTS REGARDING THE MARKETING ENVIRONMENT OF RETAILERS  
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Abstract: The marketing environment in which producers or retailers act 
consists of the totality of factors and forces that come under the immediate 
control of a production or retail company and that influence the 
maintenance or development of profitable relationships with customers 
[Balaure, 2002, p.76]. It also represents the grouping of actors and of 
external forces of a company capable of influencing the way in which it 
develops and maintains satisfactory exchanges with the target market 
[Kotler, Keller, Bliemel, 2007, p.189]. The necessity of knowing and proper 
understanding the business environment arises from the perspective of 
two fundamental issues, namely it [Pop, Dumitru, 2001, p.73] allows a 
company to be able to harness the raised opportunities and also to avoid 
certain dangers of a random, indeterminate or antagonistic market.  

JEL classification: M30, M31, L81  

Key words: retailers, marketing environment, business activities, competition, 
market development 

1. Economic and competition factors  
Retailers are nowadays faced with a lot of changes of the macro- and 

microeconomic environment, but also of the intra- and inter-organisational management 
[Olteanu, 2002, p.59]. Worldwide, retailers’ situation is changing constantly, 
characterized by strongly growing competition. Home markets of many retailers have 
shown a tendency of saturation since the early 90s of the last century [Baumgarten, 
1998, p.186]. This has greatly induced competition to move outside national borders. 
Many retailers have resorted to internationalization, considering it the best way to 
increase sales and turnover [Pop, Dumitru, 2001, p.51]. Tackling the issue of 
internationalization requires a different approach when considering retailers, and 
wholesalers respectively. The magnitude of this phenomenon is illustrated in Table 1, 
which shows for 2008 the total turnover of the worldwide top 15 retailers and the 
number of markets they entered. 

Even since times of old retailers have recognized the importance and especially 
the need to conduct activities on an international level; these have predominantly 
consisted in purchasing raw materials, and purchasing activities, as well as “theft” of 
knowledge and technology [Zentes, Swoboda, Schramm-Klein, 2010, p.224]. In 1992, 
the first 30 retailers were present in fewer foreign markets than the fingers of one hand; 
nowadays some of them achieve even more than 50% of their turnovers abroad.  

Typically, only powerful retailers manage to internationalize successfully and 
to penetrate a significant number of foreign markets. Possible mistakes in the 
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development of foreign markets could occur from proper misunderstanding of foreign 
consumers’ mentalities or from underestimation of competitors’ force. 

Table no. 1 Number of markets developed by retailers versus their total business turnover 
Retail Group Origin 

country 
Turnover (billion 

EUR) 
Nr. 

employees 
Number of markets 

WE EE RW T 
Metro Group Germany 66,25 251.338 13 14 7 34 

Schwarz Group Germany 54,89 280.000 17 9 - 26 
Carrefour France 87,75 475.976 6 6 12 24 

Aldi Germany 40,59 500.000 12 4 2 18 
Rewe Group Germany 50,91 326.000 5 9 - 14 

Wal-Mart USA 285,75 2.100.000 1 - 15 16 
Tengelmann Germany 24,17 167.500 3 10 - 13 

Auchan France 39,48 165.000 5 5 3 13 
Tesco UK 54,56 468.508 2 5 7 14 

Caption: WE – Western Europe, EE – Eastern Europe, RW – Rest of the world (America, Asia, 
etc), T – total developed markets; Date valid for 2010 expressed in billion EUR;  
Sources: ***, Metro Handelslexikon 2010/2011, pp.76-89; ***, The Global 2000 Rank 2010; 
companies own websites. 
 

Surviving in an intensively competitive environment may be, of course, more 
easily achieved by a retailer with a large turnover than by a retailer with a little one, 
who therefore has a limited experience with foreign markets. The current 
internationalisation process of retailers is in fact a somewhat beaten path, namely by the 
producers in the 70-ties and 80-ties of the twentieth century [Liebmann, Zentes, 
Swoboda, 2008, p.346]. 

Most European retail chains (Carrefour, Metro, Ahold, Tesco, Rewe, ITM 
Enterprizes, Edeka, Lidl / Schwarz, Auchan, Spar International) are active in the food 
sector [Stănciulescu, Hallier, 2006, pp.500-502]. They realized the importance of 
globalization in time, and properly perceived the need of “reactive expansion” in 
Central and Eastern Europe [Zentes, Swoboda, Schramm-Klein, 2010, p.244]. Their 
expansion into in culturally and geographically neighbouring foreign markets, becomes 
a fundamental strategic choice [Gielens, Dekimpe, 2007, pp.196-212]. 

This concept has not been sufficiently applied so far. Many retailers were not 
able to rapidly shift resources abroad, and to adapt themselves to foreign cultural, legal, 
and political conditions. Saturation tendencies of demand in home markets, however, 
forces competitors to extend to foreign markets. Even market leaders sometimes fail to 
intrude into foreign markets because of misperception of the specific conditions abroad. 

For example, Wal-Mart, the biggest worldwide retailer with an estimated 
turnover in 2008 of USD 405 billion, decided in 1997 to penetrate the German market. 
With an initial investment of about U.S. 1.6 billion and losses of more than U.S. 3 
billion they had to give in due to the strong competition of the German discounters Aldi 
and Lidl, Wal-Mart had failed to build up an appropriate image in Germany. In July 
2006, Wal-Mart sold the German chain consisting of 85 stores to its competitor Metro 
[Pop, Dabija, 2008, pp.1099-1105]. 

Another trend is that of transit or “adventure” retailing, close to the boundaries 
of selected regions or countries. In 2005, 1.07 million Swiss households (compared 
with 0.18 million in 2002) “preferred” to make purchases outside their country, 
especially in Germany. As to the factors that have contributed to this trend we refer to 
[Zentes, Swoboda, Schramm-Klein, 2010, p.343]: 
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- Increase of the value of imported goods not liable to customs clearance from 100 to 

300 CHF (€60 – 180); 
- Decline of consumer confidence in the Swiss local retailers; 
- Relatively high price difference between Swiss (expensive) and EU goods (cheap); 
- A shift of attitude of Swiss consumers in favour of EU-goods.  

We have also to include the costs of establishing new stores among the 
economic factors. Such costs are connected with the acquisition or leasing of sites for 
stores, and also with establishing them. Furthermore costs for various facilities such as 
outdoor provisions and parking lots are to calculate. Last not least communication 
efforts are to be financed in order to attract customers [Omar, 1999, p.35]. 

Even though costs of retail sites have been declining since 2008 they still are an 
important factor for every company. In 2009, the monthly rent for 100 square meters of 
retail space in Cluj-Napoca varied between €15 and 40 depending on the location 
(excluding VAT). According to real estate experts, retailer have to add maintenance 
costs (€2 – 2.5 per m2) as well as a “marketing fee” of €1.5 – 3 per m2. The “marketing 
fee” includes the monthly cost of joint advertising and promotion conducted by the 
shopping center’s management. Retail space rents have declined by 40-70% from 2008 
to 2010 [Botezatu, 2010; Roman, 2010]. 

2. Political and legislative factors  
The legal framework set by the World Trade Organizations (WTO) - and even 

more important for Europe by the EU – enforces free trade, and opens new markets to 
national companies. In this regard, we emphasize the liberalization of world trade by 
agreements (GATT, GATS, TRIPS, WTA, ATC) of the WTO Member States, designed 
to lead to a comprehensive reintegration of world trade [Zentes, Swoboda, 2001, pp.11-
14] with industrial, agricultural, textiles (ATC), services (GATS) and intellectual 
property rights (TRIPS), and also with regional trade agreements.  

A stationary retailer may take advantage of different specific forms of operation 
when extending to foreign markets [Zentes, Ferring, 1995, pp.410-436; Zentes, 
Swoboda, Schramm-Klein, 2010, p.343]: 
- Foundation and development of subsidiary companies with offices (branches) in the 

foreign country; this is supposed to be the most successful form of intruding a 
foreign market; 

- Acquisitions of local retailers (acquisition strategy) or local retail chains. This 
accelerates to some extent the adaptation process to foreign markets and their 
specifics conditions. This includes knowledge of local competitors and their 
strengths, but also of specific habits, values and traditions of customers; the 
acquired local firms will have competence also with regard to suppliers and 
producers of goods. Furthermore no valuable time is lost for market research; some 
legal complications when starting off with new own offices may also be avoided. 
Acquiring local or national retailers can also be seen as a phenomenon of economic 
globalization, possibly connected with concentration of retail power.  

- Cooperation with local retailers (cooperative strategy) by development of franchise 
stores, granting of licenses or engaging in joint ventures. These situations can be 
the result of legal restrictions that prevent the establishment of representative 
offices or branches; a local partner may also be preferred due its potential easier 
access to some raw materials or technologies. For example, Metro, the second 
European retailer according to turnover, preferred to penetrate the Chinese market 
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through a joint venture. In 1996 they did so, using the competence of the local retail 
chain Jinjiang. Currently, Metro operates over 20 stores in mainland China [***, 
Metro Handelslexikon 2010/2011, p.136]. 

In this context, the decision of extending to a foreign market concerns [Gielens, 
Dekimpe, 2007, pp.196-212]: 
- Timing and size of entry: the number of stores, their size, the length or depth of the 

assortment or the size of sales area; 
- Intra-organisational learning with respect to the company’s own internationalization 

experience; 
- Inter-organizational learning, in terms of foreign market competition; 
- Market dynamics with respect to the process of internationalization of competition. 

A retailer will also have to define its own degree of flexibility (or rigidity) in 
terms of differentiation (or standardization) in relation to the usual retail format in his 
home country. Within a “global” strategy (see Fig. 1), a retailer will have to choose 
either between standardization and differentiation. If standardizing, a retailer will copy 
his home business model in foreign markets. For example, he will offer the same range 
of assortment or use a similar communication strategy (Ikea, Benetton, and The Body 
Shop).  

He can also opt for a “multinational” orientation, adapting known strategies to 
specific needs of local or regional markets. In this sense he will have to change both 
composition and structure of assortment, the retail format, the price, and the 
communication tools used (Tengelmann, Rewe). Finally, he may decide to guide 
himself according to a “glocal” orientation, which means that he will use a common 
retailing format on an international level, however, with specific adaptations to local or 
national characteristics (Lidl / Schwarz, Carrefour, Wal-Mart) [Liebmann, Zentes, 
Swoboda, 2008, pp.270-275]. 

 

 
Source: Liebmann, Zentes, Swoboda, 2008, p.273. 

Figure 1. Standardization versus differentiation of retailers according to assortment  
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a wide range of legal regulations issued by national, regional or local authorities. They 
can refer to various aspects, such as [***, Metro Handelslexikon, pp.72-73; Gilbert, 
2003, pp.244-246; Popa, November 2010]: 
- Type of packaging that can be used for food or non-food products; 
- Daily operation schedule of stores, the total number of weekly working hours or the 

days when sales activities are banned. For example stores from Poland, Portugal, 
Romania, Sweden, Hungary, Ireland and UK may be open for more than 160 hours 
per week, 24 hours per day from Monday to Saturday. Usually stores may not be 
opened on Sundays in Austria, Belgium, Denmark, France, Norway, Holland or 
Spain, excepting special days provides local or regional regulations do not 
contradict. In Germany stores are allowed be open on not more than 4 to 8 Sundays 
per year.  

- Various taxes (especially the value added tax) which directly affect customers may 
lead to an increase or decrease in product sales. For example, there are two different 
levels of VAT in most European countries – a standard one for most goods, and a 
lower one charged for food. The Romanian VAT of 24% is among the highest in 
Europe, whereas Malta, Denmark and Portugal request a VAT of 5% on food, 
whereas the standard VAT varies between 18% and 25%. Hungary e.g. follows 
with 18% (standard VAT 25%). 

- Duration of holidays in specific countries or regions, as well as free days when 
retail stores may or may not be opened; 

- Permits for construction and arrangement of buildings, their proper equipment with 
a minimum number of parking places lots or the management of transport.  

3. Technological factors  
Concentration of global retailing requires optimizing of allocation, and the 

appropriate use of financial and human resources, dependent on technical information. 
Due to technological progress and improvement of organization, retailing is no longer 
just a distributor for manufacturers, but “emancipates” and becomes a partner not only 
with equal rights, but even a dominant aspect for producers [Zentes, Janz, Morschett, 
1999, pp.1-4]. The professionalization of retailing was also possible due to the 
development of modern technologies and information systems; therefore its access to 
the final consumer was tremendously improved [Morschett, 2002, p.83]. 

Serving clients from a counter may help to collect important data: clients’ 
habits of buying, structure and value of purchases frequency of visits [Hallier, 1995, 
pp.104-107]. Further information can be collected by customer cards or customer clubs. 
Even if retailers apply in general a mass marketing strategy, by using customer cards 
they can implement a personalized marketing or a “one-to-one marketing” [Morschett, 
2002, pp.83-84].  

Retailers may address consumers by using information technology, in order to 
persuade them to accept a certain retail format or a specific store. Electronic commerce 
and its comfort (consumer no longer have to visit retailers in order to make purchases, 
they need only run transactions from their computers), represent a serious alternative to 
traditional forms of retailing and even a possible future threat to them [Zentes, 
Swoboda, 2000, pp.687-706]. Electronic commerce which is also considered to be a 
chance for new media has some limitations concerning “wining acquisition” of new 
customers or establishing new distribution channels [Morschett, 2002, p. 85]. Possible 
problems in this sense are given by [Müller-Hagedorn, 2000, pp.11-48]: 
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- A lack of users confidence in the security of encrypted data transfer concerning 

him; 
- The possibility of fraudulent use of electronic data entered into a web page by 

customers; 
- Charges or fees not clearly declared in advance. 

Retailers prefer the internet as a distribution channel since it makes the public 
more efficiently aware of them and strengthens their reputation. Empirical studies 
[Rode, 2000, p.36] show that customers look up the name of retailers who are present in 
the internet. This means that they already perceived them as a brand when contacting 
them. Thus, only retailers who succeed to position themselves as strong brands will 
have the chance to be recognized and accepted by users [Morschett, 2002, pp.84-86].  

The retail format of different foreign markets varies. Therefore, a retailer going 
abroad will have to consider the retail formats specific for the market which he 
penetrates and the consumer's perception of certain retail formats. Thus, for example, 
whilst German consumers typically prefer discount stores, French consumers rather 
visit hypermarkets [George, 1997, p.133; Ferring, 2001, p.44]. For each phase of the 
life cycle of a retail format are, of course, different recommendations valid as to 
possible strategic market appearance. Thus, suppose a retail format has been chosen 
[Gilbert, 2003, p.248]: 
- For the introduction phase into a market (internet, interactive kiosk systems, 

wholesale retail by warehouse). It should secure a favourable market position; it 
will probably try to focus on a cost efficient strategy. It could also aim at an 
appropriate differentiation from competitors thus striving for comparative 
advantages. In case of unstable market environment, the retailer may focus on niche 
markets, e.g. on clients with special habits or social positions. 

- During the growth phase (discounters, convenience stores or “category killers”) the 
retailer tries to occupy a dominant market position, and later to defend this position. 
The strategy will focus on cost reduction and on technological superiority. A 
reorientation of the entire strategy is necessary if retail format is not adequate to the 
meanwhile reached market position. 

- During the maturity phase (hypermarkets, supermarkets) the retailer will seek to 
defend aggressively his – hopefully –strong market position and to permanently 
improve its market share. If the retailer, however, has reached only a weak market 
position, then he will have to reassess his strategy. He will have to plan overall 
improvements in order to strengthen his market presence, e.g. by competing within 
new consumer segments; 

- During the decline phase (stores with personal selling) he may act in on a weak 
market position; then the retailers’ best choice would be to serve the market as long 
as it pays. If the retailer has still a dominant position he will have to offensively 
defend it and to seek new ways of positioning himself among consumers. 

Recent studies highlight consumers “overload” with information transmitted by 
“media communication” [Tomczak, 2000, pp.19-38]. While some authors argue that the 
this “overload” by advertising extends at least to 95% [Kroeber-Riel, Esch, 2000, p.13], 
others conclude that if a consumer would like to follow all advertisements shown on 
television, the day should have at least 40 hours [Gröppel-Klein, 2007/2008].  

Due to the fact that consumers do not have the mental capacity of processing 
too much information, a retailer will have to arouse consumers’ attention by broadcast 
advertisement. Furthermore he will have to make him follow the spot until the end. 
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Such a goal, however, has become increasingly difficult in recent years [Kroeber-Riel, 
Esch, 2000, p.13]. 

Among the technological factors affecting the development of retail or 
wholesale we may also include [Gilbert, 2003, pp.245-247]: 
- Degree of innovation by introducing new technology to scan products; 
- Level of acceptance for new electronic means of payments; 
- Software implementation for automated management and control of stock 

inventory; 
- Existence of competitive customer data management systems concerning e.g. socio-

demographic characteristics, buying frequencies, data of structure and size of 
purchases, the breakdown to details like sums spent during certain time periods or 
for certain commodities. 

4. Socio-demographic and cultural factors 
Worldwide active retailers must take specific socio-economic characteristics of 

consumers into account such as [Pop, Dabija, 2008, pp.1099-1105; Gilbert, 2003, 
p.245; Zentes, Janz, Morschett, 1999, p.32]: 
a) Evolution and distribution of customers’ income and wealth;  
b) Changes in the age structure of populations, the number of households of young 

and old people, the total number of households or the average size of them. Young 
people adopt innovative products usually more quickly and easily whilst older 
people usually prefer traditional products know to them or that they have bought for 
a long time. 

c) Lifestyles and its impact on retailing and sales; 
d) Increasing mobility of the population as a result of increasing incomes; 

development of wealth, state of employment. 
e) Change of households size, dependent on the region and the consequences for 

consumption of food and durable goods; 
f) Change of share of single-person and two person households with no kids, (if both 

partners have an income, consumption of premium or luxurious goods would 
increase); 

g) Change of unemployment and its effects on prices (opportunity for discount 
retailers); 

h) A higher grade of motorisation allows an easier access of retail parks outside the 
city borders; furthermore clients can visit several stores in within a relatively 
limited period of time. 

For example, retailers may seek to influence preschooler children by spots 
interspersed with cartoon series. Even if they are no direct buyers of specific products 
(toys, candies, colouring books, newspapers or comic books, dolls, cloths and sport 
articles), they can influence their parents. Toys represent nowadays a strong industry, 
with annual sales exceeding 2.5 billion objects with a value of 20 billion dollars. 
Among the most popular and best sold toys of the last hundred years one can find [***, 
Top 10 cele mai de succes jucării din toate timpurile, 19.05.2010] “Slinky”, the spiral 
spring invented in 1943 by a naval engineer. Until now it has been sold more than 300 
million times worldwide. The shaping pasta “Play Doh” was planned to be used for the 
maintenance of wallpaper, but eventually has become the perfect substitute for the 
greasy and not always good smelling clay.  

At the same time, a crucial role in coming to buying decisions is played by the 
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different types of temperament highlighted by customer. When structuring the 
assortment, establishing the prices or planning a communication strategy, a retailer will 
have to take into consideration the client's personality or his attitude towards the entire 
offer. In this respect, a consumer may highlight one of the four types of temperaments 
[Niţă, Corodeanu, 2007, p.27]: 
- Lively and dynamic – people, who are optimistic, sociable, self confident; they 

quickly accept advices of the retail staff. They also easily adapt to new situations, 
goods or retail formats; 

- Choleric – clients are nervous; they rapidly lose continence, make quick and 
sometimes impulsive decisions. Such customers find it also difficult to accept other 
persons’ advice and do not like contradiction; 

- Calm – consumers are calm, and patient; they are offish and thoughtful and need 
long time for thinking, and weigh carefully the alternatives before making a 
purchase decision; 

- Melancholy – such buyers are sensitive and sometimes indecisive. They always feel 
the need of advices coming from retailers stuff. 

From this perspective we may speak of a behavioural versatility or of dynamics 
of consumer behaviour. We predominantly consider those issues that are subject to 
typical behavioural patterns of consumers. These consumers show a consistent and 
constant behaviour over time, i.e. he retains his acquisition characteristics over time. 
Therefore he is more easily approachable by retailers. His parole may be “I am what I 
have”. Other consumers emphasize a “hybrid” or bipolar behaviour. Such people are 
willing to invest money in a given acquisition, while in other similar cases they will 
seek to significantly reduce the spent amount. They actually are the type of individual 
who buys both from exclusive stores, and from discounters. His dictum could be “I am 
as I live”.  

The “multi-optional” consumer has evolved from a “hybrid” one, by consuming 
or buying what he believes is proper in the very moment (but that could rapidly change 
if he feels otherwise). Such customers are a truly challenge for retailers and especially 
for the retailers’ offer. Their dictum seems to be “I am how the moment requires”.  The 
“paradox” consumer is the transposition in future of the one who roams between 
different consumption groups and tries to swing between an inner and outer living 
perspective. His life style is to “be as I like” [Liebmann, Zentes, Swoboda, 2008, p.123, 
p.136].  

In dealing with foreign markets, retailers will also have to take into account the 
degree to which a certain social orientation could be achieved. Such an orientation 
consists of several dimensions [Liebmann, Zentes, Swoboda, 2008, p.137; Morschett, 
2002, p.88; Zentes, Swoboda, 1998, p.33; Zentes, Swoboda, 1999, pp.24-29; Löbbert, 
Hanrieder, Berges, Beck, 2001, p.137]: 
- Orientation towards enhancing a shopping environment in the store. When 

shopping, consumers expect something exotic, a kind of retail show or “Retail 
Theatre”. This is a true challenge for any retailer, because he must continuously 
innovate and adapt the store’s atmosphere and the structure of assortment; 

- Orientation towards convenience and comfort while shopping. Among the reasons 
that have lead to this new trend one may include the increased number of single-
member households, the fact that women try to combine career with family, as well 
as the tendency for a more efficient use of time or space for living. For example a 
hasty consumer may combine the acquisition of milk, bread and chocolate with the 
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purchase of fuel in a gas station with shop. The orientation towards convenience is 
certainly contrary to that which focuses on price, due to the fact that products that 
can be purchased from gas stations at late hours are certainly more expensive than 
those bought from traditional retailers (discounters, hypermarkets). Sometimes a 
commodity that exactly meets the taste of a consumer may be found in a gas 
station.  

- Orientation towards trendy and fashionable brands can rather be considered a 
phenomenon specific to the younger generation. However, this orientation may 
sometimes be combined with the orientation towards organic products. In such 
cases the brand is for consumers a safety element, or a guarantee of quality in the 
products origin; 

- Orientation towards value is regarded as a new phenomenon for retailers, because it 
implies the substitution or replacement of brands by similar products sold at an 
almost equal quality level, but at lower prices. 

- Orientation towards professionalization of acquisitions. Traditionally strategies 
focused on price are specific only for discounters. Consumers who buy low price 
articles may do this trying to achieve a best equilibrium between the most 
advantageous prices for a minimum level of quality. Such “intelligent” customers 
are considered to be “Smart Shoppers”. They often take into consideration 
considerable efforts of time in order to reach a certain store or retailer who will 
offer him the item that he currently needs. 

- Orientation towards organic products, healthy diets or foods offering a so called 
“maximum value”. Retailers often include among their offer such special 
assortments.  

5. Components of the micromarketing environment in retail 
Besides macro forces, retailer will also have to take the elements of 

micromarketing into account. For this purpose a retailer seeks to define appropriate 
positioning strategies. With these strategies he attacks direct and indirect competitors, 
and tries to achieve a better positioning in consumers’ minds. The means of such a 
policy are the choice of a specific assortment, the emphasis of his own brands, and 
keeping best relations with good manufacturers and suppliers [Liebmann, Zentes, 
Swoboda, 2008, p.435].  

Competitors are very significant for retailers, because they aim by the specific 
retail format (hypermarket, supermarket, convenience stores, etc.) and assortment at 
almost the same consumer groups. From this point of view it is important to study the 
competition intensity, the degree of saturation and the future opportunities. Finally, 
especially in foreign countries, a retailer will also have to regard the number of 
competitors with online presence, and the number of showrooms of manufacturers', 
respectively. 

The retailer will have to take into account the preferences, lifestyles, needs, 
characters or specific values of his customers. Various empirical studies outline several 
types of behaviour. So buyers can be classified into four types according to their 
attitudes with respect to retail formats, namely [Stone, 1954, pp.36-45; Cătoiu, 
Teodorescu, 2004, p.140]: 
- Economic buyers, who are rational during the entire acquisition process. Such 

individuals forms their attitudes towards assortments based on prices and quality of 
articles; 
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- The personalized customer tries to interact with retailers’ personnel, in order to gain 

their  recognition;  
- The ethical buyer reveals a dual attitude – a positive one attitude towards 

convenience stores or small independent retailers and a negative attitude towards 
large retail chains and stores, such as hypermarkets or supermarkets; 

- The apathetic buyer who is quickly bored when purchasing. He regards buying as a 
waste of time and tries to minimize interaction with the retailer, and the duration of 
his visit.  

A retailer will also seek to continuously improve its relations with suppliers. He 
will try to structure them according to types of benefits, articles, and to optimize the 
points of interconnection within the value chain. Such an objective can be achieved 
through by a proper Supply-Chain-Management. This management has to care of 
compliance with delivery times, and of the necessary stock of commodities in the 
central warehouse, and furthermore for all storage facilities within the branches. Further 
optimization possibilities may regard intra-chain logistics or transportation capacities, 
as well as an adequate supply for all retail formats operated. Last but not least, the 
spatial proximity of wholesalers, and producers respectively could represent for a 
retailer will be another relevant aspect in optimizing specific Supply-Chain processes 
[Homburg, Krohmer, 2006, pp.703-306].  

Conclusions 
Proper understanding of both the macro- and the micromarketing environment 

allows retailers a better use of market opportunities, and helps them to avoid dangers. 
Retailers can better outline their strategies and effectively address specific target 
segments, by taking advantage of fundamental environmental research. At the same 
time they achieve a proper and better positioning among competitors 
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UNDERSTANDING RISK MANAGEMENT IN SMALL 7 STEPS25 
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Abstract: Risk management means making steps in order to identify those 
risks with a highly probability of causing problems to a project, to analyze 
the probability of loss and the magnitude of loss for each risk and 
developing composed risks, to classify the risk points identified according 
to the composed risks they belong to. Risk management problem is quite 
complex. When such a process is triggered, it must consider several 
issues in parallel. In this article we detect seven rules (principles) that a 
risk management department should take into account when deciding to 
implement a enterprise risk management 

JEL classification: D81, M1 

Key words: risk management, model, approach, principle 

1. Introduction 
Risk is an extremely complex phenomenon, and risk management clearly 

requires combining the rigors of science with art challenges. Science, because risk 
management should refer to knowledge, the method and methodology, but also art, 
because someone must feel when to get rid of a certain methodology and borrowing 
knowledge from other areas of knowledge. 

We believe that our approach helps in developing a link between art and 
science of risk management. This link grows through understanding a set of rules, 
principles, which, in our opinion, are: 

• how risk management works? (analyzing the relationship between asset - 
vulnerability – risk); 

• analyzing the internal and external factors; 
• risk analysis in the software development cycle (when appropriate) 
• identifying the appropriate timing for risk assessment; 
• seeing the boundary between real fact, possible and impossible events (related 

to risk); 
• seeing the limit between threat and opportunity (related to risk); 
• seeing risk as a probability event 

                                                      

25 Acknowledgements. The results presents in this paper were obtained in the framework of 
the postdoctoral school programme financed by the “Dezvoltarea capacității de inovare și 
creșterea impactului cercetării prin programe postdoctorale POSDRU/89/1.5/S/49944” 
project. 



 

 

76 

Revista Tinerilor Economişti (The Young Economists Journal)
2. How Risk Management Works? (Analyzing the Relationship Between Asset - 
Vulnerability – Risk)  

First, we can talk about the stake at risk and how important vulnerabilities are 
in the disaster scenarios taken into account, the result being a way to reduce the 
resulting risks (Fig. no.1)  

  
Figure no.1 Risk Management Process 

This is an approach proposed also by CLUSIF - Club de L'Information Security 
Francais in the Mehari methodology (1). 

Stake (asset) 
The stake is an issue that varies from entity to entity. This should be quantified 

and classified individually on each business separately. The stakes should be 
differentiated at by their availability, integrity and confidentiality. The impact of the 
consequences could be financial or legal or reputational, but all these issues must be 
examined in relation to the importance for the survival of the organization. 

Vulnerabilities 
According to ISO 27001 there is the possibility to create a collection 

(qualitative!) of audit questions as a consequence of good practice. But which one best 
fits a particular business major stakes in a company? Which one will decrease the 
potential disaster? Which one will reduce the consequence (impact)? And how could be 
assessed the correlation between a specific question and a certain effect? Is it possible 
to group the questions in order to ensure risk reduction? Such a group might bear the 
name of: security measure. 

But this would call for new measures to quantify the contribution of each 
security measure within a company at reducing the potential (probability, sounds too 
mathematical) or the impact (consequence) of a disastrous situation. 

Risks 
At this level a new question arises: how to implement a disaster scenario to 

such situations? The simplest way would be to have a list of scenarios and some 
mathematical formulas established between the asset, the vulnerabilities and the risks, 
given by the security measures laid down in advance. 

Also, how to build a security protection to cover the most important scenarios 
in a very efficient manner? This is achieved by setting the weights of the most 
important safeguards scenarios. 

But as long as there is not a classic pattern of threats in each area and also 
immediately available statistics, this task may require a considerable research effort. 
The difficulty may come from the possibility that a significant threat to be overlooked 
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or accepted by negligence. Worse, it is possible that a significant threat to be 
intentionally disregarded 

3. Analyzing The Internal And External Factors  
Second, we must understand that the probability of an event depends on a series 

of external factors as well as on internal factors of the entity (business/process/project) 
for which the risk assessment is made. It is essential to know and control as many of 
these factors as possible.  

The internal factors include historical data from within the entity, collected in 
time, as it is necessary to keep a record of all processed data, no matter if for the 
moment it is thought that the data will not be useful in the future.  

One way to achieve this without affecting the operational environment is 
appealing to data warehousing technology and decision support systems. Without going 
into technical details we mention only that the data warehouse is a way of storing data 
and creating information, a topic-oriented database, integrated, nonvolatile, other 
(sensitive) over time, which support management decisions. And decision support 
system is in a simple definition, the layer of data presentation from the data warehouse. 
In fact it is much more than a presentation layer: the decision support system extending 
itself from extracting data from data warehouse to present these data to the decision 
maker, including sophisticated reporting tools, tools, OLAP (Online Analytical 
Processing) and Data Mining. 

And when we talk about external factors, we are talking about those factors 
undergoing STEEP analyses (Social, Technological, Economic, Environmental, 
Political), factors that cannot be controlled but that could be anticipated. Here are also 
included the events from the company’s activity, such as natural disasters or terrorist 
attacks, attacks against informational systems (informational viruses, spam, DoS type 
attacks etc.). 

In order to evaluate these factors one may choose to study the statistical data 
available from various sources including the FBI (eg CSI FBI Survey) or various 
international information security experts centers such as CERT (Computer Emergency 
Response Team), the Software Engineering Institute or CERIS (Centre of Expertise and 
Response to Security Incidents). 

But this data gives only a vague estimate of the probability of occurrence and 
impact generated by such an occurrence. Such an approach is justified such as "always 
be prepared for the worst."  

4. Risk Analysis In The Software Development Cycle 
Third, if we come closer to the electronic business environment and the fact 

that one of the elements of this environment is the informational system, we must not 
ignore the software risk, which represents the combination between the probabilities of 
occurrence and the loss caused by an unwanted result which affects the project, the 
process or the software product. 

Each software system is unique with its own set of risks. There are many 
software risks but fewer consequences that we want to avoid. Perhaps because of this 
software risk is often discussed in terms of potential cost, timing and technical 
consequences. 

In software development business the risk management has a different 
behavior; because in this case the accent falls more on the process of development and 
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ensuring the integrity of the process and less on the final product. Although at first 
glance seem similar, there should be no confusion between risk management and 
quality management (Roy, 2004): the quality assurance is a process that will minimize 
the chances of the project to deviate from a set of rules originally established and risk 
management deals with the identification of components that could go wrong and their 
impact on project analysis. 

5. Identifying The Appropriate Timing For Risk Assessment 
Fourth, the moment suitable to launch a risk assessment process must be 

identified. We thus differentiate between a corrective action and a preventive action. 
Risk assessment is a preventive action, so it is necessary to take place before the 
unfortunate event (Fig. no. 2). 

An example of a corrective action plan is the disaster recovery, a component of 
business continuity plan (Obs. at this level the opinions are divided; some authors take 
business continuity plan as part of the risk management plan, others refer to this plan as 
an independent entity). 

 
Figure no. 2 The Appropriate Timing For Risk Assessment  

6. Seeing The Boundary Between Real Fact, Possible And Impossible Events 
Fifth, it also takes an approach on the border of philosophy and mathematics 

(Măzăreanu, 2010). That is: we have three domains the real, the possible, the 
impossible (Fig. no. 3).  

 
Figure no. 3 The Boundary Between Real Fact, Possible And Impossible Events 

 
The problem of risk management is in the realm of the possible. The possible is 

what can be but is not. The main characteristic of the possible is defined through 
relation to the human being. This characteristic is called probability. It gives the chance 
of a scientific approach to a border domain between real and impossible. The 
probability reported to man has two manifestations: chance and risk. Chance is 
favorable to man, risk is unfavorable.  

Scientifically, the approach of this matter can only be a calculation of the 
probability of an event or of its passing from the possible to the real. So we could 
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assume that it is useless to approach the matter as a risk of something occurring, but 
only as probability. 

As a result a formula to determine the probability for an unfortunate event to 
occur is necessary. 

7. Seeing The Limit Between Threat And Opportunity 
This approach opens a new topic. Given that risk is defined as a future and 

uncertain event, able to affect the project objectives (in terms of human, material, 
financial, technical or in terms of scheduling) why to look at this event only its 
catastrophic side? (Fig. no. 4) 

 
Figure no.  4 Understanding the new approach  

 

 
Figure no. 5 The New Approach 

 
As long as we relate the risk to uncertainty and to impact on the objectives, as 

well this event could be considered an opportunity. Under these conditions the 
generally risk approach need to be changed (Fig. no. 5). 

8. Seeing Risk As A Probability Event 
It should be understood that risk is a probabilistic event: it is possible to occur, 

it is possible that it may not appear. Moreover, it is known that human ability to 
estimate the likelihood of an event is quite poor and take a number of factors, including 
(Leach, 2000): 
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• mathematical factors (eg. failure to understand how the probabilities may 

combine, inability to work with numbers of greater value); 
• errors of representation; 
• error of judgment (eg. The dependency on a first decision, the tendency to trust 

a first impression, the tendency to not deviate too much from a first 
impression). 
For this reason, there are optimistic tends to not see the risks involved in a 

project or that these risks would not occur. Such attitudes can lead to big problems if 
the risk materializes, and risks in large projects are inevitable 

9. Conclusions 
It is clear that the risk varies from situation to situation, whether speaking of an 

activity, project, or the entire business process. Consequently, the risk response plan 
differs. It is clear why the risk management and the risk manager are strictly required 
for a successful activity in the business and the organizational structures especially in 
the organizations that are lead through projects management. 

If the management level decides that the risk management will be run by 
complying with a standard or by adjustment and adaptation to standards, methods, 
methodologies and laws (this is another debate about which approach is more 
appropriate), in this paper the emphasis is on the risk manager (the risk management 
team). Because if the manager fails to understand the risk factors listed above, the 
whole process of risk management, whether standardized or adapted, is subject to 
failure. 

Note 
(1) The Mehari methodology may be found on CLUSIF website 

(https://www.clusif.asso.fr/fr/clusi/).  
The Romanian translation of the Mehari methodology may be found on 

http://www.managementul-riscurilor.ro, a Romanian website dedicated to risk 
management. 
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Introduction  
Understanding the need for change implies, moreover, that further knowledge 

management processes with older structures in the new conditions lead inevitably, 
sooner or later, in situations critical to the organization. 

Organizations are people within those organizations. People are giving the 
identity of organizations. We tried to change organization, by changing structures and 
processes, but in fact people had to change. With people replacement, will spend the 
necessary changes in structures process.  

“In successful  change initiatives, the first step is to make sure that a sufficient 
number of people acting fast enough - by adopting that strong behavior, which show 
interest in opportunities and problems, which gives energy fellow, who wants to say: 
“Let's do it”. 

People engage in behavior change only when faced with a need for change. If 
there is an adequate degree of necessity, a change of scale may come to look like 
pushing a huge boulder to the top of a high mountain”26. 

Resistance to change is an evasion behavior, fear and uncertainty, manifested in 
organizational change, which occurs when an individual is not aware of clear objectives 
and reasons for the transformation and when it feels threatened its status and financial 
rewards. 

Communication is a way of reducing resistance to change. Resistance may be 
reduced by communicating with employees, helping them understand the need for 
change. This method is effective when the main cause of resistance is lack of 
information of individuals in the change process. 

A real communication is not just a data transfer. We need to show people 
                                                      
26 Kotter J.P. , Cohen D.S. – Inima Schimbarii, 2008, p.25 
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something to shatter the anxiety, to appease their anger, to be credible in a very deep 
respect and give them confidence in the vision. 

There are two statements that can be heard in one form or another in most change 
projects. Staff affected by change will say that "there was not enough communication, 
nobody told us anything" and the change team will says "we communicate all the time, 
but we can communicate only what we are ready to communicate. " Excellent 
communication aims to balance these two viewpoints, reaching a point where everyone 
is satisfied that it knows what need to know and wants to know. 

Communication in change management 
Communication is essential for change management. It is crucial to prepare and 

develop enthusiasm for progressive change, for changing how people think and act, 
training and preparation to ensure that staff continue to adhere to the change after the 
implementation of change, too. 

Communication for change is a two way process and, equally, a matter of 
listening and gathering information, but also one of passing on key messages. 

Effective communication for change starts with the use of informal and 
unstructured communication that happens all the time. But change communication also 
uses events, listening sessions formally planned. 

Effective communication significantly improves the likelihood of success and 
reduces the risk of change. 

In successful change efforts, vision and strategies are not confined in a room with 
team coordination. Direction of change is communicated to large numbers of people, 
both to be understood and to convince them to join her. 

Communication in the process of change aimed at increasing interest in change 
(information and belief) and involvement in its realization. 

American Management Association has developed a list of ten rules of effective 
communication: 

1) the issuer need to clarify ideas before communicating them - most often 
communicating the vision does not give expected results for several reasons, among 
which the most obvious is the lack of clarity; 
         2) for planning communications is necessary to consult the others; 
         3) those who want to initiate communication must examine the true purpose of 
communication in order not to lose details; 

4) persons involved in this process must take into account all the physical and 
mental elements of the context because the intended meaning is always sent more than 
by mere words; 
         5) the issuer must be careful when communicating the nuances, and the basic 
meaning of the message; 
         6) the issuer must develop the capacity for empathy; 
         7) during the communication, participants need to ask questions and encourage 
each other to express reactions, such as showing whether or not the message has been 
levied; 

8) the issuer and the receiver must communicate in the future as well as now; 
          9) who communicate shall be sure on communication support - communication of 
a grand vision involves the transmission of messages usually honest, who come from 
some real people. But new technologies, such as cold and inhuman, can provide useful 
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channels for disseminating information. These channels include satellite broadcasts, 
teleconferences, broadcasts over the Internet and electronic mail; 

10) the issuer and the receiver must try not only to understand but to make 
understood - active listening is one of the most important attributes of communication. 

Communication tends to be associated with what we say and hear what we write 
and read. The phrase "actions speak louder than words" may be old and devoid of 
originality, but very true. 
           In addition, communication is more than mere words. We all send and receive 
information from the way we interact and various nonverbal behaviors such as tone of 
voice, facial expressions and body attitude. Good communication requires agreement 
between what is said and associated body language. 

Although there is a balance between saying too much and saying too little, the 
principle under the organization should work is you can not say enough to the staff and 
they must constantly communicate. 
         But good communication does not refer only to the good intentions of talking 
regularly and posts the deliberate, timely and structured messages, to achieve a final 
result known. 

Why is communication so important?  Because it allows: 
          - managing people's expectations. Good communication brings awareness of 
change and support for it and even the most unpopular changes will occur more 
smoothly when people are ready for them; 
          - whether the employees do the right thing; 

- some changes take place. Communication can propel change by initiating a 
positive response; 
          - gathering feedback on the change; 
          - to understand the attitudes and responses to change. Managing change requires 
management responses. If you do not listen, you will not understand the answer that 
you must manage. Also, you will not understand how important it is that your staff 
understands the change; 
          - some results can be implemented. The essential mechanism for practical 
training is communication. Communication will not happen by itself and without 
resources. It is a major activity of most change initiatives. 

Change must be made in the interest of an organization. Unfortunately, wider and 
long-term interests of the organizations rarely align with those of individuals who have 
an interest in the organization, which also includes staff. Good communication can help 
prepare people for change and can mitigate any negative reaction. One of the roles of 
communication for staff is to sell the benefits of change, but the communication should 
not be used to try to convince staff that change is in its interest, if in fact it is not. 

Communication begins with the formulation of objectives and continues after 
deployment, until the change is fully consolidated. Communication will help or 
determine events on plan for change and will have to occur throughout the project 
period. 

In an effective communication process, a particular importance for analysis 
presents the adapting to changing curve of Everett M. Rogers (1962), a model based on 
the idea that certain individuals are inevitably more open to change than others. 

According to this model, the communication plan will be formulated taking into 
account the classification of employees in the categories of personnel: 
       - innovators (2.5%) - they will drive change in the organization and are an 
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important communication mechanism. They are the category of staff, by their nature, 
will always try new things.  
Chances are they to instigate change. 
        - new arrivals (13.5%) - they will try new ideas carefully. They also must be 
included in the communication plan, because their influence is essential and how their 
resistance will advance the process of change. They are usually opinion leaders. 
       - early majority (34%) - they are attentive, but accept change more quickly than the 
majority of staff. Most of the time is a bit more conservative than the newcomers. 
         - late majority (34%) - they will change only when the majority are in favor of, or 
actually use the new system. This personnel change will not go along with the belief in 
the project, but rather from a sense that change is inevitable. We can get them into 
compliance over time, but not their enthusiasm. 
        - laggards (16%) - they like to stick to old ways. It can sometimes be useful to 
recognize (at the beginning of a communications campaign) that there will be people 
who will not like the new system, but that they will be supported and assisted by a 
thorough preparation. However, they can not stand in the way of progress and change 
leader must point out that quite clear. 

In conclusion, in the process of change is important to achieve effective 
communication with the 84% of staff who we know will fit and let laggards to adhere to 
change at their own pace. 
         Shows the importance of this hypothesis based on Rogers's model, because it is 
pointless trying to convince all employees to take initiative for change with a quick 
move of mass communication. 

Conclusions  
Given that changes are made to people and not for the sake of change, it must be 

said that the human factor is decisive in the process of change, he has a complex 
structure, concrete steps and laws. Only clear view on this process, knowledge of 
factors (external and internal) of great importance for the successful implementation of 
change, it will allow efficient routing. 
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1. Study on the institutions of the Ministry of Administration and Interior 
In the context of globalization, the organization must deal with complex and 

volatile international environment. Environmental volatility in growth due to 
accelerating changes in information and communications technology requires 
organizations to cooperate with the external environment more complex. In this 
environment, the organization must adapt its strategy, which is precisely modeled, in 
line with the mission and strategic vision and its complexity is characteristic required to 
be flexible. In the study of military strategy is an important legacy, terms such as 
objectives, mission, powers, weaknesses began being used in reference to the 
battlefield. 

Change and development are not new phenomena. The human species, like all 
living organisms is the subject of evolution and adaptation to natural and social 
environment changing. At the same time are a changing and organizations. 
Technological advances, changes in the economic, political and social, demographic 
processes of integration and globalization are the main sources of this process. The 
novelty, specifically today, consists of massive acceleration and speed the rate at which 
the changes. This is why change has become a subject of modern science, and response 
to change is a major concern and a priority of modem management. 

Current research highlights some specific aspects of organizations as complex 
systems, focusing on the complexity of defining the strategy and strategic management 
flexibility. Moreover, to describe the current situation at the beginning of the 
millennium, has filed a phrase that includes the main characteristics, namely VUCA 
(Volatile, Uncertain, Complex, Ambiguous), which is operating more frequently, as the 
developments on all levels (economic, political, social, military etc.). The achievements 
to date, objectives and priorities of institutions responsible for national security in the 
short, medium or long defined Interior Ministry as an organization change. The success 
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of the whole process of adjustment to specific standards of similar institutions of the 
European Union depends crucially on how managers manage issues at all levels to 
change, know how to prepare people to help them overcome fear of the unknown 
uncertainty, it is in their midst, to form a team, knowing how to choose the optimal 
strategy for change. Change management is the key to success of any leader. 

He came to the conclusion that successful change starts from the human 
resources planning. We need people right in the number of necessary skills, knowledge 
and experience in appropriate positions at the right place and right cost. Even so, these 
conditions are not sufficient to ensure the desired result. Internal coherence and 
cohesion of employees are outside the responsibility of the driver. Among the basic 
requirements of an effective management is the concept of leadership. A leader can 
excite the team and to lead to results, can do more than that: to ensure internal 
consistency and external cohesion, develop creative and responsible departments to 
optimize the performance of each member of the team where he can give a yield up, 
manage conflicts and disputes, personal needs to harmonize the organization's values. 

Military Leadership and management are different, although they are 
interdependent and interrelated work and life in the army, seen as a social organization. 
Leadership is seen as a type of interpersonal influence that causes an individual to 
another individual or group performing the duties that first wants to see carried out. The 
notion of influence is paramount to leadership. Influence is the effect of power exerted 
on others. It is a behavioral response, results of the exercise of official power and / or 
informal. Leadership is all the more appropriate individual to exceed the model as 
charismatic in favor of participatory democracy. Organizational Leadership is the 
ability to support leaders to promote consistent application of principles for the 
integration of authority and responsibility in the act of leadership. Leadership focuses 
on a state domestic political stability and security and foreign policy of smart 
partnerships and effective now and in the future. 

After the experience of dictatorial communism, Romania has to avoid the 
model of charismatic leadership exacerbated the individual, not to fall into the trap of 
cheap politics and unproductive, which can seriously undermine the major national 
interests. Romanian Organizational Leadership exceeds the transactional model to 
evolve to higher models, which seek to involve genuine moral and responsible members 
of national organizations and society in general. Both individual leadership and 
organizational leadership in Romania and the state must establish and comply with their 
approaches to leadership, smart and applied to the realities of present and future 
interests and ideals. Leadership of the Romanian state must overcome the frustrations 
that you grind past resentments or internally, to promote actions that serve the assertion 
of national dignity and fulfillment of aspirations for the future of the Romanian nation. 

The need for change comes from factors related to Legality - public order 
policies are strictly observing the rights and fundamental freedoms and the rule of law, 
professionalism - requires specialization and diversification of methods and means of 
action, a scientific policy, institutional flexibility, the implementation of a management 
proactive and, in particular, support decision-based analysis, dialogue - building a 
relationship of trust with citizens, through transparency and communication, in 
accordance with the principles of tolerance, respect and freedom of expression, 
professional integrity - accountability in spending public money and conduct all 
activities in public policy, partnership - cooperation against crime, both citizens and law 
enforcement institutions, nationally and internationally, as well as other public or 
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private organizations, to enhance interoperability and security resources to focus 
individual and public efficiency and solidarity - people receiving messages and how 
best to respond to, dine drive up promptly and effectively in pursuit of benefits made on 
behalf of community members to action and participation to states of the EU. 

Clear and deep perception of the need for change by the managers of the 
change process is essential. Perception of change is important but not sufficient and 
should therefore be supported by a mix of actual activities of the managers. On the 
other hand, the organization's staff must be helped to understand that the current 
organizational structure should be adapted to new requirements posed by a competitive 
economy that managers have to be effective tools for planning and evaluation of 
complex activities, and their decisions need a participatory foundation, using modern 
management methods and techniques. Changing nature of competition and quality 
competition in complex and volatile environment requires consideration of new 
organizational structure, the reconfiguration of skills and workforce skills and 
flexibility and adaptability in strategic management decisions. One area where the 
above is a permanent presence, the military is because of two fundamental realities: 
integration into NATO and the effective and meaningful presence in the hottest theaters 
of operations, the Romanian troops. The speed and efficiency changes in the military 
system can be considered and are the real landmarks that can be reported and other 
parts of the Romanian society, especially since our country has acquired a status of 
exception, that a member of the European Union . 

Approach to integrate the entire national security system international security 
organizations in the spirit of European principles laid down in national security strategy 
of the European Union, so at this time there is a broad and holistic approach to security, 
democracy and ensuring effective judicial supervision national security activities. 
However, the emphasis is on prevention and prediction: a proactive approach and based 
on information, but also on developing a global model for the exchange of information, 
particularly through operational cooperation and judicial cooperation in criminal 
matters for integrated border management, a commitment and training for innovation 
that defines the external dimension of internal security / cooperation with third 
countries and shows flexibility to adapt to future challenges. 

The design change involves going through the program preparation phase, 
implementation of change and reduce resistance to change. Implementing 
organizational change is the final step of the process changes the actual implementation, 
testing, analysis and evaluation of change and improvement. The key to success in 
management organization operating in a volatile environment is self-organization. 
Management should focus on systems and procedures of hierarchical control, it leads 
through formal meetings with managers empowered to decide their level of action, 
analyze results and require action by efficient resource allocation plans, budgets and 
targets achieved. The time spent by managers of strategic issues should be created 
conditions to grow and to encourage self-organization. The phenomenon of self-
organization involves cooperative processes between identical individuals from a 
particular point of view (physic-chemical, biological, organizational). This phenomenon 
is irreversible, develops over time and involves interaction with the external 
environment. To develop systems must be kept far from equilibrium. This process can 
manage the organizational change management. 

All features discussed organizations that complex systems are found in military 
organization, specifying that it includes some features which are absolutely distinct, 



 

 

88 

Revista Tinerilor Economişti (The Young Economists Journal)
namely: hierarchy, order, etc. mission. These features give it a special status, which 
does not cause to be resistant to change and reform that has undergone a most 
convincing argument is this. Change requires flexibility and vice versa, and this 
virtuous cycle creates management problems. The fundamental question for any 
management is: How can management are applied to a discontinuous change without 
abandoning the capabilities that have led to the successful organization? A good 
response is: "To learn to develop additional capabilities to work with by creating an 
organizational change." Although the legal system is in constant transformation to 
implement international legal instruments (international treaties and protocols, the 
European laws) and to integrate into an international legal system, crime in recent years 
has seen an upward trend mainly generated and economic crisis that affected most 
countries, citizens and the feeling of insecurity has grown. 

Public safety as a doctrinal concept is sense of calmness and confidence that it 
provides police service to implement measures to maintain public order and safety, the 
safety of the people, communities and property, and civil society to achieve partnership 
- the police, to community problems, defense of rights, freedoms and legal interests of 
citizens. Maintaining public order is the set of measures and activities carried out daily 
by the police to protect citizens' fundamental rights and the normal functioning of state 
institutions, civic codes of conduct, rules of social life other supreme values, and public 
property and private. Public policy is a component of national security represented by 
the state of law, peace and social balance, corresponding to a socially acceptable level 
of compliance of law and civic conduct, which allows the exercise of human rights and 
fundamental freedoms and the operation of specific structures rule of law and 
institutions are characterized by reliability, health and public morality, normality in the 
organization and conduct of political, social and economic, in compliance with legal, 
ethical, moral, religious and otherwise, generally accepted by society. Values in public 
policy support the entire daily activity and provide details as it develops. 

Thus, the selection of priorities, this research underscores the need to assess 
threats and vulnerabilities crime the public order. Proper understanding of their risk 
identification offers the promise of public policy and in particular the impact 
assessment of risks in society, although there is still an integrated system for assessing 
citizen - police - prosecution - courts - civil society, the national consolidated data, 
synthetic assessment of the challenges of public policy, rallying threats, vulnerabilities, 
risks and associated impact points. In recent years, the image of the Ministry of Interior 
has made an unfavorable trend, on a qualitative level, by decreasing by half the capital 
of the institution's positive image. Crime mainly witnessed an upward trend and the 
criminal status indicators show that in order to stem the tide of threats to public order 
(high violent crime, organized crime, economic crime high and crime-border financial 
year), comprehensive approach is needed, in an integrated system. 

It is therefore imperative to create conditions for strengthening the capacity to 
investigate and prosecute these crimes, fundraising and human resources development, 
to improve procedures for the confiscation of proceeds of these crimes, to create 
conditions for reuse of these funds to focus on strengthening the capacity to identify 
suspicious transactions and to facilitate exchange of best practices between the 
competent authorities of other Member States. Not many times, criminal activities 
carried out by organized criminal groups corrupting officials are encouraged by the 
administrative institutions and law enforcement officials in particular executive 
functions, which requires the intensification and diversification measures for the 
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prevention of acts and corruption, which is engaged representatives of state institutions. 

It should be noted, in recent years, particularly dangerous criminal groups 
present typology, which determines, in its domestic and international, real threats, the 
increasing interest of foreign criminal groups in Romania, because representing a geo-
strategic position, interference between organized crime and financing of terrorism are 
mutually reinforcing elements in achieving criminal act, criminal groups continue 
specialization, access to the latest technologies and employing people with various 
specializations required for the purposes of criminal and development grows stronger, 
in terms of financial, criminal groups, through their connection to international 
networks, cross-border organized crime and illicit gains by placing different economic 
zones, namely geography. 

We appreciate that globalization is among the most important social changes, 
economic and political world is facing today. Globalization, in addition to being widely 
discussed and treated in various forms, is an inevitable and probably irreversible. 
Objective processes of globalization do not allow us (either as individuals or as a 
nation) to decide or to choose whether we want globalization, accept or agree with the 
phenomenon. What we can do is to acknowledge that globalization is simply our fault 
and we are somehow predestined to live under its spectrum and to try and cope and 
adapt to the changes they induce. 

Have been reported in recent years, falling action and deeds of terrorism, 
including the proliferation concerns of illegal arms trafficking and even increased 
aggressiveness of the media or interested persons to enter, unlawfully in possession of 
products, strategic technologies, dual use or category of materials CBRN (Chemical - 
Biological - Radiological - Nuclear). In the context of multiplication and diversification 
revealed threats to public order, by analyzing ongoing developments in the domestic 
security environment is found to increase aggressiveness anarchist organizations, 
groups or sects pseudoreligioase globalization, attracting more followers, and increased 
frequency actions of these organizations. 

The ever present phenomenon of cybercrime is manifested in several aspects: 
increasing the number of cases and the organization of those who commit such acts in 
real criminal groups and criminal groups shift in the past, crimes committed in the field 
of traffic people, international traffic of cars and drug trafficking offenses by computer. 
The main factors which led to criminal groups shift to computer crimes are linked to 
large material gains in a relatively short time and with relatively low risks. This 
primarily affects the image of Romania, as criminal activities that target financial 
institutions or foreign citizens, further undermining confidence in financial systems and 
communications networks, Romanian citizens' confidence in using electronic payment 
instruments and those available through the Internet, there are risks that employment in 
IT&C to be given a bad reputation, with no immediate purpose or withdrawal of 
existing investments in this sector. 

A second EU external border with segments both on land and sea, Romania has 
an important role in ensuring demographic balance, economic and social systems across 
Europe. Efforts must be combined to enhance regional security in the event of serious 
cross-border threats, which can become a reality anytime in the absence of a careful and 
flexible control exercised on the eastern limits of the European Union. Migration is 
considered a multinational process that can not be managed only unilaterally or 
bilaterally. 

Implementation of the common migration and asylum, by providing 
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international protection, effective management of migration flows (admission, 
residence, removal, asylum and integration), prevention and law enforcement, illegal 
migration - Romania's goals of European identity as a state European Union 
membership on 1 January 2007 - are made by the Romanian Border Police and the 
Romanian Office for Immigration, the important role of these institutions are 
recognized including a European one. Romania's image continues to be affected by the 
crime committed by Romanian territory of other states. Although most willful 
criminality is part of the small sphere, is found and the occurrence of Romanian citizens 
as part of transnational organized crime channels, such that 90% of crime committed by 
Romanian citizens abroad are registered in the territory of eight countries (Austria Italy, 
France, Spain, Ireland, Belgium, Germany and Britain). 

Maintaining public order is the set of measures and activities carried out daily 
by the police to protect citizens' fundamental rights and the normal functioning of state 
institutions, civic codes of conduct, rules of social life other supreme values, and public 
property and private. In addition to this the desire of joining the Schengen Area and the 
guarantees should be provided for all EU citizens, namely that it borders on Romania's 
borders under a single space ensures security, freedom and justice. 

2. Analysis of structures and components of the Ministry of National Defense  
To achieve flexibility within the organization that fits turbulent environment, 

the organization should seek the optimum strategic options by implementing new 
technologies, organizational structures, decentralization, autonomy to establish working 
groups and to establish interactive relationships with its customers and clients. In this 
context, is characterized by rapid and effective change, the military organization. As a 
consequence of this, Romania has a flexible and efficient army, equipped to modern 
standards, and in pursuance thereof, able to fulfill any mission in NATO. Of special 
importance are the lessons learned in the theater of operations of the hottest areas of the 
planet, where they are or were until recently committed significant Romanian forces, 
along with the other armies of the Alliance or multinational coalitions, bring their a 
valuable contribution to peace, freedom and democracy, so we needed the world the 
chance to live. 

The process of professionalizing the army was done by design and 
implementation of a modern military career, experience and practices in line with 
NATO countries, and improving the selection, training and refresher training of military 
personnel by creating a unique concept. Profound transformations taking place in the 
world, the emergence and development of new phenomena that influence the 
geopolitical and geostrategic situation of different regions of the world and military 
power of the big players in the global scene, led to a revolution in military thinking and 
practice, a revolution that reflect new trends and economic forces, technological and 
information generated by the Third Wave. 

Romanian Army transformation is designed in conjunction with the 
transformation of the Alliance. With the transformation of forces, concepts and 
capabilities, the Romanian Army transformation strategy is medium and long term 
vision for sizing, training and equipping the Romanian Army to participate in future 
operations. This is available to military decision makers a consolidated view on the 
future configuration of the structure of forces and capabilities necessary to meet future 
missions of the Romanian army. Design concepts and capabilities will be adopted and 
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implemented the requirements and plans through the process of defense planning in line 
with NATO standards. 

Essentially, for the Romanian Army transformation is to achieve a modern 
force structures, reduced professionalized, adequately equipped, deployable, inter-
operable, with a capacity for self-maintenance and protection multidimensional, with a 
flexible management, which, based on the best information and data, to make decisions 
quickly. Which aims to transform strategic vision is a process that determines and 
enables support of strategic interests. The fundamental objective of transformation is to 
ensure the necessary capacity of the Romanian Army to promote and protect national 
interests in the current risks and threats, the evolving and future, fulfilling the security 
and defense commitments assumed by Romania in NATO and EU and to other 
international bodies. 

The determining factor is the transformation framework is changing and the 
shift from industrial to information age, changes in the characteristics of war, and 
asymmetric threats. The answer, in terms of technology, is channeled towards ensuring 
a highly available information technology. For these reasons appear significant changes 
in content security strategy, military departments, as well as those that address risk and 
threats. The implications of transformation are rooted in politics knowing that to go 
beyond the interests of states over the interests of other states and it was now the 
asymmetric threats that require reorganization and organizations for military actions. 

Asymmetric risks, diversifying and amplifying the intensity and range of 
expression, and preventing and counteracting them is a shared responsibility of all 
states. In this context, it is noted in particular increasing the role of the international 
community and international organizations specialized in dealing with crises and 
stopping, or at least "freezing" of conflict situations in different parts of the world. 
Within NATO, there is increasing capacity to intervene in crisis situations and the 
possibilities for design of force in areas of interest, while continuing the transformation 
of the mechanisms, structures and decision-making procedures. Alliance's requirement 
to meet all threats and the nature of the constitutional responsibilities incumbent, 
implies that the Romanian Army to develop capabilities that enable it to carry out 
operations on their territory, under the responsibility of NATO or in an environment 
broader strategic, always influenced by factors that require change. 

In cases where the interests of Romania's national security are threatened or 
allied states are affected, the Army must be prepared to act against threats both 
conventional and asymmetric those independently or in alliance. With the Alliance 
adopted a "comprehensive approach" aimed at the full range of missions from 
humanitarian operations to prevent crises and high-intensity war, the Romanian Army 
to respond with promptness and efficiency. War is a complex social phenomenon, a 
phenomenon limit. He holds a social essence contains confrontation. Of course, not 
every confrontation is war but any war is a confrontation, namely, a violent military 
confrontation. War is not a curse, not a catastrophe, even if sometimes lead to human 
disasters, materials, environmental and cultural unimaginable. War is a reality for all 
time. Ministry of Defense is the body of the central government manages and carries 
out the law, the country's defense activities, the overall objective of safeguarding and 
promoting the vital interests of Romania and the country's active participation in 
security zones of interest NATO and the EU. With the mandate that it holds, the 
Ministry of National Defense will continue the transformation of the Romanian Army 
to create the capabilities necessary to carry out constitutional and international 
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commitments. 

Increased efficiency in operations requiring the enhancement of institutional 
adaptability and responsiveness, coupled with improving inter-agency cooperation and 
mechanisms of democratic civilian control over the military. Given the dynamic, 
continuous and extremely complex military transformation is necessary to use most 
effectively the material, financial, human and, last but not least, political and resource 
support from civil society. Ministry of National Defense is composed of central 
structures, structures and their subordinate forces, the military force structure including 
ground forces, air forces and naval forces and other forces. 

3. Difficulties encountered in implementation of change in these institutions  
Change Management will, in respect of communication, primarily to external 

communication (for the simple reason that outsiders are the main factors influencing the 
evolution of organizations) and then the internal communications (to operationalize 
strategies to counter resistance to change and change). Simultaneously with the 
preparation for integration into NATO, ensuring continuity of internal reforms to 
address key national security objectives remains a priority. During the transition period, 
Romania has focused on the essence of reform, linked the effort to become a credible 
participant in the race to NATO. Efforts in this regard have concerned ways to act as a 
de facto ally in the southern flank of NATO and in the context of the global antiterrorist 
campaign. 

Perhaps the current economic crisis and the expected shortage of financial 
resources will lead to some restructuring and reorganization of the armed forces and a 
more efficient management of human resources. Some states will waive the 
maintenance of complex structures, integrated in all categories of armed forces in favor 
of flexible structures, niche, and others will contribute to reduce or even stop some 
operations will focus on external and internal security missions and defense. Worst 
danger is the possible decrease in morale and motivation of troops caused both financial 
shortcomings (wage income, day, system of social protection, disability insurance / life 
etc.) and the shortcomings of endowment insurance, logistics etc. 

Romania has gradually improved added value to NATO capabilities, with 
direction stability, reform and integration. All they have acted as a catalyst for 
institutional and conceptual changes in the national security. Although not an entirely 
new mission for the armed forces, defense diplomacy has expanded in the new security 
environment, including programs and increase security cooperation and confidence in 
regional and global. Although the danger of a conventional type of aggression, 
widespread, against Romania and its allies is unlikely, the possibility of such a threat in 
the long term should not be underestimated or overlooked. Without discounting war, 
conceived in the classical sense, future conflicts, specific industrial age will be 
gradually replaced by those typical computer periods. These will be predominantly 
asymmetric nature, including actions against irregular forces. 

In today's society, let community members making decisions on behalf of 
institutions. On the other hand, the current year is in crisis. Due to the specific area 
managed by the Ministry of Defense, conducted internal transformations are closely 
linked with developments in the security environment and status of our country's 
NATO and EU membership, they implicitly causing structural and conceptual 
adaptation of the military to these developments. Romanian military system we have 
identified the specific culture "Macho" (a "tough guy") - described as a culture in which 
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risk is high, immediate adjustment is required based on the quality and outcome of their 
decisions and actions. This type of culture and temperamental personalities tolerate 
racial discrimination. In contrast, there is a strong individualistic component is based on 
cooperation and there is little touched a high employee turnover. 

It also notes some similarities with the culture of tree-based hierarchy that has 
the procedures and rules in a climate of stability and control, in other words, discipline. 
In these organizations, the authority is found in the rules, and power is exercised by the 
higher grades, the specialists. Decisions are based on detailed analysis, and leaders tend 
to be conservative and cautious. Employees shall be maintained by monitoring and 
control; they are evaluated according to predetermined criteria and strict values of the 
organization to adapt to ensure their security. Dominant culture values are logical 
hierarchy, obedience, order and formality. The orders are clear, expressed in writing, 
with clear tendency to stiffen, discipline, respect for procedures, rules of procedure, and 
limited individual perspectives in order to fulfill a specialized role, promoting slow 
recovery occurred practical ways superior human resources, particularly through group 
work. 

Value system is one that serves as the foundation for skills and behaviors of 
each component of the organization. The danger may be considered as a state, a 
situation created as a result of the existence or integrity in jeopardy. The danger exists 
regardless of our will; he may be incurred in accordance with the risks they assume 
when we design and deploy an action, or directly after a previous threat. 

The result is to maintain a minimum level of functioning. As the crisis is 
widening observed the systematic destruction of certain social categories, so it can 
provide who is to arrive at the lower living standards. Whatever the normative 
principles of privileges or exclusion from the safety of neighborhood, exclusions 
enacted determine who will receive even less - with diminishing resources - and 
ultimately, who will remain on the outside or be left to die hunger. Surprisingly, 
research shows that victims accept their fate with resignation default. They accept that 
misfortune befell them and their families, was deserved, and that was part of normal 
conditions during a crisis. They understand that the elites were not in danger at any time 
and start over old relations of servitude, without suffering, even gratefully. Accepting 
the condition of the victim shows that it's not a collapse of social order, but by asserting 
them. 

International organizations are at the heart of modern international relations. 
Definition, classification and identification of their dynamics are particularly relevant to 
properly contextualize their role in the international system. Regardless of the category 
they belong to all international organizations should act in accordance with the 
principles and fundamental rules of international law. Amid Romania's status as a 
member of NATO and EU external factors affecting the structural changes of the 
Ministry of National Defense are: 

a) Statute of Romania's membership of NATO and the EU determined to 
define, promote and protect the security interests of Romania in the European context 
and ally, by harmonizing national efforts with international commitments and taking a 
proactive role in organizations of which Romania is part. NATO is the only collective 
defense in Europe and Euro-Atlantic area and the only guarantee of military security of 
Romania. 

b) The process of adapting to new types of defense mechanisms of risks and 
threats that by their very nature, requires a dynamic approach to preventing and 
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counteracting them at home, where everybody, in particular terrorist acts and weapons 
of destruction mass. 

c) The security environment in neighborhood areas of our country, which 
imposes the need to assume an active role in promoting stability and security in the 
region. The location of Romania into a major strategic area, both in terms of security 
needs and resources, gives our country an important role in Euro-Atlantic security 
equation. 

d) internal political and economic stability are essential for projects necessary 
to strengthen Romania's strategic profile internationally, through participation in 
collective defense effort within NATO and EU military dimension to the construction 
and the full range of missions to meet cooperation and partnership commitments 
undertaken internationally. 

Regulatory control coordination is supported by public institutions. There is a 
risk because of poor management of financial resources, as budgets have suffered. 
Public organizations are in direct competition with private companies and there are 
such differences in tax systems in developing countries. What is specific to the 
international organizations that have an interstate character, are created on a voluntary 
basis, are permanent bodies, have independent will have their skills and pursuing 
cooperation among States to promote common interests. Also, the institution's external 
environment generates a number of risks to the ministry's capacity to fulfill its mandate, 
the main risks identified are stagnating economic growth / recession, with negative 
implications on strengthening Romania's strategic profile, lack of correlation between 
the level of ambition and the resources available (failure of the defense budget at least 
2% of GDP) and reduce the attractiveness for the military profession. 

 Staff motivation and level of satisfaction with work is an important indicator 
for evaluating the quality of human resources management and even strategic 
management structure. Since 1990, the Ministry of Defense structures were made more 
acute a series of issues related to staff motivation structure, which may affect more or 
less directly, the efficiency of the organization or procedures of recruitment, selection, 
hiring, training, rewards, communication or leadership institution. Basically, the 
relatively numerous exits from the system of teaching very young and strong growth 
potential, or the difficulty of attracting skilled staff to the central structures of territorial 
units and special abilities etc. One of the reasons is the lack of housing service, which 
could exacerbate the medium and long term aging trend of teams from the central and 
lower their quality (at least because of pressure innovative young officers helps 
accelerate change) etc. 

 To strengthen Romania's role in NATO and the EU and developing an 
appropriate strategic profile in these organizations, as contributor to regional and global 
security, the Ministry of National Defense reform the military continues to develop a 
credible defense capability, modern and efficient. It is also important mechanisms of 
strengthening civil and democratic control over the army, in accordance with 
constitutional principles and democratic values. 

New security challenges stemming from globalization processes such as 
duplication and fragmentation, traditional forms of vulnerabilities are added risks and 
threats. Romania safeguarding the context ally is an ongoing and complex extended to a 
wide range of fields, relationships and interdependencies, to promote the interests and 
security objectives of the state, society and citizens, it is defined and promoted in 
conjunction with policies NATO and EU specific. 
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 It is extremely beneficial in terms of national security studies globalization and 

integration, because it offers the possibility to structure a response strategy, which, 
starting from the causes of generalized crisis, reduce uncertainty states. Since there is a 
global and regional determination of national security, while the dynamic opening to 
the outside of the States and to increase collaboration and international cooperation in 
the field, multiple efforts directed towards the international community require peace, 
security and stability and world regions. 
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Abstract: The business environment is more competitive than ever and it 
is characterized by risk, uncertainty, speed and volatility. The concept of 
risk in business is inextricably linked to the concept of profitability and 
flexibility. The result of the company (profit or loss) is influenced by 
unexpected events that accompany its activity. 

JEL classification: M0, M1,M10 

Key words: risk, risk environment, risk in business, risk management, types of risk. 

1. Introduction  
Risk in business equals the variability of the result, thus affecting the 

profitability of assets and consequently the return on the invested capital.  This 
variability can be better mastered, as the company possesses a higher degree of 
flexibility. The risks of the economic activity mainly result from the company’s 
inability to continually adjust its cost (by reducing it) and to adapt to the economic 
environment. Risk in business can be approached either in terms of the internal activity 
of the company or in terms of the external environment in which it evolves. Risk is a 
measure of the adverse effect of a situation. It refers to the establishment and 
communication of the potential dangers associated with a particular process in relation 
to the guarantees and benefits it offers.27 

The business environment has experienced a rapid and revolutionary change 
with consequences that reach organizations worldwide. In the last half century due to 
increased trade and investment flows we speak more and more about globalization. 
When the market economy becomes more and more complex and globalized, the 
reliability of the accounting and financial information acquires critical importance in 
the correct perception and domination of the economic flows by companies, 
shareholders, directors, employees and creditors. 

Management responses to global competition have included quality 
improvement and initiatives of risk management, reorganization of structures and 
processes, as well as greater accountability. But all these need more time, reliability and 
relevant information for the decision-making process. 
                                                      
27 Regester Michael, Larkin Judy – Managementul crizelor şi al situaţiilor de risc (Crises and 
risk situations management), Ed. Comunicare.ro, Bucureşti, 2003, p. 28-29 
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In today’s world, managers must carry out a series of activities when they are 

faced with making decisions related to the operating environment: 
• analysis of the environment in which the entity operates; 
• risk identification; 
• their quantitative and qualitative assessment; 
• their monitoring; 
• achievement and implementation of a risk response plan; 
• identification of risky situations; 
• implementation and development of an environment which focuses first on risk 

knowledge, knowledge which will be able to remove the dangers to which the 
activities carried out are subject, contributing thus to their smooth running.  

2. Objectives  

The concept of risk management 
Risk management does not only prevent risks, but also makes an entity function 

effectively as a result of a structured and organized approach. Risk management refers 
to the transposition of a business issue in all possible scenarios. It is about a cautious 
attitude and about the belief in the materialization possibility of a risk. Starting from 
this attitude, a constructive decision is taken to eliminate or reduce the damage that may 
arise as a consequence of the respective risk.28 

The concept of risk management is relatively new being discussed in the 
business environment in the late ‘90s29.  But there no risk management without 
addressing the concept of risk; the word risk coming from the Italian word “riscare” 
which means “to dare.”  

It is very important for the proper functioning of an entity to implement a 
system to identify, assess and manage risks although, in general, the costs are quite 
high. 

Thus, risk management becomes a process of identifying, analyzing and 
responding to the potential risks of an organization, of an information system or of a 
project. For example, when attention is on information security, one talks about security 
risk management.  

When the field of analysis is the development of the software products, it is 
about software risk management. In Romania, the companies that allocate resources to 
the field of risk management are those from the banking and IT fields, but also the 
authorities of the Government. Unfortunately, organizations from other areas of 
activity, such as construction companies or NGOs, do not consider a necessity the 
allocation of resources to the field of risk management. 

A good risk manager is beyond numbers, techniques and technology.  
Risk management involves building a genuine culture of risk warning for the 

entire organization, learning the methods for implementing the risk elimination 
techniques, without a governing of these rules, creating at the same time, a rational 

                                                      
28 http://www.startups.ro/analize/ce-este-si-cum-te-ajuta-managementul-riscului 
29Opran C., Paraipan L., Stan S. – Managementul riscului, suport de curs (Risk management, 
course notes), SNSPA, Faculty of Communication and Public Relations ″David Oglvy″, 2004, p. 
10-13; 
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decision-making process.30 

  Types of risks in business within a company 
  For a complex managerial project the following risk categories can be 

considered31: 
Technical risk – appropriate to the operating probabilities of the components 

of the technical and technological system; 
Commercial economic risk, generated by the emergence of new requirements, 

of circumstantial events,  of unfavourable exchange rates evolutions, dependence on 
one supplier, consequences of new regulations, new concepts, internal and international 
agreements; 

Social risk,  generated by the emergence of some inaccuracies of the staff in a 
narrow sense or at the labour force market in a broad sense (strikes, unemployment, 
confrontations of different interests); 

Financial risk – expression of the financial capacity to support the respective 
project; 

Cultural risk – changes in the company culture and in the impact it generates 
in the economic system ( the damage of some economic relationships because of 
different mentalities, traditions); 

Country risk – which offers a measure of the national economic environment 
climate and which can highly influence the foreign institutions; 

To these we can add other types of risk: 
Informational risk (impossibility to keep pace with the new trends of the 

market); 
Contractual risk refers to the non-fulfilment by the partner of the obligations 

assumed by contract.  
This risk can occur either when the one of the contracts is no longer of interest 

to the partner (fulfilment risk) or when the partner is no longer able to meet the 
contractual obligations (insolvency risk).32 

The adoption of a system and/or strategies – policies of quality is based, 
therefore, both for the dimensioning the resources of the necessary funds, and for the 
protection against risk (by methods of prevention, surveillance, damage coverage, 
performance of feasibility studies, technical, constructive and technological options and 
alternatives, change of the supply sources, professional and managerial training, etc).  

3. Analyses 

Risk management strategies  
Risk management is a process that requires a lot of effort but which is an 

essential component in the success of the organization, contributing to the development 
of the added value. 

                                                      
30 www.rei.ase.ro/riskman/risc.html  
31 Isaic – Maniu A., Ene S., Tudose G.-G. – Evaluarea, fezabilitatea, planul de afaceri  şi 
riscurile activităţii economice (Assessment, feasibility business plan and risks of the economic 
activities), Ed. Independenţa Economică, Piteşti, 2004, p. 157 
32 http://www.manager.ro/articole/cum-sa-pornesti-afaceri/tipuri-de-riscuri-in-afaceri-din-cadrul-
unei-firme-252.html 
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 Every manager must think about the risk management issue, because, 

otherwise, the activity they perform will suffer.             
Risk management involves: 
Risk identification, an activity which aims to detect and record all risks; 
Risk assessment represents the identification and analysis of the internal and 

external factors which influence positively or negatively the entity’s objectives. This 
activity being essential to the entity’s management must be consistently carried out.   

Risk control involves initiating controls and risk response activities; 
Analysis and reporting of risks aims to: identify the dangers from the audited 

entity; preventing, eliminating or minimizing them; assessment of the internal control 
activity of the audited entity; as well as management reporting. 

 
Source: Made by the authors after the source: Modern Risk Management Strategies for the 
Romanian State Treasury 

Figure no. 1  The risk management process 
The overall goal of risk management is to help understand the risks which an 

organization has to face so that they can be managed. Depending on the moment when 
the risks are analyzed, there are pre-event purposes (before the risk materializes), when 
the avoidance of the risk is pursued, and post-event purposes (when the risk has already 
materialized), when the insurance of the business continuity, the company’s survival is 
pursued.  

The main advantage of a risk management program is the economic cost-
effectiveness: managers are aware of the risks which the organization has to face and 
they manage them accordingly, so they do not materialize. Risk management is an 
obligation of a company’s entire team. This should be complemented by the existence 
of a risk management department or at least of a person to work in this direction.  

In some cases there may be a certain level of risk accepted, in accordance with 
the specifications of a standard. It is a common situation in the financial-banking sector 
or in the big companies which use the services of an external audit. The compliance 
adds value to the image for the customers, business partners, etc.  
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According to Dinu Bumbacea, the leader of PricewaterhouseCoopers 

Consulting Department Romania33, the financial crisis has led to a more careful 
assessment of the management practices of the risks adopted by companies. 

Given that many people have blamed the current crisis on the inadequate risk 
management standards, the executives from all economic sectors want to improve their 
risk management capacity to succeed in the new business environment which is 
extremely competitive and dynamic.  

Managers’ attitude towards risk may be different. Theory says that a manager 
can have one of these three attitudes towards risk: risk taking, risk rejection or 
indifference towards risk.  

When risk is managed and one wants to obtain a response according to the 
three attitudes, the business people’s reactions can be the following: 

Avoiding risk: managers or entrepreneurs consider that the exposure to risk is 
too high and then they decide to replace the factor that could cause the risk. This may 
mean avoiding an action, changing a supplier, the reconfiguration of a process, etc. 
However, you must take into account that not all risks can be avoided or eliminated. 
Most times, avoiding all risks would require changing the purpose of the project, the 
complete reconfiguration of the activities or of the calendar planning, changing the 
budget or the decisions related to other acquisitions. 

Mitigation or reduction of the effects: involves the reduction of the risk 
exposure by decreasing the probability of its occurrence. For example, using a 
technology that has shown many times before that is trustworthy. 

Risk acceptance: represents accepting the consequences and a response method 
especially when the risks are unknown to the project team or when the benefits obtained 
in case of non-materialization of the risk would be immense. 

Transfer of risk: involves contracting an insurance policy or outsourcing a 
service. Typically, this practice attracts other risks arising from the outsourcing activity 
or resulted from the insurance contracts. 

In response to this reality, the best companies no longer look at risk 
management as a simple matter of compliance, but as an integral part of the decision-
making process. 

The importance of risk management is illustrated by organizations that were 
devastated by the lack of effective risk management. Recent examples of collapse of 
some major companies, such as Parmalat, Arthur Andersen, Enron, WorldCom, or the 
industrial accidents such as the spillage of cyanide from Aurul Baia Mare or the nuclear 
accident at Chernobyl have become famous. Each of these catastrophes was caused by a 
chain of events that could have been prevented by proper risk management 

3.1 Critical Risk identification methods 
Risk identification (for this “list of potential risks” can be done, internal and 

external, established in meetings dedicated to risk analysis based on information 
already known and on risks suspected as possible). External risks may originate in 
various legislative changes or at the macroeconomic level, or they may occur as a result 
of promoting new technologies. 

                                                      
33 http://www.pwc.com/ro/en/Press_Room/assets/InternalAuditSurveyRo.pdf 
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To identify the potential risks, it is very useful, and even practiced, the formula 

of participation of companies’ representatives to thematic scientific conferences or to a 
series of professional meetings.  

The most commonly met method of risk identification is the checklist, since it 
is based on a standard which considers that a process must behave in a certain 
way. Thus, the risk manager verifies to what extent reality corresponds to what the 
standard says (whatever it may be) as being within normal limits. But this is not 
enough, because usually, standards are either general, not being able to capture all 
aspects of a particular organization, or individual, targeted to a specific area. 

In the risk identification stages the documentation available in the organization 
must also be aligned, the company’s historical data and the case studies (personal 
experience or of other organizations), the consultation of internal and external experts, 
the conducting of inspections in various units of the organization (those considered as 
being exposed to risk), brainstorming techniques or the interview with employees. 
During these sessions the employees’ experience is very useful since they can identify 
the risks that the managers did not notice. 

The best framework to implement any of these tools is the value-vulnerability-
risk analysis. More precisely, the property, the values of the organization is 
emphasized. For every good an analysis of the vulnerabilities is carried out, where the 
vulnerability involves the absence of a control measure, of protecting the value. Then, 
the sources of risk internal or external to the organization are identified. 

4. Conclusions  
As a result of the economic climate in which we are, the entities’ managers face 

a multitude of situations and risks. Risk management does not only prevent risks but 
also makes an entity function effectively as a result of a structured and organized 
approach. 

Risk management is a current topic quite discussed in the last two years 
worldwide, due to the changes occurred both in economic and in social terms. 

In terms of economic crisis, understanding and awareness of the risks, as well 
as of the way they are managed, contributes to a better management of the entities’ 
activities and allows identifying some optimal strategies which aim the survival, the 
overcoming of the current difficulties that the entities have to face and even the increase 
of the financial performance. 
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KAIZEN COSTING METHOD AND ITS ROLE IN THE MANAGEMENT OF AN ENTITY34 

Ph. D. Letiția Maria Rof 
University of Alba Iulia 
Faculty of Sciences, Alba Iulia, Romania  

Abstract: Currently, the economic environment in our country but also 
worldwide, is totally unpredictable and aggressive in terms of competition. 
Crisis conditions are increasingly difficult for an entity manager to 
implement a successful strategy or to adopt a techniques or method of 
calculation able to provide cost type information enhancing effectiveness. 
Despite this economic and financial turbulent environment of the 
Romanian economy, there are concerns for the initiation and 
implementation of management methods and techniques, likely to lead to 
the foundation of an operating system for tracking costs.  The objective of 
this study is to present a valid and reasoned opinion on the adoption and 
implementation of a new strategy and costing method, called Kaizen 
Costing, that puts in the spotlight, not the product as a result of an activity, 
but the entire manufacturing process of a product. 

JEL classification: M40, M41. 

Key words: kaisen, cost, quality, management strategy, method of calculation. 

1. Introduction  
The purpose of my article is to let the managers know about a costing method, 

which applied even in the current crisis, will not only lead to an avoidance of 
bankruptcy, but may lead to even make a profit by improving competitiveness and 
financial efficiency. 
Quality means to continuously meet the customers’ demands, total quality means to 
continuously meet the customers’ demands in terms of minimum cost, and total quality 
management ensures to continuously meet the customers’ demands in terms of 
minimum cost, involving all employees. 

2. Objectives  
The main objective of this research is to identify a solution to permanent 

increase of production quality while reducing cost and time of selling. To achieve this 
goal, we conducted a theoretical fundamental research, through which I tried to 
transpose several features of Japanese management plan for a new costing method.  

 

                                                      
34 Acknowledgements: Financial support for this article has been provided through the project 
Bursele doctorale, premiza pentru cresterea competitivitatii si competentelor in cercetarea 
stiintifica, ID POSDRU/88/1.5/63269 implemented under the Sectoral Operational Program 
forHuman Resources Development and financed by the European Social Fund and Government 
of Romania. 



 

 

    105

Management – Marketing - Tourism 
3. Methodology  

  With no intention to exhaust the limits of thissubject matter, I made appeal in 
my scientific approach to a rigorous study of the literature and analyzed various points 
of view raised by specialists in this field. I made appeal to research methods such as 
documentation, analysis, synthesis. Assumptions, methodology approach and the results 
are my own contributions.  

4. Analyses 
Maintenance and improvement are two inseparable concepts in Japanese 

management. Improvement is assessed by two terms: kaizen and innovation.  
Kaizen is a Japanese management concept launched by Masaaki Imai, which 

proved to be the key to Japanese competitive success. The significance of this concept 
is: KAI = Change and ZEN = for better, and the translation is "continuous 
improvement", that means small improvements to the ongoing efforts. Unlike the 
Western conception, implying total change, at large intervals of time, using large 
amounts of resources and a high cost level, Kaizen Costing seeks daily, gradual, slow, 
but continuous improvements, which take place at minimal cost.  

Kaizen Costing message strategy is that a single day should not pass without an 
improvement to intervene in the activity of each employee or each entity. The Japanese 
have shown that by applying this strategy, improvement is achieved with minimal 
expenditure. Specific characteristics that ensure successful approach of Kaizen 
activities are the following: 

• disregards all ideas implemented so far in the organization of production; 
• rejects the whole existent situation; 
• it does not look for perfection, seeking a 40-50% improvement of the existent 

situation, but at an acceptable cost; 
• allows any manager to use their knowledge and personal skills; 
• the ideas produced by many people are better than the ideas of a single person; 
• the improvements have no limits. 

Cost is one of the basic synthetic indicators that characterize the effectiveness 
of an entity’s activity. The importance of production cost is related to “the functions it 
fulfills in the context of economic-financial mechanism, schematically presenting itself 
as follows: ensures the resumption of production, measures the means of production 
and labour, allows the calculation of some efficiency indicators and the real knowledge 
of activity quality, sizes the profitability of economic entities, etc.”35 

Kaizen Costing Management is focused on improving each process of a 
technological product sheet, the main goal being eliminating losses and minimizing 
costs. Process improvement ensures production efficiency, kaizen type activities 
ensuring maximization of product value corresponding to the requirements of the 
beneficiary, a qualitative differentiation of this.  There are eliminated all those functions 
of the product which the customer has no interest in and which bring a cost increase 
without a correspondent in value.  

„The KAIZEN principles presumes a practical approach and low costs of 
improvement. The Kaizen management system is based on the continuous loss reduction 
by means of methods that do not rely on investments, but on the improvement of the 
                                                      
35 Briciu Sorin, Socol Adela, Mahammad Hadi Jaradat, Teiuşan Ciprian Sorin, Management 
through cost, Risoprint Publishing House, Cluj-Napoca, 2003, p.214. 
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processes and the employees’performance. According to the Kaizen principles, we must 
be sure that, when we take an action, our action will go on in the best possible way and 
is not merely an intermediate action to generate a temporary result”36 

Innovation is achieved by sudden changes and generates radical improvements, 
compared to the initial situation, which is due to significant investments in technology, 
performance and equipment. Figure no. 1 shows the distinction between innovation, 
kaizen and maintenance:  

 

 
Source: Imai 1997 

Figure no. 1 
Therefore, “Imai (1997) describes that the improvement can be divided into 

Kaizen and  innovation. Kaizen signifies small improvements as a result of ongoing 
efforts. Innovation involves a drastic improvement as a result of large investment of 
resources in new technology or equipment. The author also explains that in the context 
of Kaisen, management has two major functions: maintenance and improuvement. 
Maintenance refers to activities directed towards maintaining current technologies, 
managerial and operating standards, and upholding such standards through training and 
discipline. Under its maintenance function, management performs its assigned tasks so 
that everybody can follow standard operating procedure.”37 

Thomas M. Fischer and Jochen A. Schmitz K in "Control Measures for Kaizen 
Costing-Formulation and Practical Use of the Half-Life Model" considered that “Kaizen 
costing focuses on continuous reductions of costs, which should be realized for existing 
products in a company. For planning and control purposes, comprehensive and 
efficient tools for measuring performance are required”38. 
                                                      
36 Mihail Aurel Titu, Constantin Oprean, Daniel Grecu, Applying the Kaizen Method and the 5S 
Technique in the Activity of Post-Sale Services in the Knowledge-Based Organization, 
Proceedings of the International MultiConference of Engineers and Computer Scientists 2010, 
Vol III,  IMCS, Hong Kong, 2010. 
37 Jagdeep Singh, Harwinder Singh, Kaizen Philosophy:A Review of Literature, The Icfai 
University Journal of Operations Management, Vol. VIII, No. 2, 2009, p. 55 
38 Thomas M. Fischer and K Jochen A. Schmitz, “Control Measures for Kaizen Costing -
Formulation and Practical Use of the Half-Life Model”, Katholische Universität Eichstätt-
Ingolstadt, 1998,  p.1 
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 Critical  

In implementing Kaizen Costing strategy, managers rely on other techniques, 
methods and tools such as: quality circles, suggestions system, kanban, total productive 
maintenance, action plans, etc. The success of this strategy is subject to a number of 
changes in the entity's culture and value system on which it is based.  

Suggesting small steps strategy, Kaizen Costing is a concept of "umbrella" 
which treats the basic methods and concepts applied in quality management in Japan 
and whose value is recognized worldwide (Figure no. 2).The superiority of the concept 
stems from the fact that, by applying small steps strategy, the necessary resources are 
insignificant, while the strategies based on innovations involve huge investments, 
although the results are relatively the same. In addition, Kaizen brings in the forefront 
the employees of the entity, who are motivated to participate consciously and 
responsibly to achieve the objectives of the entity. In this process the most important 
dimension is the organizational one, the ability to communicate. Successful 
implementation of this approach is given by the technical and managerial knowledge, 
put together, and by the across application of some management tools (ABC, 
benchmarking). 

 
 

Source: http://afr.kaizen.com; Imai (1986) 

Figure no. 2. 
The implementation of Kaizen Costing management system in economic 

organizations in our country would bring immediate gains by eliminating waste and 
losses, increasing labour productivity by 20-30%, reducing operating costs by 15-20%, 
reducing used areas, reducing the equipment needs and increasing the use of the 
remaining, increasing staff motivation. Kaisen Costing focuses the entity interest and 
attention on those places where you can reduce costs, this means on operating the 
production process and its development in the most efficient way. Unlike Target (used 
by design staff before the product is in production), Costing Kaizen Costing is used by 
production staff during product manufacture. Both follow the same target, but they 
differ in the method of settling the target: on perspective, Target Costing is based on 
customer considerations, while Kaizen Costing is based on profitability targets imposed 
by manager. 



 

 

108 

Revista Tinerilor Economişti (The Young Economists Journal)
As a method of cost calculation and resizing, Kaizen Costing represents the 

expression of returning to the source, through the causes of performance and the roots 
of productivity, what is possible in a cross-viewing, and performing a process analysis 
under the ABC Method. “Cost reduction approach results by comparing the target-cost 
to the estimated one, and is fulfilled in terms of value, through an iterative process of 
continuous improvement.”39 

Thus, Kaizen Costing is not interested in the product but in manufacturing 
process, which is more than just a cost method, but a global management tool.  
Obviously, there are factors that hinder implementation and obtaining good results in 
Romanian entities. Among them the most influential one is the mentality, or 
psychological profile of Romanians, which do not encourage the achievement 
requirements of such management, but there is great criticism concerning the stress 
staff has to deal with.  

5. Conclusions  
In conclusion Kaisen Costing is the ideal management system to reduce costs. 

Through the application of this management style in managerial accounting, entities 
with limited resources could significantly mitigate the negative impact of current 
economic and financial crisis. As Masaaki Imai shows, “Restructuring or reinventing 
your company can be destructive, expensive and often inoperable. Applying Kaizen in 
gemba (job, where the action occurs), significant improvement is achieved with low 
costs in core business processes - production and services - and can be obtained, as 
never before, major leaps in customer satisfaction, in quality, productivity and 
profitability.” 

For those who want to learn and apply this management system, I mention the 
following advantages: implementation costs are reduced, as Kaizen makes better use of 
existing resources and does not require large investments in improving technology, staff 
training costs are lower than for other methods, in Romania there are consulting firms 
in the field, entities that have implemented Kaizen have achieved remarkable results in 
labor productivity, in cost reduction and competitiveness increase. 
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PUBLIC POLICIES-FROM THE DILEMMA OF RESOURCES ALLOCATION TO THE ETHICAL 

DECISION MAKING 

Assoc. Prof.   Dorina Ţicu40  Ph. D 
Alexandru Ioan Cuza University, Iaşi 
Faculty of Philosophy and Social-Polictical Sciences 
Iaşi, România 

Abstract: Public politicies are institutionalized activities, which develop in 
the public space and which have to aim at a resource allocation (in a 
material sense or not) to the members of a community. Public politics aim 
at the common good of a society or a community, implying the insurance 
of the best government. Article aims to assess the relationship between 
public policy and ethics from a theoretical perspective based on three 
guidelines: public policy-as actions to secure the general welfare (in terms 
of ethical and political theories), as actions that tend towards an ideal 
hierarchy of interests (in terms of utilitarianism, contractualism and 
ironism) and as actions seeking a fair allocation of resources (in terms of 
public choice theory). Such analysis becomes a challenge as long as, in 
practice, ethical principles can not be replaced  or chosen at random. 

JEL classification: H10, H11, H40, H41 

Key words: public policy,  etics, ironism, hierarchy of interests, allocation of 
resources 

1. Introduction: from public policy at the universe of discourse 
Public policies are part of the triad known in the literature as politics, political, 

public policy, being the most applied part of policy and of politics.  
The public policies are defined by Peters as the „sum of the governmental 

activities accomplished directly or indirectly, by means of certain agents, in the light of 
the influence those activities have on the citizens” (Profiroiu, 2006). 

Dye succinctly affirms that the public policies represent „what the governments 
decide to do or not to do” (Bondar, 2006). 

Leslie Pal defines a public policy „as that course of action or lack of action 
chosen by the public authorities in response to a certain problem or to a set of 
interconnected problems” (Mungiu-Pippidi, Ioniţă, 2002). 

Lasswell and Kaplan talked about „a designed program of certain purposes, 
values and practices” (Profiroiu, 2006). „A public policy is, in Adrian Miroiu’s opinion, 
a network of interconnected decisions concerning the choice of objectives, means and 
resources allotted in order to reach them in specific situations” (Miroiu, 2001). Jean-
Claude Thoenig thought that the „public policies define better and offer a broader 

                                                      
 40 This work was supported by the the European Social Fund in Romania, under the 
responsibility of the Managing Authority for the Sectoral Operational Programme for Human 
Resources Development 2007-2013 [grant POSDRU/CPP 107/DMI 1.5/S/78342]. 
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vision on politics in general” (Baba, Gorun, 2002), represents an „orderly vision on the 
institutions”–according to Hague, Harrop, Breslin (Baba, Gorun, 2002). 

Public politics are institutionalized activities, which develop in the public space 
and which have to aim at a resource allocation (in a material sense or not) to the 
members of a community. Public politics aim at the common good of a society or a 
community, implying the insurance of the best government.  

Hence there is an ethic analytical-comprehensive and structural-functional 
dimension of public politics. It is about the ethical codes, moral principles which public 
politics have to respect in order to insure the good of the community and implicitly, the 
best form of government. We step into the realm of an applied politics related to the 
problems of economical and social ethics and in a way, of the politic ethics, because all 
these problems have essential tangencies with public and legislative politics of a state.  

2. Objectives: FROM ETICS TO PUBLIC POLICY 
When we use the term of political ethics we must have in view three conceptual 

dimensions: “the ethics of public politics, public function (of the politician’s public 
role) and the ethics of international ethics”. All these dimensions are connected 
conditioning each other.41 

There is a series of questions with problematized role when it is about the ethics 
of public politics. Since in any democratic state, public politics are meant to serve 
certain social or collective interests, to ensure the public good, how can we realize this? 
Which is the public priority interest? Which is the ideal hierarchy of the interests that 
public politics must satisfy? If we establish a hierarchy (if it can be established), how 
can we allocate the resources in order to satisfy all needs? 

Starting from these questions, ethics becomes a necessary instrument through 
which a goal is achieved: good government. “The government ethics offer the premises 
of a good politics elaboration in the public sector. In this respect, it is more important 
than any other politics, because all politics depend on it” (Kathrn, 1989). 

3. Analyses 

3.1 Public politics ensure the public good 
The dimension of public politics which concerns the insurance of public good 

is the result of an ethical-political measure. The placing of politics under the auspice of 
ethical theories even since its birth as a discipline can provide a certain type of 
explanation. 

Aristotle is the one who places politics in the sphere of moral in works as 
“Politics” or “Nicomachean Ethics”. Aristotle begins his investigation on what the good 
is with an observation related first to a possible hierarchy of the intended goals. In 
every field of human activity there is an ultimate goal related to which other goals 
which we want to achieve represent means. In the field of medicine, performing a 
surgery, prescribing a medication, are means to achieve an ultimate goal which is life 
saving. The things are the same with the military strategy which Aristotle gives as 
example. The goal is to win battles. In order to achieve this goal we pursue some 
intermediary or relative goals. Which would be the ultimate goal in connection to which 
                                                      
41Adrian Paul-Iliescu, Etica politică, http://www.studiieuropene.ro/id_anul2/anul1/1-2-
2_iliescu_eticapolitica.pdf, accessed at 27.10.2010. 
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we pursue the others? This goal is the good.  

The science which deals with the discovery and knowledge of this good is the 
politics. The goal which Aristotle initially imposes to this discipline aims at the role 
which it should play in the society.  

The politics is that science to which the others (rhetoric, law) are 
subordinated. Like Plato, Aristotle considers that it is really important to search for the 
good at the level of the walled city, that is the good for everybody, because this will be 
the good for each one. A state must be sufficient for itself and accomplish the goal for 
which it exists: welfare. This is identified with “eudemonia” (happiness), which is also 
the individual’s goal. „The fundamental principle of democratic constitution is liberty 
[…] The first form of liberty is to lead and to be lead successively […] Another form is 
everybody’ s right to live as he likes” (Aristotel, 2001). 

Plato–as representative of ethical-political paradigm–maintains the same 
theorem of man’s natural sociability. Man must be studied both at individual level and 
especially at broader level of his public, political and social level. The author asserts – 
through the voice of his character, Socrates – that the birth of a walled city occurs 
because “each of us is not autonomous, but he lacks many things” (Platon, 1966). From 
this point of view, the state-public system arises in order to cover and to realize “the 
lack of self-sufficiency and work division” (Carpinschi, 1995) which become 
fundamental for any walled city.  

The politician or the decider has to aim at realizing the justice (dike), legal 
order (eunomia) and peace (eirene). The perfect walled city can be realized if the 
politics will follow the principle of justice and if it would be administered by a leader-
wise (king-philosopher), guided by the idea of Good. So the justice becomes a common 
property of both the individual and the state and for the walled city it means the 
principle of oikeiopragia, that is everybody has to do what he knows to do, the things 
for which he was born for.   

Hence we can conclude that public politics, as applied part of politics and 
applied activity of the institutionalized-etatic system, aims at the general good of 
society and must be understood as teleological actions, with a public and ethic 
dimension.  

 
3.2. Public politics – from ethics to an ideal hierarchy of interests 

From moral point of view, public politics have to ensure the common good 
for different social, political, economical, cultural groups within a society. The 
resources or the capital allocation of different groups is a game of null sum which 
generates winners and excluded. The dilemma of correct resources allocation and of 
right choice among values and concurrent principles which may appear when it is about 
public decision arises from the point of view of an applied ethics within the practice of 
public politics. To establish the moral acceptability of the same act, to do competing or 
even contradictory evaluations for the same decisional act suppose the analyse and 
selection of different relevant consequences, of people or affected or implied groups.  

From the point of view of classical utilitarians (J. Bentham, J. St. Mill), the 
taking of the decision is based on principles of hedonist structure. The public decisions 
will affect the members of the community in the following way: „they will produce 
them certain pleasures or, on the contrary, they will produce them displeasures, 
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pains.”42 If we ad all the pleasures produced by an action and all the displeasures (in 
general, an action has consequences of both ways), and then we subtract from the sum 
of pleasures the sum of pains, we will obtain what is called „the utility of that action” 
(Mill, 1994). A correct moral decision is that which produces the greatest utility 
confronted by the possible alternatives. 

The decision in the public space is not based only on utility. The ethics of 
virtue or thinking style of feminist ethics (the ethics of care) may be other criteria taken 
into account in the decisional process. The deductive ethical theories gain a secondary 
role; instead the role of flair or of discernment is major. It is about an ethics of social 
consensus considered in analogy with the customary right or it is a „customary ethics” 
(Jonsen, Toulmin, 1988). For this reason we compare the new case with the example 
case using probable judgements of analogy.  

There are not explicit rules for such analogical reasoning, but only the flair or 
the moral discernment of deciders, that is what Aristotle named phronesis (“practical 
wisdom”) (Mureşan, 2001). It is what in public politics is called taking a decision 
depending on an „incremental reasoning” (Lindblom, 1959), which supposes the using 
of analogy or similar public politics. An implemented public decision received the 
social consensus and gains at least practical credibility. Incrementalism offers a 
valuable continuity at the level of public politics and a certain type “of limited 
reasoning” which supposes the choice of the decisions depending on the goals already 
accomplished and tested in practice, which received the title of good practice due to the 
already accumulated experience.  

Another ethics applicable to the public politics and decision is that of virtue 
or a neo Aristotelian ethics (A.MacIntyre, R.Rorty). It is about a moral philosophy of 
the decision which is centred on human, not on action or rule. The interest falls upon 
the importance of reasons of moral action. The criterion for the public decision 
becomes „the moral sensitivity” (Rorty, 2006) of the actor implied in the process of 
public politics, a kind of empathy, of care for the other. In order to judge the moral 
deeds one does not need the great ethical theories, „a framework for the identification 
of the moral problems and for the reflection upon them” is sufficient. This framework 
supposes the existence of „four bunches of moral norms” (Beauchamp, Childress, 
2001), constituted of: principles, rules (characteristic principles), rights, virtues and 
moral ideals. The methodological frame is based upon principles taken from bioethics 
as: the principle of charity (“norms which create general benefits and their weighing in 
comparison with the costs and risks”) (Mureşan, 2001), the principle of autonomy 
respect (the respect of autonomous people’s capacities and liberty to take decisions), the 
principle of no harming (the avoidance of harming), the principle of justice (a group of 
norms for the distribution of benefits, risks, costs in a fair way).  

From another ethic perspective, the public decision in the public politics may 
subject to some criteria which strictly belong to the individuals’ rights. The rights must 
not be violated whatever the consequences of the realized action might be. On this 
dimension of rights, public politics developed their own decisional logic which aims at 
the respecting of rights of all those implied in the cycle of public politics who come up 
with a developed legislation.  

                                                      
42Bentham apud. Adrian Miroiu, Speranţe ale eticii aplicate, 
http://adrianmiroiu.files.wordpress.com/2008/03/02introd-etica-aplicata.pdf, accessed at 
27.10.2010. 
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On the philosophical-political part we can mention the directions impressed 

to public policies by classical contractualist theories: from Hobbes, Locke (classical 
ideological liberalism) to the modern supporters of institutionalism based on the 
theories of the constitutional law (Kelsen). On the other part, public policies should 
observe the rights both negative and positive of the individuals: the right to live, the 
right to own a property, the right to freedom or the right of free speaking, the right of 
free enterprise, and freedom of association, etc. 

 
3.3. Public politics – towards the ethics of resources grant  

The resources grant within public politics is rather a problem of the modern 
politics and might be generally stated as the difficulty of the preferences aggregation. 
This theory proved by K. Arrow shows that it is impossible in a democratic society for 
the deciders to observe the conditions of the decision rational-comprehensive theory. 
Arrow shows that the choices that certain members of a democratic society – 
considered as rational – make, cannot be aggregated so that a collective decision should 
be taken, the one that should be the best for all. This limit might be operationalised and 
analysed as Arrow’s theory of impossibility starting from a strictly theoretical situation.  

We suppose that three persons, A, B, C belong to a commission that should 
decide over a public policy. But the persons A, B, C have different points of view 
related to the best applicable policy.  If there is a hierarchy of solutions as follows: A: a 
> b > c, B: b > c > a, C: c > a > b, we can first notice that the individual preferences of 
the group members are all transitive. If an aggregation of the three preferences is tried 
in order to obtain a social preference (of the deciders group) by comparing the 
alternatives two by two then, if one is preferred to the other one by two members of the 
commission, that would be the chosen alternative.  If it is supposed that within the 
commission the choices are made according to the majority, we have the following 
relationships: a > b (as both A and C prefer a instead of b). The group’s preference will 
be the following: a > b > c > a. the social preference is not transitive, because although 
a > b and b > c, it does not appear, as it is expected according to the transitivity 
characteristic a > c, but c > a. The relationship of social preference is periodical. “The 
social preference does not allow a choice to be made in a simple or simplistic way”.43 

4. Conclusions  
Choosing a good public policy can lead to ethical or moral dilemmas when it 

is conditioned by multiple, competing or desirable (incommensurable) values as 
freedom, equality, justice, equity, efficiency. The limits of preferences aggregation do 
not show that we are not able to make rational assessments, adequate ranking but they 
are difficult to attain.  

There is no algorithm (meaning a finite, objective, universally valid 
technique) to compare according to more criteria, needs, interests, priorities, products, 
decisions or policies.  It is up to the politician’s assessment, more or less subjective 
related to the priorities, to the main public interest, to the most pressing needs. The 
ethical vein should not disappear even if sometimes the decider must chose between an 
additional point of justice and freedom, between equity and justice, between truth and 
justice, etc. The lack of ethics or its elusion in the area of public policies can be a 

                                                      
43Adrian Miroiu, Introducere în analiza politicilor publice, Bucureşti, 2001, 
http://www.spidd.ro/carti/analiza%20politicilorpublice.pdf, accessed at 27.10.2010. 
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practice but it denial is not possible. 

Starting from the paradox of Arrow’s theory, an analysis based on Rorty's 
ironist theory could provide a possible approach for the implementation of ethics in the 
politics public area, not over a contingency ethics beyond the great classical theories. 
The focus on contingency “implies the fact that all that matters in order to be a decent 
human being is relatively close to the historical circumstances, it is a matter of 
ephemeral unity related to the question of which attitudes are normal and which 
practices are just or unjust” (Rorty, 1998). When traditional models fall down in a field 
or when the ethical vein is questioned, “we would like to find something that should 
stay beyond history and institutions” (Rorty, 1998). A so-called solution could be also 
found at the level of the ethics of a concern, by a certain type of sensitivity towards the 
others ion the public area where we live. “We have the moral obligation to feel a 
sensation of solidarity with all the other human beings” (Mureşan, 2008). 
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A STUDY ON CONTROL AFFINE SYSTEMS WITH DEGENERATE COST44 
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Craiova, Romania 

Abstract: In this paper we study a drift less control affine system with 
degenerate cost of Kropina type. We use the Pontryagin Maximum 
Principle in order to find the general solution.  

 JEL classification: C02, C6 

Key words: drift less control affine system, degenerate  cost, Pontryagin maximum 
principle. 

1. Introduction  
The solution of a drift less control affine system (see [1]) is provided by 

Pontryagin's Maximum Principle: that is, the curve c(t)=(x(t),u(t)) is an optimal 
trajectory if there exists a lifting of x(t) to the dual space  (x(t),p(t)) satisfying 
Hamilton’s equations.  

In this paper we study a drift less control affine system (see also [5], [6]) with 
degenerate cost of Kropina type, such that the rank of distribution is not constant. The 
distribution is strong bracket generating (i.e. the vector fields of distribution together 
with the first iterated Lie brackets span the entire tangent bundle) and from Chow’s 
theorem the system is controllable, that is the system can be brought from any state a to 
any other state b.  

We find the explicit solution of the problem, using the Hamilton equations on 
dual space and a convenient change of variables. In the particular case of quadratic cost, 
the optimal trajectories of our system are the geodesics of the so called Grushin plane 
(see [2], [4]) 

2. Control affine systems 
Let us consider a drift less control affine system (called also distributional 

system) in the space 
nR  on the form 

)1())(()()(
1

.

∑
=

=
m

i
i

i txXtutX  

with iX , mi ,...,1=  vector fields in nR  and the controls ),...,,( 21 muuuu = take 

                                                      
44 Acknowledgments.This work was supported by the strategic grant 

POSDRU/89/1.5/S/61968, Project ID61968 (2009), co-financed by the European Social Fund 
within the Sectorial Operational Program Human Resources Development 2007-2013. 
 



 

 

118 

Revista Tinerilor Economişti (The Young Economists Journal)

values in an open subset nR⊂Ω . The vector fields iX  generate a  nonholonomic 

(nonintegrable) distribution nRD ⊂ such that the rank of D is not necessarily constant.  
Let 0x and 1x  be two points of nR . An optimal control problem consists of 

finding those trajectories of the distributional system which connect 0x and 1x , while 
minimizing the cost  

∫Iu
dttutxF ))(),((min

(.)
,                           (2) 

where F is a positive homogeneous cost on D . 
The controlled paths are obtained by integrating the system (1). If D is assumed 

to be strong bracket generating (i.e. the vector fields of D and first iterated Lie brackets 
span the entire nR ), by a well-known theorem of Chow the system (1) is controllable, 
that is for any two points 0x  and 1x  there exists an optimal curve which connects these 
points.  

We consider the Lagrangian function of the form 2

2
1 FL = and it results that is 

2-homogeneous positive function. Necessary conditions for a trajectory to be an 
extreme are given by Pontryagin Maximum Principle. The Hamiltonian reads as  

),(,),,(
.

uxLXpupxH −>=< ,            (3)       
where p is the momentum variable on the dual space. The maximixation conditions 
with respect to the control variables u, namely 

)),(),((max))(),(),(( vtptxHtutptxH
v

=  

leads to the equations 

                      0),,(
=

∂
∂

u
upxH

,                               (4) 

and the extreme trajectories satisfy the Hamilton’s equations  

              .,
..

x
Hp

p
Hx

∂
∂

−=
∂
∂

=                          (5)   

3. Application  
Let us consider in the two dimensional space 2R  the drift less control affine system 

(Grushin plane) 

         2
2

1
1

.
)( XuXutX +=                                 (6) 

with  
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and minimizing the cost  
              ∫Iu

dttuF ))((min
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,                                        (7) 

 

where 12221 )()( uuuF ++= , is the positive homogeneous cost (Kropina metric). 
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I have to remark that in the case ,01 ≤u  02 =u  it result 0=F  that is we 
obtain a degenerate cost (metric) 

The distribution D is generated by the vectors 21 , XX  and we can write 
D={ 21, XX }. We observe that  

⎩
⎨
⎧

=
≠

=
01
02

xif
xif

rankD  

In the canonical base of 2R  we have ,1 x
X

∂
∂

=  
y

xX
∂
∂

=2  and the Lie brackets are 

given by  

[ ] DX
y

XX ∉=
∂
∂

= 321 , . 

It results that the distribution is nonholonomic, but is bracket generating, because the 
vector fields { ],[,, 21321 XXXXX = } generate the entire space 2R . 

From (6) we obtain  

⎪
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The cost function can be written in the form ( 0≠x ) 
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(Einstein’s summation, 2,1, =ji ) where ,11 =b  ,02 =b  and 
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The Lagrangian has the form 2

2
1 FL =  and using [4] we obtain the Hamiltonian in the 

form  
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where  ⎟⎟
⎠
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g ij ,   is the inverse of the matrix ijg . 

In these conditions we obtain that 
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or, in the equivalent form  
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2
2
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The Hamilton’s equations (5) lead to the following differential equations 
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In these conditions the expresion of the Hamiltonian  leads to the following change of 
variables: 

,)(sin)()(
a

tAtrtx θ
=  )(cos)()(1 tAtrtp θ=       (12) 

We obtain 
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But on the other hand  
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The equation (13) multiplied by θAcos , minus equation (14) multiplied by θAsin  
lead to the equation  
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Moreover, the equation (13) multiplied by θAsin , plus equation (14) multiplied by 
θAcos  lead to the equation  
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Using the equations (15) and (16) we obtain  
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which leads to the following result 
,coslnlnln 1 θAcr =+  ,1

+∈ Rc  
and we get  
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Using the change of variables (12) the Hamiltonian become 
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and from (17) we get 
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Considering the integral curves parametrized by arclength, that coresponds to fix the 
level 1/2 of the Hamiltonian, we have 1±=c /2 and it follows  

                              .cos2 θAr ±=                                            (18)        
which together with (12) lead to the equation  
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a

Ax θ2sin±
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The differential equation (10) yields by direct computation  

                                    
a

A
dt
dy θ2sin2

=                                   (20) 

and from (15) and (20) it follows  

θθ dA
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Ady )2(sin2 2
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which yields 
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a
A

a
Ay θθ

−= ,                            (21) 

4. Conclusions  
We have obtained the solution of a distributional system with degenerate cost 

using the Hamilton’s equations on dual space and a convenient change of variables. The 
novelty is to consider the degenerate cost of Kropina type as a deformation of the 
quadratic cost.  
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Abstract: Albania has opportunities to attract foreign direct investments in 
several sectors of economies: agriculture, manufacture economy, tourism 
etc. Albania has a great potential, but the domestic capital is very low and 
it is not enable to utilize these opportunities. The aim of our paper is to 
point out some of the obstacles and the opportunities that Albania offers to 
the foreign investors. We have tried to show the position that Albania has 
in term of foreign direct investments and the ease of doing business in 
relation to the other countries in the region.  

JEL classification: F14, F21  

Key words: foreign investment, privatization, doing business, barriers, opportunities. 

1. Introduction  
The foreign direct investments provide a lot of benefits to a country. They 

increase employment, increase the productive capacities of a country, give access to the 
new technologies and better work practice, help in the integration into the EU 
economies etc. The crucial role of foreign direct investments on the economy, induced 
us to examine the evolution and the role of foreign direct investments in Albania. The 
paper is devided in seven sections. After having explained dhe methodology and data 
set, the second section describes the foreign direct investment since the starting of the 
transition period, explaining their falling or their growth during these years. Next, we 
have attempted to point out some of the opportunities that Albania offer to the foreign 
investors and some of the obstacles that the foreign investors have to face in Albania. 
The business climate in Albania is discussed in the section five, based on the indicators 
of “Doing business” reports of the World Bank. An analysis of foreign direct 
investments and business climate in Albania in comparison to the region’s country is 
performed in the section six. The last section covers the paper’s conclusions. 

2. Methodology and data set 
The data used in this paper derives from many sources. The data regarding the 

foreign direct investments in Albania have been collected from reports of local 
institutions (Instat, Bank of Albania etc). The data regarding the indicators of doing 
business in Albania and the region have been taken from the Word Bank reports of the 
last years. 

The foreign direct investments in Albania are compared to the foreign direct 
investments in the region’s country, by computing the foreign direct investments per 
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capita. 

The region includes the following countries: Bosnia & Herzegovina, Croatia, 
FYR Macedonia, Kosovo, Montenegro and Serbia. 

3. Evolution of foreign direct investments in Albania 
The foreign direct investments in Albania have been first appeared in 1993. The 

first foreign companies investing in Albania were Italian companies, because they have 
more access to supervise the Albanian market and they have the possibilities to explore 
the areas more likely for investments. Even though very slowly, there are observed 
modest growth rates until 1997. The events of 1997 were ruinous for the fragile market 
economy of Albania. The demolition of pyramid’s schemes and the politic instability 
set back the new foreign investors and removed the most part of the existing investors 
from Albania.  The most part of them have got very difficult to restart again their 
business in Albania; therefore they didn’t come back any more.  The image-building of 
Albania as an insecure country, the recession of the economy, the lack of attractive 
incentives and the postponement of the privatization procedures negatively affected the 
foreign direct investments in Albania. In 1997 the foreign direct investments were 
reduced by 47 percent in comparison to the previous year. During the following two 
years, the amount of foreign direct investments has been constant, until 2000. It is 
explained by the relation of foreign direct investments with politic stability of a 
country. During 1999, some Italian investors have shown interest on the purchase and 
concession of the mine industry, owned by the state; but these enterprises were not 
finalized. Only after 2000, the foreign direct investments have been significantly grown 
up, especially in production activities on purpose of exports.  

In 2001, the foreign direct investment amounted in USD 207 mlln, as result of 
privatization process (in particular the privatization of the mobile phone operator AMC) 
and Albkrom consession contracted by Italian company “DARFO”.  

The delays in the privatization process of Telechom, the Saving bank and 
INSIG resulted in the decrease of FDI in 2002 (USD 135 mlln).   

According to the statistics, in 2003 the foreign direct investments have been 
increased more than 16 percent in comparison to the previous year.  

Due to the privatization of the Saving Bank in 2004,  the amount of foreign 
direct investments was about USD 341 mlln: more than one third of that amount 
belongs to the privatization of the Saving Bank. The most large foreign direct 
investments performed in 2004 are: airport partners together with Hochtief (USD 80,9 
mlln), Edil Centro (USD 10 mlln), Kurum Group Company (USD 2,5 mlln) etc.  

As result of lack of privatization, in 2005 and 2006 we observe a reduction of 
foreign direct investments. But in the following years the foreign direct investments 
have been rapidely grown up.  

In 2007, foreign direct investment in Albania amounted to more than USD 622 
mlln. They have been increased by more than 90 percent in comparison to 2006. 

In 2008  the foreign direct investments peaked to respectively USD 988 mlln as 
result of privatization of “ARMO”, 75 percent of the shares of OSSH, and 61 percent of 
the shares of INSIG (the only state-owned insurance company), etc. 

The foreign direct investments in 2009 are 3.8 times higher than in 2005. There 
are some reason explaining this increase: a sustainable growth of the economy 
(excluding the impact of the global crises, in the two last years), the membership in 
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NATO, which means more security for investments and less instability, low tax rates 
and the labor force still being cheap.  
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Source:Bank of Albania statistics  

Figure no. 1 FDI in Albania (in million USD)  
 
Actually there are more than 1000 foreign investors operating in Albania. 

Regarding the participation of foreign investment capital, the companies which have 
invested in Albania are of totally foreign capital or partially foreign capital (joint 
venture). In more than 85 percent of the joint ventures, the foreign investors have more 
than 50 percent of the shares. 

The sectors which have attracted the most the foreign investors in respect to the 
number of the enterprises, are commerce sector and manufacture industry; recently the 
construction industry and energy. Regarding the labor force distribution, the 
manufacture industry and banking industry have the largest number of employers. 

More then 80 percent of the foreign direct investments have been located in the 
areas with highest income and infrastructure, i.e. Tirana (the capital city) and Durres. 

The BE countries are the principal foreign investors in Albania. Among them 
Italy and Greece hold the first places, due to geographic position and because the major 
part of the exports are destined to these countries. 

4. Barriers and opportunities to foreign direct investments in Albania 
In spite of the increasing of foreign direct investments, they are still very low in 

comparison to the countries in the region. During the transition period, the foreign 
investors have faced several barriers, some of which we have explained below.   

During the communism period, Albanian economy was the closest economy 
among all the Central and Eastern countries in Europe - therefore the people have 
inherited a negative business climate; 

The perceived politic and economic risk of Albania has been high. Especially 
as result of the events of 1997, Albania has been classified as a country with a high 
level of the political risk. The political risk is the risk of loss when investing in a given 
country, caused by changing of country’s political structure or policies. 

The poor infrastructure in transport, electricity, watersupply system and 
telecommunications at least until a couple of years before has been a serious barrier; 
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The corruption in Albania is one of the obstacles that foreign investors face too 

(as the Prime Minister Berisha pointed out “Corruption was almost an industry”). The 
corruption index is still high, but there is a decrease of it, as well. The Corruption 
Perception Index 201045 for Albania is 3.3, ranking Albania in the 87th place, leaving 
behind B&H and Kosovo, from the region. The same index for 2009 was 3.2, ranking at 
the 95th place. It can easily observed that there is a progress of 8 levels. We have to 
consider that even though this index is high, it’s in the same range (3.1-4) with the 
some of the countries of the region as Serbia and Montenegro. So, the government has a 
lot to do about the corruption in the future. It is one of the conditions that Albania has to 
meet, as one of the condition for integration into the EU; 

The weak regulatory system as result of the lack of certain laws (including 
weak anti-money laundry laws or poor anti-tax evasion laws) and the bad 
implementation of the procedure and the corruption of the juridical system have 
stopped foreign investors from investing in Albania. 

The capital market remains underdeveloped. It consists of the formal market 
(Tirana Stock Exchange), dealers licensed to trade securities and informal market of 
joint-stock companies shares transactions. There are encouraging steps taken by the 
government to put in place the legal and regulatory framework, in order to build a 
functioning stock exchange. This makes convergence with EU easier and provides 
financial and banking opportunities through a foreign investment framework to operate 
(Market Access 2008) 

But, however during the last years the increase of foreign direct investments 
has been one of the priorities of the government. The Albanian government has induced 
an affirmative attitude towards foreign investment; its strategy to strengthen the 
business environment was incorporated by the removal of administrative barriers to 
investment.  

The law of foreign direct investments in Albania ensures a favorable 
investment climate in Albania. There is no restriction regarding foreign investments 
entry, and the foreign investors are treated equally as the domestic investors. Foreign 
investors are entitled only to lease land (not to purchase) in state-owned areas but there 
is no restriction on acquisition or leasing of private owned land; 

Foreign investors are equally treated with domestic investors for taxation and 
legal purpose; 

Albania has an attractive geographic position, situated on the eastern Adriatic 
coast. It has the possibilities to develop mountain tourism, coast tourism and cultural 
tourism as well. 

Almost one-third of the country's population works outside the country. The 
remittances they provide help alleviate poverty and drive a boom in housing 
construction as well as infrastructure (Euromonitor International, 2009).  

The privatization process is going on. Recently (on February 2011) Albanian 
government has decided to privatize all the rest part of the state-owned objects 
encouring the foreign direct investments. 

“Albania one euro” initiative is lunched from Albanian government in 2006. It 
                                                      
45 The Corruption Perceptions Index (CPI) measures the perceived level of public-sector 
corruption in 187 countries and territories around the world. The CPI is a "survey of surveys", 
based on 13 different expert and business surveys.  
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is aimed to attract the foreign investors by offering them the entry in Albania for one 
Euro, the land for one Euro and technological assistance for one Euro. 

5. As assesment of business climate in Albania 
This section examines the business climate in Albania based on the “Doing 

Business” World Bank’s reports from 2007 to 2011. Doing business presents quantity 
indicators on business regulation and protection of investor rights. For example, the 
report of 2011 provides rankings of 183 economies in respect to the easy of doing 
business in nine categories with a rank “1” being the best. The higher the ranking, the 
worse is the economy respecting the terms of easy of doing business. As shown in the 
Table no.1, we observe that the ranking of Albania during the last five years has been 
really improved by 38 ranks. In general, with exception of  the indicators “Dealing with 
construction permits” and “Paying taxes”, the other indicators have been improved, as 
result of the recent macroeconomic reforms undertaken by the government.  

Table no. 1 “Doing business” indicators for Albania 
Indicators Rank according to the world bank report of 

2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 
Easy of doing 

business 
120 136 86 82 82 

Starting business  121 123 67 46 45 
Dealing with con. 

permits 
161 168 170 173 170 

Registering 
property 

76 82 62 70 72 

Getting credit 48 48 12 15 15 
Protecting investors 162 165 14 15 15 
Paying taxes 125 118 143 138 149 
Trading across 

borders 
101 70 77 66 75 

Enforcing contracts 99 74 89 91 89 
Closing business 89 168 181 183 183 

Source:”Doing Business” World Bank reports  
 
More specifically, we easily observe that:  
“Starting business” indicator is improved by 63 percent. Therefore Albania is 

ranked from 121st in 2007 to 45th in 2011.  This is result of electronic business 
registration, reduction of necessary initial capital and canceling of the requirement for 
business registration in the Chamber of Commerce. 

“Dealing with construction permits” indicator is slightly made worse, which 
means that according to this indicator, Albania is ranked from 161st in 2007 up to 170th 
in 2011. In Albania, a business needs 331 days to have a permit and it have to pay a 
price about four times more the average income per capita. 

“Registering property” indicator has not been change too much. In 2011 
Albania is ranked the 72nd according to this item. The “property” issue in Albania is 
very delicate. Transferring of the property from one owner to another requires a number 
of six procedures and about 45 days. The cost of document transferring is about 4.2 
percent of the property’s value. The most part of the properties are registered in a 
“Temporary register” opened in 1994, but the documents issued based on it are no more 
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valid. In 2004 a “Permanent register” is created, but the propertiy transferring is 
manually executed and only according to the requirement of the concerned person. 

“Getting credit” indicator is improved by 69 percent. The rank of Albania is 
improved from 48th in 2007 to 15th in 2011. The Albania was one of the economies who 
have reformed the most. It created a new public credit registry with full information on 
loans of all sizes, for individuals and for firms. 

“Protecting Investors’ indicator has been fallen down by more than 90 percent, 
improving the rank of Albania from 167th in 2007 to 15th in 2011. This indicator has 
been improved the most. It is due to the reforms performed in 2008 regarding the 
increased disclosure requirements, regulated approval of related party transactions and a 
new company law. 

“Paying taxes” indicator has been slightly improved from 149th to 138th. 
Albania made it easier and less costly for companies to pay taxes by amending several 
laws, reducing social security contributions and introducing electronic filing and 
payment. But despite the reforms undertaken by the Albanian government, it still is 
ranked the last in the region. 

“Trading across borders” indicator rank has fallen down from 101 in 2007 to 75 
in 2011. The undergoing reform in Albania has in focus simplification and 
harmonization of procedures including documentations, introduction of risk based 
management system for inspections and automation of trade clearance procedures. 

“Enforcing contracts” indicator has fallen down from 99 in 2007 to 89 in 2011. 
Juridical system in Albania faces serious problems. The number of procedures needed 
to enforce a contract is 39, while the time necessary to complete the procedures is 390 
days. The cost required to complete the procedures is about 39 percent of the claim 
value. The procedures would be facilitated, for example through the establishment of 
the Administration Court. But due to the recent political disputes in Albanian 
parliament, the approval of the law on Administratiuon Court has been postponed. 

“Closing business” indicator ranks Albania the last out of 183 economies. The 
new law on bankruptcy has been approved in 2008, but there is no practice taken in 
consideration in the world report’s bank. 

6. FDI and Business Climate in Albania versus region’s countries 
The countries in the region have been less effective in attracting foreign direct 

investments, than the other countries of Eastern Europe because of political instability 
the small sized markets, informal economies, poor infrastructures, underdeveloped 
financial systems etc. 

The foreign direct investments in the region amounted to USD 8,052 mlln: 
about 36 percent of that amount belong to the foreign direct investment in Croatia, 24 
percent belongs to Serbia and 17 percent belongs to Montenegro. But if we calculate the 
foreign direct investmet per capita (as Figure no.2 shows), Montenegro holds the firs 
place in the region with USD 2144 per capita, followed by Croatia with USD 656 per 
capita. 

Montenegro was the only country in the region, continuing to enjoy a boom in 
investments, thanks to its liberal taxation, policy and promotion of public-private 
partnerships especially in tourism. 

Croatia holds the second place in the region regarding the foreign direct 
investments per capita. The privatization of strategic state-owned assets has been a 
major source of foreign direct investments in Croatia. Also Croatia has a significant 
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comparative advantage in tourism sector.  
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Figure no. 2 FDI in USD per capita in the region  
 

Albania is ranked the third with USD 310 per capita. 
Regarding the business climate in the region’s countries, the Table no. 2 shows 

the ranks of each country in the region.  FYR Macedonia holds the first place, ranked at 
36th, followed by Montenegro ranked at 66th and Albania ranked at 82nd.  

Table no. 2 “Doing business” indicators in the region 
 

Indicators 
Doing Business 

World Report 2011 
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Easy of doing business 82 110 84 119 38 66 89 
Starting business  45 160 56 163 5 51 83 
Dealing with con. permits 170 139 132 173 136 161 176 
Registering property 72 103 110 65 69 116 100 
Getting credit 15 65 65 32 46 32 15 

Protecting investors 15 93 132 173 20 28 74 
Paying taxes 149 127 42 41 33 139 138 
Trading across borders 75 71 98 130 66 34 74 
Enforcing contracts 89 124 47 155 65 135 94 
Closing business 183 73 89 31 116 47 86 

Source:”Doing Business in 2011” World Bank report 
„Starting business” - Business registration reforms in FYR Macedonia made it 

one of the easiest places to start a business today. In 2006 the business registration is 
changed from e juridical one to an administrative one. The publication requirement in 
an official newspaper was replaced with the automatic  registration in website register. 



 

 

130 

Revista Tinerilor Economişti (The Young Economists Journal)
The number of new companies is increased. Therefore, the necessary time to start a 
business in Macedonia is three days, while in Albania it is 5 days. Both these countries 
are included in the ten countries with the fastest procedures. But in 2010 Croatia and 
Montenegro are improved the most. Kosovo made more difficult by replacing the tax 
number previously required with a fiscal number which take longer to issue and 
requires the tax administration to first inspect the business permits. 

„Dealing with construction permits” - Croatia has improved the most in dealing 
with construction permits, approving a new building code. It replaced the location 
permit and project design confirmation with a single certificate simplifying and 
speeding up the construction permitting process. Although the Eastern Europe was the 
region with the most reforms regarding the construction permits in the last years, all the 
countries in the region are still ranked at the end, regarding the required procedures, 
time and the minimum capital as well. The dealing with construction permits is more 
difficult in Serbia, which rank is 176.  Kosovo and FYR Macedonia hold the first places 
regarding to the „Dealing with construction permits” indicator. 

„Registering property” - FYR Macedonia cut the time to register property by 40 
days: as result twice as many properties were sold in 2009 as in 2007, despite the 
financial crises. 

„Getting credit” - Good practices supporting access to credit have been 
followed by Serbia (allowing out of court enforcement), Bosnia & Herzegovina and 
Montenegro (maintaining an unified register), and Albania (distributing data on loans 
below 1 percent of income per capita). These countries have improved their secured 
transactions system during last years. Serbia’s volume transactions increased by 4346 in 
2005, to 24,059 in 2009, while Albanian’s rose from 4105 in 2005 to 9860 in 2007. 

„Protecting investors” - Albania has adopted new legislation. It is ranked 
among the first countries regarding the extent of director liability index. (It is nine from 
the maximum of ten.) Most economies that strengthened investor protection did so as 
part of wider corporate governance programs, as Albania and FYR Macedonia. A 
Deutsche Bank Study of the Standard and Poor’s 500 shows that the companies with 
strong and improved corporate governance system exceeds those with poor ones by 19 
percent within a time period of two years. Regarding the extent of disclosure index, 
Croatia is one the of the countries with the lowest index (The Croatia’s disclosure index 
is one from a range 0-10). 

„Paying taxes” - The most part of the region has simplified tax payment during 
the last years: FYR Macedonia in 2008, Albania and Montenegro in 2009. FYR 
Macedonia has the lowest tax rate in the region 10,6 percent. It has reduced the 
corporate profit tax for undistributed profits from ten to zero percent. It has simplified 
tax compliance process. It is ranked the fifth in the lowest tax rate list of the world. 
Bosnia & Herzegovina and Montenegro have merged the taxes other than profit tax. 
FYR Macedonia and Montenegro have simplified the tax compliance process, while 
Albania has established the electronic tax system. 

„Trading across borders” - Among the countries which have improved the most 
in trading across borders, Montenegro is ranked the forth. But it holds the first place 
among the region’s countries. It has reduced the number of the required trade 
documents. Montenegro’s custom administration simplified trade by eliminating the 
requirement to present a terminal handing receipt for exporting and importing of goods. 

„Enforcing contracts” - Kosovo is ranked the last regarding the reforms made 
in the judiciary system. It is one of the countries which require most procedures (The 
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number of required procedures is 53). 

„Closing business” - Serbia is ranked the second among the countries which 
have improved the most regarding the closing business. Serbia has passed a new law on 
bankruptcy, which among others, has reduced the length of insolvency procedures and 
it has introduced unified reorganization procedures. Also, in 2008 Albania has passed a 
new law on bankruptcy, but it has no impact yet. 

7. Conclusions 
In this paper, we have tried to answer to these questions:  
- Why foreign investors have invested in Albania?  
- Why foreign investors still hesitate investing in Albania?  
Regarding the first questions, there are many factors which have attract foreign 

direct investments to Albania, as geographic location, low labor cost, privatization 
process, natural sources, qualified labor force, the engagement of the government to 
improve the climate business in Albania (lowering the taxes, treating foreign investors 
equally to the domestic ones etc). 

Regarding to the second question there are many barriers to foreign direct 
investments in Albania too: high level of corruption, weak juridical system, informal 
economy, undeveloped financial system, poor infrastructure, instability in the region 
etc. 

However, comparing to the other countries in the region, Albania is doing well. 
But the Albanian government still do not have a well defined strategy to attract foreign 
direct investments in long-run, although the foreign direct investments have been 
announced as one of the priorities of the actual government („One Euro” initiative). 
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Abstract: The contribution of aggregate demand to employment creation 
is a fact universally accepted in the specialty literature, there being the idea 
that between aggregate demand and employment there is a direct and 
bivalent relationship. In our study we aim to highlight the influence of 
aggregate demand and its components (final consumption, investments and 
net export) on employment in Romania, in the period between 1990 and 
2009. The results of this research show that, in Romania, in the last two 
decades, between agregate demand and employment, as well as between 
final consumption and employment we can identify a negative relationship, 
fact that comes in conflict with the economic theory. Moreover, the results of 
our study show that in order to increase employment in Romania we need to 
act so as to increase investments and to adapt the domestic supply to the 
requirements of the domestic and international market. 

JEL classification: E21, E22, E24, J23  

Key words: aggregate demand, final consumption, investments, net export, domestic 
supply,  employment. 

1. Introduction  
Employment – is the main content, foundation of existence and operation of the 

labour market, it is its tough core. In relation to labour demand, employment is a 
dependent variable, derived from the status, structure and functionality of the other 
markets (goods and service market, capital market etc.), that are in interaction. 

According to the economic theory (especially the Keynes’s theory) the level, 
structure and evolution of employment or non-employment in a country are driven by the 
level, structure, and evolution of aggregate demand (made up of consumption, investment 
and net export), that in its turn is influenced by the quantitative and qualitative 
dimensions of employment [4]. As a rule, there is a direct and bivalent relationship 
between employment and aggregate demand. Also, the reduction of domestic supply of 
goods and services by replacing domestic production with supply provided by imports 
has as result the reduction of employment. J. M. Keynes, in “The General Theory of 
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Employment, Interest and Money” (1936), shows that a key contributor to employment 
growth is the growth of domestic demand [4]. UNCTAD specialists in „The Trade and 
Development Report 2010-Employment, globalization and development” [9] highlight 
that generally, in developed countries employment cycles are very closely associated with 
output growth cycles: employment growth is typically associated with growth of 
aggregate demand and output. Moreover, it is shown that in developing countries, the 
direct relationship between employment and aggregate demand is less pronounced than in 
developed countries. 

Statistical data [11]  show that some countries such as Germany, USA and the 
emerging countries in Asia managed to get out of the current crisis and to reduce 
unemployment by obtaining an economic growth based on the growth of domestic demand. 

Currently there is the opinion [9] according to which in order to create 
employment and combat poverty a sustained expansion of domestic demand growth 
through increasing mass purchasing power and through spurring fixed investments and 
technological innovation is needed. 

2. Objectives and methodology 
In order to highlight the implications of aggregate demand on employment in 

the Romanian economy, in the last two decades, we aim to analyse, in the first part of 
the paper, the evolution of the elements that make up aggregate demand (final 
consumption, investments and net export) and their relationship with employment,  and 
in the second part we aim to emphasise the simultaneous influence of the components 
of aggregate demand on the employed population by means of a multi-factor 
econometric model. 

In order to reach our objectives the methodology used was, preponderantly, the 
statistical one (descriptive methods), this being used in order to process, analyse and 
interpret statistical data regarding final consumption, investments, net export, civil 
employment, gross domestic product (GDP). 

The analysis has been carried out for a period of 20 years (1990-2009), based on 
the statistical information from the Romanian Statistical Yearbook, The Annual NBR 
(National Bank of Romania) Report etc. Due to the fact that during the mentioned period, 
considerable increases in the prices of commodities and production factors took place, so 
as to emphasise the real evolution of the analysed macroeconomic variables we will 
eliminate the influence of prices on aggregate demand and supply, expressing them in 
comparable prices (1990). 

In order to study the intensity, meaning and shape of the relationship between the 
components of aggregate demand and between these and employment, for Romania 
between 1990 and 2009, we applied the Pearson correlation coefficient. In statistics, the 
value of the correlation coefficient varies between +1 and -1. The coefficient result is 
situated between -1 and +1. If the result belongs to the interval [-1;0), then it shows a 
negative relation between the two analysed indicators. If the result belongs to the 
interval (0;+1] there is a direct relationship between the two indicators. The closer the 
result is to -1, respectively to +1, the higher the connection intensity is. 

In order to highlight the simultaneous influence of the components of aggregate 
demand on employment, in Romania, we used the linear regression analysis. Having 
the statistical data on the elements of aggregate demand as starting point, we will create 
a multi-factor, unisectoral econometric model with synchronous influences made up of 
a single equation, designed for the stimulation of the civil employed population 
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evolution in Romania, between 1990 and 2009: Y= α +β1 X1 +β2 X2 +β3 X3  +ε , 
 where Y- employment, expressed by the civil employed population (dependent variable); 
X1-final consumption (public and private) in the t year (independent variable); X2- real 
investments in the t year; X3- net export (export-import) in the t year; ε – random 
variable (residuum); α , β1 , β2 ,β3- multiple regression coefficients. 

In order to identify the independent variables (final consumption, real 
investments and net export) that best explain the variance of the dependent variable (of 
the civil employed population) we applied the Backward procedure, according to which 
we start with all variables considered in the model and at every step the weakest predictor 
(dependent variable) is eliminated – defined by the least important independent variable, 
meaning the variable that produces the smallest reduction of the Fisher’ F statistics [2]. 

3. Analyses 
The level and dynamics of employment, reflected through the civil employed 

population, were profoundly marked by the changes that Romania went through in the 
last two decades (the period between 1990 and 2009). As it can be noticed from the 
analysis of the data in figure no.1 the visible decline of the employed population started 
in 1992, once with the more decisive actions of restructuring the Romanian economy. 
However, until 1995, the civil employed population was maintained at a value above 10 
million people. Starting with 1995, the reduction of the employed population under 10 
million people can be noticed, year that records the highest decrease as compared to the 
previous year (of 1347 thousand employed people). After 1995, the employed 
population continued to decrease until 2000, so between 1995 and 1999 another 
decrease of 1073 people was recorded. In 2000, although the employed population 
increased as compared to the previous year by 2.5%, this continues the descendent trend 
as compared to 1990. 

 
Source: Romanian Statistical Yearbook, NIS, www.insse.ro  

Figure no.1 The evolution of the civil employed population, in Romania, 1990-2009 
(thousands persons) 

In the period of economic growth 2001-2004, the employed population recorded 
another reduction of 390.4 thousand employed people. Even if, in the last years of 
economic growth (2005-2008), 508.7 thousand new jobs were created, the economic 
recession in 2009 caused a reduction of 491 thousand jobs. During the 20 years, the 
annual average rhythm of evolution of the civil employed population, calculated based on 
the data in figure no.1, between 1990 and 2009, was negative (-1.39%), and the civil 
employed population recorded a decrease from 10840 to 8256 thousand persons (of 2584 
thousand persons). 
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The explanation for the reduction in the level of employed population must be 

looked for in many directions. As part of human resources, the employed population 
does nothing else than to follow the trend of the total population and working age 
population. However, demographic factors cannot explain, entirely, the decline of the 
employed population. Knowing the fact that the employed population represents the 
statistical indicator that expresses the labour demand, it means that the level, dynamics, 
structure and quality of the employed population in Romania reflect the relationships 
that are formed between a series of economic variables, such as: rhythm of economic 
growth and development, work productivity, the cost of labour force, demand of goods 
and services (domestic and external demand), level of investments, etc.   

In this study we intend to show if in Romania, between 1990 and 2009, the 
changes that took place in the level and dynamics of employment were significantly 
influenced by the domestic demand and external demand, and if the hypothesis 
according to which the domestic demand and external demand positively influence 
employment is confirmed. 

3.1 The influence of final consumption on employment 
The knowledge of consumption behaviour of population and public administrations 

is an important source of information in order to understand the short term fluctuations and 
long term tendencies occurring within an economy, including in the foreign financial 
relationships reflected in the balance of payments. In the economic theory [5] it is stated that 
consumption, by means of changes occurring in its evolution and structure, influences the 
size and dynamics of aggregate demand, that in its turn drives the level and development of 
production and finally, the labour employment level in that country. 

In Romania, between 1990 and 2009, based on some changes in the economic 
policy (fiscal, monetary, currency etc) it can be noticed that final consumption, the most 
important component of aggregate demand in the Romanian economy, recorded a 
fluctuant evolution with a growth trend, from 679.5 billion lei to 883.9 billion lei 
(expressed in comparable prices 1990, according to annexe no. 1). The importance of 
consumption in aggregate demand, can also be highlighted by the high share that 
consumption has in real GDP (for the 1990-2009 period, an annual average share of 
consumption of 82.92% in the GDP was calculated, based on the data in annexe no.1), 
there being a close relationship between the two variables, because GDP represents the 
total output of the national economy, the total income respectively, and income is the 
most important factor that influences consumption. 

 
Source: Own calculations based on the data in Annexe no. 1  

Figure no. 2 Annual evolution of civil employment, consumption and investments, 1990-2009  
Data in figure no .2 regarding the annual evolution of final consumption and 

the evolution of the civil employed population show that in Romania the annual 
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consumption growth was not followed by employment growth. 

Based on the statistical analysis carried out with the Pearson correlation 
coefficient we can notice that consumption, as the main component of aggregate 
demand, in Romania, does not influence positively the level of employment. The 
negative value of the Pearson correlation coefficient of -0.595 proves that between the 
two economic variables there is a inverse relationship, of average intensity, fact that is 
in contradiction with the Keynes’s theory according to which employment growth is 
caused by consumption growth and the other way around (between the two variables, 
regularly being a direct relationship). 

 
Source: Own calculations based on the data in Annexe no. 1  

Figure no. 3 Inverse correlation between final consumption and civil employment,1990-2009 
Taking into consideration that, in Romania, in the analysed period, the 

consumption growth did not cause the employed population growth, on the contrary there 
was a decrease of the employed population, in our opinion stimulating consumption in 
Romania aiming to increase the level of employment is not the best solution [1]. 

In order to support this statement we mention the fact that meeting consumption 
needs, is done by the consumption of domestically produced products as well as the 
consumption of imported products. Based on the statistical data on the evolution of 
consumer goods import we can notice that, in Romania, the contribution of the imported 
consumer goods to meeting the domestic demand for consumer goods lately, and not 
only, has increased significantly. Thus, in the 2002-2009 period, an increase in the 
imported consumer goods of 2.5 times was recorded, from 2782.2 mil euro to 7038 mil 
euro [8], thing that reflects the high preference for the consumption of these goods. 

Meeting consumption by means of the imported consumer goods does not 
provide the necessary conditions for job creation in our country, because the reduction 
of the domestic supply for goods and services by substituting domestic output with the 
supply coming from imports has as a result the employment reduction. Therefore, the 
growth of import may equal the loss of jobs internally, importing not only goods and 
services but also unemployment, and other macroeconomic disequilibrium: deficit of 
trade balance and balance of payments, national currency depreciation etc. 

The negative relationship between employment and consumption can be 
explained by the factors that lay at the foundation of consumption growth in Romania. 
Consumption is caused by a series of factors, such as: disposable income, general level of 
prices, fiscal policy, interest rate etc.  
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As far as the interest rate is concerned, as a factor that influences the preference 

for consumption, we can state that in Romania, especially in the last decade, there was a 
high population preference for consumer credits, because of the insufficient personal 
income, there being a direct relationship between the size of the credit and the one of 
consumption (We mention that according to SEC, consumption includes the value of 
goods at the moment of their purchase and not corresponding to paying the 
instalments). By analysing the data on the level of credit for the population between 
2000 and 2009, we can notice that this increased significantly from one year to another, 
the annual growth varying from 1.09% to 258.95%. It is also noticed that the average 
active interest rate decreased by 35.91 percentage points in the aforementioned period, 
fact that stimulated the consumer credit. The share of the population’s credits in GDP 
reflects a significant growth from 0.53% in 2000 to 20.4% in 2009, emphasizing a 
growth of the liability rate of population that may have negative effects on the entire 
mechanism of the national economy [Own calculations based on the data from 6 and 7]. 
We consider that the size of credit and its share in the GDP is not as alarming as the fast 
rhythm of growth of these indicators in Romania. 

3.2 The influence of real investments on employment 
The knowledge of consumption and its registered tendencies is important because 

it can identify the part of the income that it is not consumed (or the postponed 
consumption) that is found in the economies level, part that is available to be invested, 
investments representing the engine of economic growth in the long term. The reciprocal 
conditioning between the current consumption and future investments plays a major role 
in establishing the macroeconomic equilibrium. Thus, in a stable market economy, in the 
short term, when consumption and investments rise, production and employment 
increase, too. In the long term, distribution of national income between consumption and 
investments has a major impact on sustainable economic development. 

In the economic theory and practice [9], it is highlighted that there is also a 
strong positive correlation between investment in fixed capital and employment 
creation in developed countries. 

Real investment, a major component of aggregate demand, constitutes the most 
fluctuant expense element, made up of expenses for inventories formation and gross fixed 
capital formation. The analysis of the data regarding real investments in Romania from 
annexe no. 1, allows us to identify two tendencies in their evolution: in the 1990-1999 
period, when the economic recessions took place, real investments (expressed in 
comparable prices 1990, according to annexe no. 1) fell from 259 billion lei to 107.3 billion 
lei so as to rise, in the next decade of economic growth, from 140.1 billion lei, in 2000, to 
367.7 billion lei, in 2008. The effects of the economic crisis reflected on consumption as 
well as on real investments, both components of the domestic demand, recording decreases 
in 2009 as compared to 2008. The evolution of investments in Romania was caused by the 
level and evolution of GDP as well as by  a series of other factors, such as: interest rate, 
investment cost, predictions of investors regarding the evolution of the economy situation 
and estimated income, fiscal policy and public expenditure policy etc. 

The results of the statistical analysis of the data regarding the changes in real 
investments over changes in employed population between 1990 and 2009, presented in 
figure no. 4, shows that, in Romania, between the annual change in real investments 
and the change in the civil employed population there is a positive, of average intensity, 
statistically significant correlation (Pearson correlation=+0.670, sig=0.002). However, 
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if we analyse the relationship between the level of employment and the level of real 
investments, in the same period, even if we can identify a direct correlation, this is very 
weak and statistically insignificant (Pearson correlation=+0.025, sig=0.916). 

 
Source: Own calculations based on the data in Annexe no. 1  

Figure no. 4 Direct correlation between annual investment change (%) and annual 
employment change (%), between 1990 and 2009 

We can state that in Romania real investments, the second component of the 
aggregate demand, although, in the period between 1990 and 2009, they recorded a 
positive annual average rhythm of 1.7%, they did not prove sufficient enough for 
creating new jobs. There is need for changes in the economic policy, in the behaviour of 
the economic agents, so that investment growth would materialize in the growth of 
work productivity as well as in creating new jobs. 

3.3 The effects of international trade on employment 
At the level of the national economy, together with the domestic demand, an 

important role in creating new jobs is also acknowledged to international trade. The net 
effect of international trade on the level and evolution of aggregate expenses and even 
on the level and evolution of employment is measured by means of the net export 
calculated as a difference between the value of export of goods and services and the 
value of import of goods and services. 

 
Source: Own calculations based on the data in Annexe no. 1  

Figure no. 5 The evolution of domestic demand, domestic supply and net export 
(billion Lei- comparable prices 1990, according to annexe no.1) 

In Romania, in the analysed period, the real value of net exports is negative, the 
value of imports being higher than the one of exports. Data in figure no. 5 highlight that, as 
the gap between domestic supply and demand deepens, the value of the net export 
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increases. Thus, the highest value of net export, of -153.4 billion lei, was recorded in 2008 
(year when the “economic boom” took place in Romania), and the lowest in 1994 (of -14.8 
billion lei). 

The fact that we import more that we export, and foreign payments and higher 
than foreign currency revenue, in other words, we consume more than we produce, led to 
a chronic deficit of the commercial balance. The existence of this negative net export is 
explained by the existence of a higher domestic demand (consumption + investments) 
than the domestic supply (GDP), in other words, in the existence of a state of 
disequilibrium called  domestic absorption (figure no. 5). Insufficient adaptation of the 
national supply to the market’s needs caused the covering of the gap by resorting to 
imports, but with negative consequences on the both external and domestic equilibrium. 

The statistical analysis carried out based on the data in annexe no. 1, regarding 
the net export and employed population, show that, in Romania, between 1990 and 
2009, between the two variables there was a direct relationship, but of a very low 
intensity, getting a value of  +0.318 for the  Pearson correlation coefficient. In other 
words, the growth of negative net export, which equals higher imports than exports, 
constituted one of the causes that led to the decrease of employed population in 
Romania. The explanation consists in the existence of a high level of import of goods 
and services as compared to export, fact that does not create favourable conditions for 
increasing domestic output, on the contrary. In its turn, the reduction of output 
(especially the industrial one), in Romania caused lay-offs and consequently the 
reduction of the employment. 

Therefore, taking some measures of economic policy for stimulating domestic 
production of economic goods is required. These goods must be comparable with those 
imported as far as the quality-price relationship is concerned. Only in this case the 
Romanian consumer will satisfy consumption based on domestically produced products 
to the detriment of those produced abroad. 

In order to reduce the negative effect of import on labour employment, it is 
necessary for domestic producers to adapt their supply to the requirements of 
companies in order for the domestic demand of consumer and investment goods to find 
correspondence in the domestic supply. 

3.4 The simultaneous influence of the components of aggregate demand on 
employment 

Taking into consideration the data recorded in Romania between 1990 and 
2009, we aim to highlight the simultaneous influence of the aggregate demand 
components as well as the overall influence of the aggregate demand on employment, 
being known that the individual elements of the aggregate demand interact among each 
other and all these interact with aggregate supply. 

Based on the analysis of the data in the table of multiple correlation (table no.1), 
it is noticed that real aggregate demand (made up of domestic demand and external 
demand) is significantly influenced by consumption, there being a Pearson correlation 
coefficient of 0.971, value that reflects a very strong direct relationship. We can state 
that in Romania, between 1990 and 2009, the aggregate demand growth was mostly 
caused by the growth in the final consumption demand (private and public). Between 
real investments and aggregate demand, there is also a strong direct relationship, the 
Pearson correlation coefficient having the value of 0.867. On the contrary, it is noticed 
that there is a very strong negative relationship between the economic variable that 
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reflects the relationships of our country with the others (net export) and aggregate 
demand, given by the negative value of the Pearson correlation coefficient (-0.868). 

Table no. 1 The matrix of multiple correlation between employment and aggregate 
demand (and its components) 

Correlations

1 ,743** -,871** ,971** -,595**
,000 ,000 ,000 ,003

20 20 20 20 20
,743** 1 -,840** ,867** ,025
,000 ,000 ,000 ,458

20 20 20 20 20
-,871** -,840** 1 -,868** ,318
,000 ,000 ,000 ,086

20 20 20 20 20
,971** ,867** -,868** 1 -,426*
,000 ,000 ,000 ,031

20 20 20 20 20
-,595** ,025 ,318 -,426* 1
,003 ,458 ,086 ,031

20 20 20 20 20

Pearson Correlation
Sig. (1-tailed)
N
Pearson Correlation
Sig. (1-tailed)
N
Pearson Correlation
Sig. (1-tailed)
N
Pearson Correlation
Sig. (1-tailed)
N
Pearson Correlation
Sig. (1-tailed)
N

 Final consumption

Real investments

Net export

Aggregate demand

Employment

 Final
consumption

Real
investments Net export

Aggregate
demand Employment

Correlation is significant at the 0.01 level (1-tailed).**. 

Correlation is significant at the 0.05 level (1-tailed).*. 
 

Source: Own calculations with SPSS 13.0. for WINDOWS 2003, based on the data in annexe no.1 
The statistical analysis of the relationship between civil employment and 

aggregate demand in Romania, between 1990 and 2009, highlights that between the two 
indicators there is an inverse, statistically significant relationship (Pearson correlation 
coefficient = -0.426). It is known that, from the national accounting point of view, the 
gross domestic product is divided on the following categories of utilization: actual final 
consumption, gross fixed capital formation, change in inventories, net export of goods 
and services [7]. From this perspective aggregate demand is equal to the domestic 
supply (GDP), the negative relationship between civil employment and aggregate 
demand being explained by the incapacity of domestic supply to adapt to the market’s 
requirements, so that domestic output would increase in order to meet consumers’ 
needs, on the domestic and external market, and at the same time to create jobs. 

Based on the data we got in the table of multiple regression coefficients 
(according to annexe no. 2), the linear unisectoral econometric model with synchronous 
influences designed to stimulate the evolution of the civil employed population in 
Romania, between 1990 and 2009, in relation to the influence of the components of 
aggregate demand may be written as:  
 Model 1 when all independent variables are taken into consideration:  
Emp.=  12533.18 – 9.093·C + 13.889·I+ 0.067·E  
             (t=16.997) (t= - 6.744)   (t=5.687)   (t=0.012) 
 σ= 380.641 (standard error of the estimate) 
 (Fcalculated = 28,278; R2= 84.1%) 
 (F 0,05;3;16 = 3,24; t 0,05;16= 2.120 
(Emp-civil employment, C-final consumption, I-Investments, E- net export) 

In model 1 we can notice that between consumption and employed population 
there is an inverse relationship, the value of the multiple regression coefficient of -9.093 
shows that consumption increases by 9.093 billion lei, the employed population 
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decreases with a thousand people. Between employed population and investments there 
is a direct, statistically significant relationship, Fcalculated > ttabled, respectively 5.687 
>2.120. The regression coefficient of 13.889 shows that at an increase of 13.889 billion 
lei in investments, the employed population increases with a thousand people.  The 
regression coefficient of 0.067 shows that if net export increases with 0.067 billion lei, 
the employed population also increases with a thousand people. If we take into 
consideration that the net export was negative in Romania, then the regression 
coefficient must be interpreted in the sense that the growth of net export with 0.067 
billion lei caused a decrease of the employed population with a thousand people, in 
other words, the growth of negative net export, which equals with higher imports and 
exports, constituted one of the causes that led to the decrease of employed population in 
Romania. The determination relationship (R2=84.1%) shows that the level of employed 
population is influenced up to 84.1% by the three variables included in the model. 

Based on the Fisher-Snedecor test, we checked if, statistically speaking, the 
model manages to lead to the reconstruction of the empirical values through theoretical 
values. The value of the Fcalculated test of 28.278 is significant (Fcalculated>Ftabled; 28.278 
>3.29 respectively), and the model is validated as acceptable. 
 Model 2, when the influence of net export is eliminated: 
Emp.= 12539.768 - 9.104·C + 13.872·I 
             (t=26.913)    (t=-9.49)    (t=7.225) 
 σ=369.278 (standard error of the estimate) 
 (Fcalculated = 45,068; R2= 84.1%)  
 (F 0,05;2,17 = 3.59; t 0,05;17= 2.110) 

We obtained model 2 by applying the Backward procedure, which led to the 
elimination of the weakest predictor from the model (the independent variable, net 
export). In this model we notice that consumption and investments influence the size of 
the employed population up to 84.1% (R2=84.1%).  

The value of the multiple regression coefficients suggests that the employed 
population decreases, on average, with a thousand people annually if consumption increases 
annually, on average, with 9.104 billion lei. On the other hand, the annual average growth in 
investments of 13.872 billion lei causes the growth of the employed population with a 
thousand people. The level of employed population caused by the simultaneous influence of 
the components of aggregate demand is to be found in annexe no.1. 

The Fisher-Snedecor test (Fcalculated >Ftabled, 45.068>3.59 respectively), based on 
which, we checked if, statistically speaking, the model manages to lead to the 
reconstruction of the empirical values through theoretical values, shows that the 
econometric model provides valid solutions in the economic analysis. 

We can state that the econometric model of the employed population in relation 
to the elements of the aggregate demand, described above, confirms once more the need 
for a growth in investments so as to create the conditions for increasing the domestic 
supply and therefore the level of employment. 

The increase of investments must focus on the permanent adaptation of the 
supply to the market demands, to the change of the needs system a fact that implies a 
different distribution of production factors on branches as sub-branches. Moreover, in 
order to make investments efficient, they should be based on the increase n quality of 
the production factors, the production management improvement, the log-life 
professional training of labour force, thus securing the essential premises for a 
quantitative and qualitative increase of goods and services. A way of stimulating 
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efficient investments by the state is by making credit cheaper. The stimulation of 
investments, and in this way the growth of the national income, can be achieved 
through a proper fiscal and public expenditures policy. 

4. Conclusions  
The results of our study, show that in Romania, between 1990 and 2009, 

aggregate demand did not influence employment positively, the economic theory, 
according to which between aggregate demand and labour employment there is a direct 
and bivalent relationship, being invalidated, thus the growth of aggregate demand 
attracts the growth of employment and the other way around, under the circumstances 
in which other factors of influence are not changed  

The final consumption (public and private) as main component of the aggregate 
demand does not influence positively the level and evolution of the employment, as 
opposed to the Keynesian theory. Based on this reason we consider that the stimulation of 
consumption in Romania in order to increase the level of employment is not the best 
solution, as it is known that meeting consumption is based not only on domestic products 
but also on imported ones (existing a preference for these products), and under these 
circumstances the effects of the investment effort are reduced. 

In order to increase the living standard and to improve the living conditions of 
the population, under the circumstances of the existence, in the Romanian economy, of 
domestic absorption, the negative net export respectively, we consider that it is 
absolutely necessary for the domestic supply to rapidly and efficiently adapt to the 
demands of the market. On the other hand, the stimulation of saving is necessary, 
assuring the conditions of re-launching domestic output in the long term. 

Our study confirms the economic theory according to which a key contributor 
to employment growth is the growth of real investments, as a component of domestic 
demand. For the investment to have the authentic stimulating role of the Romanian 
economic system, it is necessary to elaborate and apply an efficient investment 
mechanism, that would determine the economy actors, on the one hand, to mobilize as 
high investment funds as possible and from diversified sources and, on the other hand, 
to guide those funds to other efficient activities of real economy. 
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Annexe no.1 
Aggregate demand (and its components), Employment and GDP, 1990-2009 

Anii 
Final 

Consumption (C) 
Real 

Investments (I) 
Domestic 
Demand (DD) GDP 

Net  
Export (E) 

EMP. EMP.* 

1990 679,5 259,5 939,0 857,9 -81,1 10840 9953,4 
1991 567,1 209,6 776,6 747,2 -29,4 10786 10284,5 
1992 524,7 214,0 738,8 681,5 -57,3 10458 10731,5 
1993 526,0 200,1 726,1 691,7 -34,4 10062 10526,8 
1994 555,2 178,3 733,5 718,7 -14,8 10011 9958,6 
1995 625,9 186,8 812,8 769,7 -43,1 9493 9432,9 
1996 660,4 206,8 867,1 799,7 -67,4 9379 9396,2 
1997 649,1 154,9 804,0 750,9 -53,0 9023 8779,1 
1998 640,1 127,2 767,3 714,9 -52,4 8813 8476,8 
1999 631,1 107,3 738,4 706,3 -32,1 8420 8282,7 
2000 621,5 140,1 761,6 723,3 -38,3 8629 8825,1 
2001 652,9 169,7 822,6 764,5 -58,2 8563 8949,8 
2002 671,9 176,8 848,7 803,5 -45,2 8329 8875,4 
2003 722,8 185,7 908,5 845,3 -63,2 8306 8535,4 
2004 782,5 217,1 999,6 917,1 -82,4 8238 8427,5 
2005 830,2 222,5 1052,8 955,6 -97,1 8390 8068,1 
2006 882,2 272,8 1155,0 1031,1 -123,9 8469 8292,5 
2007 908,8 339,5 1248,3 1096,1 -152,3 8726 8975,6 
2008 961,8 367,7 1329,5 1176,1 -153,4 8747 8884,3 
2009 883,9 273,1 1157,1 1092,6 -64,5 8256 8281,8 
DD= C+I; GDP- Gross Domestic Product (domestic supply); E =GDP – DD; EMP- civil employment 
(thousands persons);  C, I, DD, GDP and E are expressed in billions lei, constant prices (reference basis - 
the year 1990), calculated based on data from the Romanian Statistical Yearbook, 1990-2008 time series, 
NIS, 2009 and The projection of the main macroeconomic indicators for the period 2010-2014, September 
2010, www.cnp.ro; *the level of the employed population determined by the simultanous influence of the 
components of aggregate demand. 

Annexe no.2 
Coefficientsa

12533,180 737,373 16,997 ,000
-9,093 1,348 -1,368 -6,744 ,000 ,241 4,149
13,889 2,442 1,044 5,687 ,000 ,294 3,397

,067 5,690 ,003 ,012 ,991 ,159 6,305
12539,768 465,933 26,913 ,000

-9,104 ,959 -1,370 -9,490 ,000 ,448 2,231
13,872 1,920 1,043 7,225 ,000 ,448 2,231

(Constant)
 Final consumption
Real investments
Net export
(Constant)
 Final consumption
Real investments

Model
1

2

B Std. Error

Unstandardized
Coefficients

Beta

Standardized
Coefficients

t Sig. Tolerance VIF
Collinearity Statistics

Dependent Variable: Employmenta. 
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Abstract: The analysis of the territory, of the population, of the gross value 
added and of the employment by types of regions ("predominantly rural", 
"intermediate" and "predominantly urban" regions) allows us to observe, on 
the one hand, the concentration of these indicators by regions and, on the 
other hand,  the importance of the regions from the perspective of ensuring 
these resources for the naţional economy. Also, the analysis of the 
employment and the gross value added in the non-agricultural sector 
express the sources of these indicators on the sectors of the national 
economy: the primary, the secondary and the tertiary sectors. The 
comparative analysis of the indicators registered by our country with the 
other indicators of EU countries helps us to observe where Romania is 
positioned in European Union, in terms of economic and social activity. 

JEL classification: O18,  R11, Q10 

Key words: predominantly rural regions, predominantly urban regions, intermediate 
regions,  non-agricultural sector  

 I. THE IMPORTANCE OF RURAL AREAS, BY TYPES OF DE REGIONS•,  IN ROMANIA 

                                                      
48 This paper is suported by the Sectorial Operational Programme Human Resources Development (SOP 
HRD), financed from the European Social Fund and by the Romanian Government under the contract 
number SOP HRD/89/1.5/S/62988”. Titles and intellectual and industrial property rights on the results of 
the post-doctoral research programme belong to The National Institute of Economic Research "Costin C. 
Kiriţescu of the Romanian Academy 

• In 2010, the European Commission agreed on a new European Union typology of 
“predominantly rural”, “intermediate” and “predominantly urban” regions  which is based on a variation 
of the OECD methodology that was previously used. This new typology uses a population grid of one 
square kilometre resolution which for Denmark, Sweden, Finland, Austria and The Netherlands is based on 
real census data (see European Forum for GeoStatistics (EFGS). For the remaining Member States, it uses 
the disaggregation grid  created by the Joint Research Centre (JRC), based on LAU2 population and 
CORINE land cover. 

The method builds on a simple approach to create clusters of urban grid cells with a minimum 
population density of 300 inhabitants per km² and a minimum population of 5 000 (to determine the „urban 
clusters”, the grid cells are grouped based on contiguity (including the diagonals); if the central cell is 
above the density threshold, it will be grouped with each of the other surrounding eight cells that exceed 
the density threshold). 

 All the cells outside these urban clusters are considered as rural. The population living in rural 
areas is the population living outside the urban areas identified through the method described above. 

Local administrative units level 2 (LAU2) are classified based on the share of 
population in rural cells following the majority principle (a LAU2 is rural if at least 50% of the 
residents lives in rural areas). 
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We analyze the teritory, the population, the employment and the gross value 

adeed on different types of regions (predominantly rural region, intermediate regions 
and predominantly urban regions) in Romania, year 2007••. 

In the Romanian rural areas (predominantly rural and intermediate regions) 
90% of the population there is in 99% of the territory, while in the urban areas 
(predominantly urban regions) 10% of the population there is in 1% of the territory 
(Figure no 1). 
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Figure no. 1   Teritory, population, gros value adeed and employment in Romania, 

2007 year   
Note: PR - Predominantly Rural Regions; IR  - Intermediate Regions; PU - Predominantly 
Urban Regions 
Source: Rural Development in the European Union, Statistical and Economic Information, 
Report 2010 

 
                                                                                                                                              

           This new typology applied to the NUTS 3 level successfully addresses two main 
constraints of the OECD methodology in the EU: the variation in surface area of both LAU2 
and NUTS 3 regions. It does this in a consistent manner throughout the Union in two main 
steps: 

   I.  It groups NUTS 3 regions of less than 500 km² with one or more of its neighbours 
solely for classification purposes, i.e. all the NUTS 3 regions in a group are classified in the 
same way; 

   II.  It classifies NUTS 3 regions based on the share of population in rural grid cells. 
More than 50% of the total population in rural grid cells = predominantly rural, between 20% 
and 50% in rural grid cells = intermediate and less than 20% = predominantly urban. 

The new typology considers the presence of large urban centres in the same way of the 
OECD methodology:  a "predominantly rural" region (or group of regions) is re-classified as 
"intermediate" if there is an urban centre > 200.000 inhabitants representing no less than 25% 
of the regional population;  an "intermediate" region (or group of regions) is re-classified as 
"predominantly urban" if there is an urban centre > 500.000 inhabitants (in EU) representing 
no less than 25% of the regional population. 
            •• The indicators (the teritory, the population, the employment and the gross value 
adeed) are analyzed by type of regions (predominantly rural regions, intermediate regions 
predominantly urban regions) in the form of proportion; for each indicator, the sum of three 
proportions of the indicator, by types of regions, totals 100%, for each country. 
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Most of the territory (99%) is in the rural areas (predominantly rural and 

intermediate regions). By type of regions, the largest proportion of the territory (59%) is 
in predominantly rural regions, and the lowest proportion (under 1%) is in the 
predominantly urban regions. 

The population, as for the territory, is located in rural areas (predominantly 
rural and intermediate regions) in a significant proportion, respectively 90%. By type of 
regions, the largest proportion of the population (46%) there is in the predominantly 
rural regions, and the lowest percentage (10%) there is in the predominantly urban 
regions. 

In terms of the economic activity, we make the following comments, according 
to the data in the table above: 

• the employment is provided by the rural areas in proportion of 89%, the 
largest share being provided by the intermediate regions with a contribution of 46%; 
42% of the employment is concentrated in the predominantly rural regions and only 
11% it is  in the predominantly urban regions; 

• most of the gross value added is provided by the rural areas (77%), the largest 
share being provided by the intermediate regions with a proportion of 43%; 34% of the 
gross value added is concentrated in the predominantly rural regions and only 23% it is 
in the predominantly urban regions. 

From the above analysis, we see that in our country, both the employment and 
the gross value added are concentrated in the intermediate regions. 

If  in the predominantly urban regions, 11% of employment provides 23% of 
gross value added, in the predominantly rural regions, 42% of employment provides 
34% of gross value added, which means a better economic efficiency in the 
predominantly urban regions compared with the predominantly rural regions. 

The rural areas (predominantly rural and intermediate regions) have a special 
significance for Romania in the light of the important proportions of the territory and 
the population. 

The economic activity (expressed by the employment and the gross value 
added), in our country, is concentrated more in the intermediate regions compared to 
that of the predominantly rural and predominantly urban regions. 

II. Teritory, population, employment  and gros value adeed on different types of 
regions, in Romania and in the other EU countries 

We analyze the teritory, the population, the employment and the gross value 
adeed on different types of regions in Romania and in the other EU countries, year 
2007•. 

a) The teritory and the population in Romania and in the other EU countries   
In the rural areas (predominantly rural and intermediate regions), the territory 

varies from 54% in the Netherlands to 100% in Estonia and Slovenia and the population 
varies from 29% in the Netherlands to 100% in Estonia and Slovenia. 

                                                      
• The indicators (the teritory, the population, the employment and the gross value 

adeed) are analyzed by type of regions (predominantly rural regions, intermediate regions, 
predominantly urban regions) in the form of proportion; for each indicator, the sum of three 
proportions of the indicator, by types of regions, totals 100%, for each country. 
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            We observe that, if the territory is concentrated for an important number of 
countries, in predominantly rural regions, the population has a relatively balanced 
distribution on the three types of regions, for most European countries (Table no 1). 

Table no 1   Territory and  Population by types of regions,  in Romania and in the 
other EU countries,  2007 year 

% 
  Indicators Territory Population 
Types of 
regions PR IR PU PR IR PU 

Romania  59,3 39,9 0,8 45,9 43,8 10,4 
Austria  72,2 18,9 8,8 39,4 26,5 34,1 
Belgium  33,8 31,8 34,4 8,7 23,9 67,5 
Bulgaria  53,6 45,1 1,2 39 44,9 16,2 
Cyprus 0,0 100,0 0,0 0,0 10 0,0 
Czech 
Republic  48,3 37,1 14,6 33,3 43,6 23,1 

Denmark  71,8 27 1,2 42,9 36 21,2 

Estonia  82,3 17,7 .
... 48,3 51,7    

0,0 
Finland  83,3 14,6 2,1 43,2 30,7 26,1 
France  64,6 27,3 8,1 28,7 35,7 35,6 
Germany  39,8 48,4 11,8 17,5 40 42,5 
Greece  82,2 12,1 5,6 43,2 10,5 46,3 
Hungary  66,3 33,1 0,6 47,5 35,6 16,9 
Ireland  98,7  1,3 72,3  27,7 
Italy  45,5 42,3 12,3 20,5 43,9 35,6 
Latvia  62,8 21,1 16,1 38,4 13,4 48,2 
Lithuania  65 19,9 15 43,6 31,2 25,1 
Luxembourg 0,0 100,0 0,0 0,0 100 0,0 
Malta 0,0 0,0 100,0 0,0 0,0 100,0 
Netherlands  2,2 51,5 46,3 0,7 28,2 71,1 
Poland  55,6 34,5 9,9 37,9 33,8 28,3 
Portugal  84,1 8,7 7,3 36,3 15,2 48,4 
Slovakia  59 36,8 4,2 50,4 38,3 11,3 

Slovenia  61 39 .
... 43,8 56,2  

Spain  46,1 39,5 14,4 13,3 38,2 48,5 
Sweden  52,6 45,8 1,6 22,7 56,2 21,1 
United 
Kingdom  27,4 47 25,6 2,9 26 71,1 

EU27 56,6 34,3 9,2 23,7 35,5 40,9 

EU15 56,0 33,9 10,1 19,2 34,6 46,2 
... the data are not disponible 
Note: PR - Predominantly Rural Regions; IR  - Intermediate Regions; PU - Predominantly 
Urban Regions 
Source: Rural Development in the European Union, Statistical and Economic Information, 
Report 2010 
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In the EU-27, the territory, by types of regions, varies: from 2% in Netherlands 

to 99% in Ireland in the predominantly rural regions, from 9% in Portugal to 52% in 
Netherlands in the intermediate regions and from 1% in Hungary to 46% in Netherlands 
in predominantly rural regions and the population varies: from 1% in the Netherlands to 
72% in Ireland in predominantly rural regions, from 11% in Greece to 56% in Slovenia 
and Sweden in intermediate regions, from 10% in Romania to 71% in Netherlands and 
United Kingdom in predominantly urban regions. 

In Romania, the rural areas (predominantly rural and intermediate regions) in 
terms of territory is 99.2%; this percentage is one of the highest in the EU-27 countries, 
surpassed only by Hungary (99.4%), Estonia Slovenia (each with 100%); the 
predominantly rural regions provide the largest share of the population 46%, while the 
predominantly urban regions concentrates only 10% (which is the lowest percentage in 
the EU). 

b) The employment and the gross value added  in Romania and in other EU 
countries 

    In the rural areas (predominantly rural and intermediate regions), the 
employment varies from 27% in the Netherlands to 100% in Estonia and Slovenia and 
the gross value added varies from 24% in the United Kingdom to 100% in Estonia and 
Slovenia (Table no 2). 

Table no 2 Employment and gross value added by types of regions, in Romania 
and in other EU countries, 2007 year 

% 
Indicators Employment Gross Value Added 
Types of 
regions PR IR PU PR IR PU 

Romania  42,2  46,4 11,4 33,8 43,2 23 
Austria  n.a. n.a. n.a. 30,5 28,8 40,7 
Belgium  6,8 20,5 72,7 5,5 18,9 75,6 
Bulgaria  35,3 41,8 22,9 27 36,6 36,4 
Cyprus 0,0 100,0 0,0 0,0 1000 0,0 
Czech 
Republic  32,2 40,2 27,6 27,8 36,5 35,7 

Denmark  40,6 32,6 26,7 38,8 31,4 29,8 

Estonia  42,5 57,5      
0,0 32,6 67,4         

0,0  
Finland  39,7 29,2 31,1 36,2 28 35,8 
France  26,6 34,1 39,2 23,2 31,3 45,5 
Germany  15,8 38,3 45,9 14,7 35,9 49,5 
Greece  40,8 10,8 48,4 32,5 8,8 58,6 
Hungary  44 31,5 24,5 34,9 28,4 36,7 
Ireland 68 0,0 32 59,5  40,5 
Italy  19,4 43,5 37,2 18,6 42,6 38,9 
Latvia  35,4 13 51,7 23 10,3 66,8 
Lithuania  41,2 31,4 27,4 29,9 30,7 39,4 
Luxembourg 0,0 100,0 0,0 0,0 100 0,0 
Malta 0,0 0,0 100,0 0,0 0,0 100,0 
Netherlands  0,6 26,1 73,3 0,8 25,4 73,8 
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Indicators Employment Gross Value Added 
Poland  35,2 31,9 32,9 27,3 30,9 41,8 
Portugal  36,8 14,7 48,6 31,1 11,5 57,4 
Slovakia  44,3 36,4 19,3 40,5 32,8 26,7 
Slovenia  40,3 59,7   36,5 63,5   
Spain  12 36,6 51,4 10,7 35,6 53,6 
Sweden  21,4 54,4 24,2 20 51,7 28,3 
United 
Kingdom  2,3 26 71,7 2 22,2 75,8 

EU27 21,4 34,6 44 16,6 31,8 51,6 

EU15 17,3 33,7 49 15,7 31,4 52,9 

... the data are not disponible 
Note: PR - Predominantly Rural Regions; IR  - Intermediate Regions; PU - Predominantly 
Urban Regions 
Source: Rural Development in the European Union, Statistical and Economic Information, 
Report 2010 

Compared to the analyzed situation for the indicators territory and population, 
which are provided of the largest proportion of the rural areas (predominantly rural and 
intermediate regions), in providing to the employment, all three regions (PR, IR, PU) 
have an important contribution.  

Thus, the employment is provided (in the highest proportion):    
• by the predominantly rural regions in the countries: Denmark, Finland, 

Hungary, Ireland, Lithuania, Poland, Slovakia; 
• by the intermediate regions in the countries: Romania, Bulgaria, Czech 

Republic, Estonia, Italy, Slovenia, Sweden; 
• by the predominantly urban regions in the countries: Belgium, France, 

Germany, Greece, Latvia, Netherlands, Portugal, Spain, United Kingdom. 
The main region which generates the gross value added in the European area is 

the urban one (for a total of 14 countries out of 27). Thus, the proportion of gross value 
added is greater: 

• in the predominantly rural regions for the countries: Austria, Denmark, 
Finland, Ireland, Slovakia; 

• in the intermediate regions for the countries: Romania, Bulgaria, Cyprus, 
Czech Republic, Estonia, Italy, Luxembourg, Slovenia, Sweden;           

• in the predominantly urban regions for the countries: Belgium, Finland, 
France, Germany, Greece, Hungary, Latvia, Lithuania, Malta, Netherlands, 
Poland, Portugal, Spain, United Kingdom. 

In the EU - 27, by types of regions, the employment varies: from 1% in 
Netherlands to 68% in Ireland in predominantly rural regions, from 11% in Greece to 
60% in Slovenia in intermediate regions, from 11% in Romania to 73% in Netherlands 
in predominantly urban regions and the gross value added varies: from 1% in 
Netherlands to 60% in Ireland in predominantly rural regions, from 9% in Greece to 
67% in Estonia in intermediate regions, from 23% in Romania to 76% in  United 
Kingdom in predominantly urban regions. 

For our country, the largest proportion of employment is provided by the 
intermediate regions (46%), followed closely by the predominantly rural regions with 
42%, while the predominantly urban regions covering only 11% of this indicator, which 
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is the lowest in the EU-27; the gross added value is provided in proportion of 77% by 
the predominantly rural and intermediate regions (this proportion is exceeded only by 
two countries Estonia and Slovenia, each with 100%) and in proportion of 23% by the 
urban region (which is the smallest proportion of the EU- 27, 2007 year). 

 The territory is concentrated for an important number of countries, in 
predominantly rural regions and the population has a relatively balanced distribution on 
the three types of regions (PR, IR, PU), for most European countries. 

Also, for most European countries, in providing to the employment,  all three 
regions (PR, IR, PU) have an important contribution. 

A greater number of  countries of the EU-27 have a proportion of gross value 
added higher in predominantly urban regions, compared with the other two regions (PR 
and IR). 

III. The employment and the gross value added in the non–agricultural sector • in 
România and in the other EU countries   

We analyze the proportion of employment and the proportion of gross value 
added in the non-agricultural sector•• on different types of regions, in Romania and in 
the other EU countries, year 2007 (Table no). 

Table no 3 Eployment  and Gross value added in the non-agricultural sector* for 
Romania and for other EU countries,  2007 year 

 
 

Indicators 

 
Share of employment 

 in secondary and  tertiary sectors 
               (% total employment) 

 
Share of Gross value added (GVA) 
in secondary and tertiary sectors 

(% total GVA) 
                             
Ttypes of 
regions 

PR IR PU PR IR PU 

Romania 61,1 70,4 98,9 88,8 93,9 99,7 
Austria n.a. n.a. n.a. 96,0 98,8 99,5 
Belgium 94,5 97,0 98,8 96,8 98,4 99,5 
Bulgaria 71,2 78,5 97,7 87,3 92,6 99,7 
Cyprus 95,5  97,8 
Czech 
Republic 94,4 96,8 98,1 95,5 97,7 98,9 

Denmark 95,5 97,2 99,6 97,9 98,8 99,9 
Estonia 90,9 98,7 91,8 99,0 
Finland 91,4 95,5 99,4 93,8 97,0 99,6 
France 93,9 96,7 98,8 95,5 97,1 99,4 
Germany 95,4 97,4 99,1 97,8 98,8 99,7 
Greece 76,4 86,8 98,9 90,8 94,4 99,4 
Hungary 88,8 91,2 99,4 92,8 95,1 99,8 
Ireland 92,1  99,5 97,5 99,9 
Italy 92,1 95,4 98,7 96,3 97,4 99,3 

                                                      
• the non-agricultural sector ( secondary and  tertiary sectors)  

           •• the share of employment in secondary and  tertiary sectors is calculated as % in total 
employment and the share of gross value added  in secondary and tertiary sectors is calculated 
as % in total gross value added  
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Indicators 

 
Share of employment 

 in secondary and  tertiary sectors 
               (% total employment) 

 
Share of Gross value added (GVA) 
in secondary and tertiary sectors 

(% total GVA) 
Latvia 83,8 85,6 95,9 90,8 93,5 98,8 
Lithuania 83,0 92,3 96,7 92,1 96,6 98,7 
Luxembourg 98,3  99,6 
Malta  97,7  97,5 
Netherlands 94,8 94,7 97,7 97,0 96,6 98,4 
Poland 72,6 88,0 96,2 90,2 96,2 99,0 
Portugal 76,8 86,7 97,3 94,6 96,4 99,3 
Slovakia 94,6 97,0 99,0 94,2 97,2 99,1 
Slovenia 86,5 93,9 95,9 98,4 
Spain 88,1 94,1 98,3 91,7 96,3 99,0 
Sweden 96,2 97,6 99,6 96,9 98,5 99,9 
United 
Kingdom 92,9 97,6 99,3 95,2 98,2 99,6 

U15 91,2 96,2 98,8 95,9 97,8 99,4 
U27 85,8 93,7 98,6 95,4 97,6 99,4 
*The indicators (the employment and the gross value adeed) are analyzed by type of regions 
(PR, IR, PU) in the form of proportion (share); for each indicator, the share of each region is 
the corresponding of the non- agricultural  sector (secondary and  tertiary sectors), which 
means that the value (ratio) up to 100% is corresponding to the primary sector (agriculture, 
hunting and forestry). 
Note: PR - Predominantly Rural Regions; IR  - Intermediate Regions; PU - Predominantly 
Urban Regions 
Source: Rural Development in the European Union, Statistical and Economic Information, 
Report 2010 

In the EU-27, according the data from the table above, we observe that, the 
share of employment in the non-agricultural sector by types of regions, is the lowest in 
the predominantly rural regions (61% in Romania) and the highest in the predominantly 
urban regions (100 % in Denmark, Ireland, Sweden, Denmark). 

Another indicator of the economic activity gross value added provided by the 
non-agricultural sector has, also, a high proportion in predominantly urban regions in 
all EU countries, standing out with 100%  the countries: Belgium, Austria, Finland, 
United Kingdom, Germany, Romania, Bulgaria, Hungary, Sweden, Ireland, Denmark. 

In the EU-27, the analized indicators of the non-agricultural sector, by types of 
regions, varies: 

• from 61% in Romania to 96% in Sweden in predominantly rural regions, from 
70% in Romania to 99% in Estonia in intermediate regions, from 96% in Latvia to 
100% in Ireland, Sweden, Denmark in predominantly urban regions for the 
employment; 
            • from 87% in Bulgaria to 98% in Denmark in predominantly rural regions, 
from 93% in Bulgaria to 100% in Luxembourg in the intermediate regions, from 98% in 
Malta to 100% in Belgium, Austria, Finland, United Kingdom, Germany, Romania, 
Bulgaria, Hungary, Sweden, Ireland, Denmark in predominantly urban regions for the 
gross value added. 

In Romania, the share of employment in the non-agricultural sector varies from 
61% in predominantly rural regions to 70% in intermediate regions and respectively to 
99% in the predominantly urban regions, and the share of gross value added in the non-
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agricultural sector varies from 89% in predominantly rural regions to 94% in 
intermediate regions and respectively to 100% in predominantly urban regions. 

Romania, compared to the other  EU-27 countries, has one of the lowest 
proportion of gross value added (89%) in the non-agricultural sector in PR (only 
Bulgaria registered a smaller proportion) and has a smaller proportion of gross value 
added (94%) in IR (only Latvia and Bulgaria have the smallest proportion). In fact, the 
proportion of gross value added in the non-agricultural sector in the two types of 
regions, means a higher proportion of this indicator in the primary sector. Also, our 
country, compared to the other  EU-27 countries, has the lowest proportion of 
employment in the non-agricultural sector, both in predominantly rural regions and in 
the intermediate regions, which results a higher share of this indicator in primary sector 
(mainly represented by agriculture and hunting, forestry), in these two regions. 

The non - agricultural sector provides the highest proportions both in terms of 
employment and, especially, in terms of gross value added, in the predominantly urban 
regions, for most European countries. 

Conclusions 
The rural areas (predominantly rural and intermediate regions), both by the 

territory and  the population has a special importance for Romania and for the other 
EU countries. In our country, the economic activity (gross value added and 
employment) is concentrated in predominantly urban and intermediate regions.  

The low proportions of the employment and of the gross value added in the 
non-agricultural sector registered of our country, in comparison with the other 
European countries, reflects the importance of the primary sector in terms of economic 
activity, with particular reference to these indicators. 
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Abstract: The paper presents some of the most relevant score functions 
developed worldwide, used to assess the bankruptcy risk. Among these, 
we mention the Altman model, developed in 1968, the model elaborated 
by the Central Bank of France, by Conan and Holder, or by Ohlson. Also, 
we present the models developed in Romania, with the specific features 
that such score functions have for the Romanian theory and practice. We 
also emphasize the limits of using the score functions in analyzing the 
bankruptcy risk and the difficulties of elaborating them for the case of 
Romania. 
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1. Introduction 
The risk of bankruptcy is the most important component of the risks an 

enterprise faces. It is closely related to all the categories of risks that arise in a business 
and its appearance causes major implications that go beyond the company and affect all 
the business partners. 

The study of companies in financial distress is particularly important for banks, 
concerned about the quality of the credit portfolios they hold, for shareholders, 
investors, employees, customers and suppliers. Directly or indirectly, all of them will 
suffer losses due to the bankruptcy of the company they are in contractual relationships 
with. 

The bankruptcy is a defining feature of the market economy. At the 
macroeconomic level, the failure is a normal phenomenon and has the role to make the 
economic system more efficient, by eliminating the companies that can not properly 
adapt to the market conditions. Obviously, this positive role occurs when the number of 
failures does not exceed a critical level that would disrupt the economic relations and 
would lead to the emergence of major economic crisis. 

The assessment, the analysis and the prediction of the bankruptcy risk a 
company is exposed to is a constant concern for managers. The determination in 
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advance of the risk of failure allows identifying the causes and the disturbances that 
affect the business, the errors arising in the business management and making 
appropriate measures to eliminate or to reduce them. 

Predicting bankruptcy and understanding the causes of failure are based on 
financial reasons. The bankruptcy involves direct costs with legal fees, with wages for 
accountants, lawyers and bailiffs etc., but these costs are small as compared to the 
losses of the investors (shareholders and creditors), as the company’s value decreases 
and it is unable to repay the debts and to pay the interest. At the same time, the 
bankruptcy involves indirect costs such as losses to managers, employees, state etc. 
Sometimes, they can reach a significant size. All these costs justify the efforts to 
identify the causes of bankruptcy and to predict it. 

2. Objectives  
The specialized literature provides a variety of tools for assessing and 

predicting the risk of bankruptcy. The basis for these instruments are, mainly, the 
statistical methods. They are especially used when studying the financial rates that 
reveal the financial position of a company. The large variety of tools developed and of 
measures that may be used could cause difficulties when selecting the appropriate 
models, but also some differences in the interpretation of the results obtained with their 
help. 

Among the methods of analyzing the bankruptcy risk elaborated so far, we 
mention: 

• the static analysis, based on the balance sheet; 
• the functional analysis, based on functional balance; 
• the dynamic analysis, carried out with the financing table; 
• the discriminant analysis, relying on which there were created several 

methods of evaluation and prediction of bankruptcy. 
Further on, we’ll present the most relevant score functions developed with the 

help of the discriminant analysis, both worldwide and in Romania. 

3. Analyses 
The specialized economic literature, both foreign and Romanian, shows a 

variety of score functions, developed by researchers from a variety of countries. We’ll 
further present the most representative score models, which were imposed in theory and 
practice due to the results obtained in the prediction of bankruptcy. 

 
1) The Altman model was developed in 1968 on a sample of 66 enterprises, of 

which 33 healthy and 33 in financial distress. To build the model, there were tested 22 
financial ratios, of which five have been kept as having a significant discriminating 
power. 

By analyzing the companies with financial difficulties, Altman has identified 
five phases of a business failure: 

1. appearance of initial signs of financial difficulties (slight decrease in 
profitability, in turnover, reduction of cash), but which are ignored by the 
company management; 

2. a clear appearance of the financial difficulties that are not followed, 
however, by proper measures, hoping that they will disappear; 
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3. a strong degradation of the financial position, as the disturbance factors 
affect the entire business; 

4. collapse, meaning a management failure to adopt appropriate measures to 
solve the situation; 

5. intervention, either by recovery measures, either by declaring bankruptcy. 
The score function developed by Altman in 1968 takes the following form: 
 X+X6.0+X3.3+X4.1+X2.1=Z 54321  , 
where: 
X1 = Working capital (WC) / Total assets; 
X2 = Retained earnings / Total assets; 
X3 = Earnings before interests and taxes (EBIT) / Total assets; 
X4 = Market value equity / Total liabilities; 
X5 = Sales / Total assets. 
The ranges of values of the function are: 
- Z < 1.81 - the company is bankrupt, being in phase 4 or 5; 
- 1.81 < 2.90 ≤ Z - the company is in financial distress, meaning the phases 2 

or 3; 
- Z > 2.90 - the company may be considered economically healthy. 
2) Altman, Haldeman and Narayanan built in 1977 another model, known as 

Zeta model with some modifications against the model in 1968. The sample of 
companies considered consisted of 53 bankrupt companies and 58 non-bankrupt 
pursued during 1969-1975. The three researchers tested 27 financial variables 
representing profitability, liquidity, capitalization, variability of earnings, debt and other 
indicators. Finally, seven financial ratios were chosen, namely: 

X1 - return on assets; X2 - the stability of earnings; X3 - debt service; 
X4 - cumulative profitability; X5 - liquidity; X6 – capitalization; 
X7 - company size. 
The ZETA weighting coefficients have not been published by the authors. 
3) The score function used by the Central Bank of France was developed 

based on a sample of industrial enterprises that pay income tax, with less than 500 
employees. The enterprises were classified into three components: bankrupt, ordinary 
and vulnerable. 

According to this model, a company is bankrupt when it follows a judicial 
procedure for bankruptcy. These companies are observed over a period of three years 
before bankruptcy. 

The authors proposed a number of 19 ratios, covering four key areas of activity: 
- the financial structure; 
- the dynamic of the business; 
- the profitability; 
- the current management. 
In some circumstances, a financial rate can have excessive values or can 

become incalculable (the denominator is zero). In order to preserve the quality of the 
results, instead of eliminating the companies with such rates, it was defined, for each 
rate, a range between certain limits and the value will be adjusted to one of the limits if 
it exceeds the default values. 

The bankruptcy risk analysis model elaborated by the Central Bank of France 
actually includes three score functions, which are used in two stages. 
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a) The score function Z  
To characterize the financial health of a company, the first score function is 

used, which was constructed by comparing the bankrupt companies against the ordinary 
ones. This is the function Z, which includes eight financial ratios, with the following 
expression: 

85.544.-R1.408+      
+R0.706+R1.164-R0.689-R221.5+R824.0-R003.2+R255.1-=Z

8

7654321  

The eight ratios of the function Z are: 
- R1: Financial expenses / EBITDA; 
- R2: Financing of invested capital: Long term capital / Invested capital; 
- R3: The repayment capacity: Self-financing capacity / Total liabilities; 
- R4: Gross operating margin: EBITDA / Turnover; 
- R5: The duration of supplier credit: 

           360×
VAT with urchasesP

debts commercial of balance Average
; 

- R6: The growth rate of value added (Va1-Va0) / Va0; 
- R7: The duration of customer credit: 

              360×
VAT with Sales

sreceivable commercial of balance Average
; 

- R8: The rate of physical investment: Average value of physical 
investment/Va. 

The highest representative rate is R1, as depending on its level the companies 
are split in the second phase. 

The ranges of values depending on which the companies are divided are: 
• -0.25<Z  - the enterprise is at risk, without being able to say with certainty 

that it is bankrupt; 
• .1250+<Z<0.25-  - one can not make assessments about the state of the 

enterprise (uncertain state); 
• 0.125>Z  - the company is normal, but can’t be offered guarantees that it 

won’t be ever in distress. 
 
b) The score functions Y1 and Y2 
This step aims analyzing the companies that have previously obtained a 

negative score, less than -0.25, which are likely to have a high risk of bankruptcy. 
These companies are divided into two categories, depending on the value of the rate 
Financial expenses / EBITDA. To separate the companies with a low score from those 
who are very close to bankruptcy, it will be used two additional scoring functions, Y1 
and Y2. 

The first group includes the companies with EBITDA of zero or negative and 
those with a ratio Financial expenses/EBITDA greater than or equal to 215%. The 
second group includes the enterprises whose rate Financial expenses/EBITDA is 
between 0 and 215%. 

For the companies in the first group, it is calculated the score function Y1, 
which contains seven financial ratios. The Y1 score is calculated for a period of two 
years in order to capture the evolution of the financial position. The companies in this 
group are the most risky and have a high probability of filing for bankruptcy in the 
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future. 
For the companies in the second group, the score function Y2 is determined 

based on 13 financial ratios. These companies have a weak financial position, but better 
than the companies in the first category. 

 
The function created by the Cerntral Bank of France was subsequently updated, 

by creating more functions, differentiated by industries: BDFI for industrial enterprises, 
BDFC for trade companies and BDFT for transport companies. 

The BDFI score function, developed in 1995, whose formula is kept secret, is 
based on the financial indebtedness (importance, structure and cost of borrowing), 
which makes it especially attractive for bankers. The score function is based on three 
elements: 

- the business, assessed by a letter (from A to X), depending on turnover; 
- profitability and financial structure; 
- short-term solvency. 
The best score is set at 37 and 69 the worst. 
4) Conan and Holder have developed several scoring functions, differentiated 

on sectors, namely the industrial sector, the wholesale sector, the transportation sector. 
For the industrial enterprises, the score function is as follows: 

,X0.10-X87.0-X16.0+X22.0+X24.0=Z 54321  
where: 

X1 = EBITDA / Total liabilities; 
X2 = Long term capital / Total capital; 
X3 = (Cash + Receivables) / Total Assets; 
X4 = Financial expenses / Turnover; 
X5 = Wages / Value added. 
According to this function, the businesses can fall into one of the following 

categories: 
- good state, when Z > 9, and the probability of bankruptcy is less than 30%; 
- caution, when 4 ≤ Z <9, and the probability of failure is between 30% and 

65%; 
- danger, when Z < 4, and the probability of bankruptcy is more than 65%. 
5) In 1980, Ohlson developed a model for analyzing the bankruptcy for listed 

companies that went bankrupt during the period 1970-1976. The score function takes 
the following form: 

1.32,-X0.52-X1.72-X285.0+X 1.83-X37.2-X08.0+X43.1-X03.6=O 87654321  
where: 
X1 - Total debts / Total assets; 
X2 - Current assets / Total assets; 
X3 - Current liabilities / Current assets; 
X4 - Net Profit (Np) / Total assets; 
X5 - Profit before taxes plus depreciation / Total debts; 
X6 - An indicator equal to 1 if the net profit in last two years is negative and 0 

otherwise; 
X7 - An indicator equal to 1 if total liabilities exceed total assets and 0 

otherwise; 
)Np-Np/()Np-Np(=X 1-tt1-tt8 . 
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In Romania there have been also efforts to develop score functions for 
analyzing the risk of bankruptcy. But these attempts occurred much later in comparison 
with the researches carried out worldwide. 

6) C. Mânecuţă and M. Nicolae developed in 1996 a score function for the 
analysis of the bankruptcy risk, based on 14 financial ratios, considering a sample of 59 
companies from the metallurgy industry. 

7) In 1998, G. Băileşteanu created a model for analyzing the risk of 
bankruptcy, based on four variables. According to the author49, the specter of 
bankruptcy is emphasized by the occurrence of the following states: 

- the impossibility of paying the current debts; 
- insufficient financial resources for repayment the medium and long-term 

debts; 
- delays in collecting the receivables; 
- lack of profit. 
The financial ratios taken into account by Băileşteanu are: 

• the current liquidity: 
debtsCurrent 
assetsurrent C

=G1 ; 

• the solvency: 
servicedebt   termmedium and Long

onDepreciati +profit  Net
=G2 ; 

The debt service includes the installments on medium and long term loans and 
the interest. In this form, the ratio actually expresses the coverage of medium and long 
term debt service. 

• the turnover of customer credit: 
sreceivable Commercial

Sales
=G3 ; 

• the profit rate: 100x
Cost

ofitPr
=G4 , 

and the model has the following expression: 
1.414.-G0333.0+G0526.0+G909.0+G444.0=B 4321  

The function parameters were determined based on the utility theory. 
The maximum and minimum values of the function are 4 and -1.4, and the 

ranges of values to classify the companies are: 
• B < 0.5 – imminent bankruptcy; 
• 0.5 < B < 1.1 - limited area; 
• 1.1 < B < 2 - intermediate zone; 
• B > 2 - favorable area. 
8) In 2002, I. Anghel carries out a complex study of the bankruptcy risk, 

creating a score function based on a sample of 276 enterprises. The proportions of 
companies in the sample were 60% non-bankrupt and 40% bankrupt, as they belonged 
to 12 industries. Anghel classified the financial ratios tested into five groups: 

- turnover rates; 
- rates of liquidity; 
- rates of indebtedness; 
- rates of return; 

                                                      
49 G. Băileşteanu, Diagnostic, risc şi eficienţă în afaceri,  ediţia a III-a, Ed. Mirton, Timişoara, 
2005, pag. 294 
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- other economic and financial information. 
Anghel carried out a discriminant analysis of the financial ratios and finally 

kept four financial ratios in order to develop the score function: the return on revenue 
(X1), the coverage of debts with cash-flow (X2), the ratio of debts against the assets (X3) 
and the period for payment the debts (X4), which have been aggregated in the following 
score function: 

.X0.0105-X1427.5-X3932.5+X3718.6+676.5=A 4321  
Depending on the score obtained by applying this function, the companies can 

be classified into three groups: 
• if A < 0 - bankruptcy / failure state; 
• if A ∈  [0; 2.05] - area of uncertainty; 
• if A > 2.05 - non-bankruptcy state. 
The development of scoring functions for the prediction and the analysis of 

bankruptcy for Romanian enterprises is difficult, because the bankruptcy process in 
Romania has different characteristics as compared with most countries where such 
models have been created. Thus, in Romania there is a large number of companies in 
financial distress, but very few against whom the legal proceedings for bankruptcy were 
initiated. Also, the possibility of manipulating the financial statements by the 
management of companies and the difficult access to sources of information hampers 
the development of new scoring functions. 

4. Conclusions  
The score methods allow an overall assessment of the risk of bankruptcy for the 

enterprises, based on a set of financial ratios that are affected by the degradation of the 
financial position. The scoring functions, being elaborated with the help of the statistics 
methodology, may be used for both the retrospective and the prospective analysis of the 
bankruptcy risk. This is possible as the degradation of the financial position usually 
occurs gradually over time and the evolution of the score of a company can point out its 
financial difficulties. 

The scoring functions also allow the assessment of the bankruptcy risk by both 
the company managers and by the external stakeholders and in particular by the 
creditors. From this point of view, the scoring methods are among the few tools to 
evaluate the risk of bankruptcy that can be used by third parties, given their difficulty to 
access the information within a company. 

Although used successfully for almost half a century, due to ease of 
implementation and the high degree of objectivity, the scoring method has some 
disadvantages, which limits its application in time and space. Thus, one of the limits is 
that is applicable only in the industry from which the sample is drawn and only as long 
as the economic conditions remain unchanged. The periods of economic instability 
affect, however, the correlations considered in determining the score function and 
require a regular updating of models in order to adapt them to the new economic and 
financial conditions. 

Another limit of the research in this field is that the bankruptcy process has a 
legal connotation, meaning that its start more depends on lenders or banks and not on 
the company's financial statements. Moreover, the credit institutions may decide to 
continue the financial support of an enterprise with difficulties, which will prevent its 
bankruptcy. Under these circumstances, the losses that the investors may suffer as a 



 

 

160 

Revista Tinerilor Economişti (The Young Economists Journal)

result of a wrong diagnosis of the position of an enterprise can be significant and 
irretrievable. 

Another problem is the statistical methodology used to determine the 
bankruptcy prediction models. Most researchers have taken into account an equal share 
of bankrupt and viable enterprises in the sample, while in reality the bankrupt 
companies have a low share in the national economy. 

A multitude of other factors such as the age of companies, their size, the 
industry, the difficulties in assessing some assets, the measures taken to solve the 
problems are among the variables that influence the risk of bankruptcy and which are 
not taken into account by the statistical methods. However, the errors of diagnostic 
induced by the models can lead to erroneous classification of a non-bankrupt enterprise 
as being bankrupt, which may lead to cutting the relationship with the creditors. 
Conversely, a business in distress classified as viable can lead to major financial losses 
for creditors, shareholders and the state. 

At the same time, the financial rates taken into account in determining the 
models were chosen, often, on a subjective basis, depending on the rates most 
frequently used in the literature and considered as the most discriminating. These rates 
are derived, usually of the indicators published by companies in their financial 
statements and do not provide an objective information, considering the risk of 
manipulation by the company management in order to present a more favorable 
financial position. 

To increase the relevance of the score functions, it should be developed more 
score functions, by taking into account the industry and the size of companies, large or 
small. As well, it is required a statistical testing of a large number of financial ratios to 
select those who are the most discriminant for the non-bankrupt and bankrupt 
companies. It should be also included in the model, in addition to the financial rates, 
other variables that influence the risk of bankruptcy, like the size (assessed by assets, 
output, number of employees etc.) or subjective variables, like the quality of 
management, of staff etc., which creates new problems related to their assessment and 
their integration into the model. 
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Abstract: This study investigates causality of weather and its impact on 
the The S&P/ASX All Australian 200 Index has been selected as a proxy 
for the Australian capital market. The index consists exclusively of 
Australian domiciled companies. Following previous research in behaviour 
finance in the area of environmental psychology, the data set covers 
temperature, quality temperature, wet bulb temperature, quality wet bulb 
temperature, humidity, pressure and vapour pressure variables. The data 
set is a daily return time series and covers the period between 01.06.1992 
and 07.07.2006, and was provided by the Australian Bureau of 
Meteorology. Sydney’s meteorological data was selected to match the 
stocks that were traded on the Australian Stock Exchange, because 
Sydney is generally accepted as the financial centre of Australia. Capital 
market data is of daily–end closing share prices traded on the Australian 
Stock Exchange and was collected from DataStreem’s database. 

JEL classification: G14, G10. 

Key words: Weather Effect, Granger Causality Test, Australian Stock 
Exchange, ARCH and GARCH Tests 

1. INTRODUCTION 
An acceptance of investors’ rationality causes a deep divide in opinions 

between the Efficient Market Hypothesis (EMH) and Behavioural Finance (BF). EMH 
was developed by Nobel Laureate Samuelson (1965) and Fama (1970), and formed the 
term ‘efficient market’ in economical and financial literature. An efficient market was 
defined as a market which ‘adjusts rapidly to new information’ (Fama et al, 1969). 
Fama assumes that in an active market of a large number of well-informed and 
intelligent investors, stocks will be appropriately priced and will reflect all available 
information. EMH assumes that investors behave rationally and predictably.  

In contrast, Behavioural Finance assumes that investors may be irrational, and 
takes into account human psychology to explain security prices valuation and market 
anomalies. There are many instances where emotion and psychology influence 
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investors, causing them to behave in unpredictably or irrational ways. The capital 
market’s ‘mood’ can turn from irritable to euphoric and it can react hastily one day and 
make amends the next (McClure, 2009). Investors are subject to various psychological 
and behaviour biases including overconfidence, loss aversion and mood fluctuation, and 
they can also be affected by factors such as culture, weather, religion and others.  

There is significant scientific evidence showing that human psychology is 
affected by weather-related factors including sunny or cloudy days, as well as rainy or 
windy days, and therefore, that these factors influence people’s moods, thinking and 
judgement. After a period of heavy rain, people tend to have a greater sense of well 
being. Conversely, during periods of strong wind, people’s moods tend to be more 
negative. In addition, there are a variety of weather related factors which can influence 
human mental activity, such as atmospheric pressure, temperature, humidity and other 
factors. For example, a negative mood can be caused by a change in atmospheric 
pressure and high humidity. These alterations irritate human nerve endings and lead to 
general irritability, anxiety, fatigue and a lack of concentration (DiVito et al, 2005), and 
there is even more evidence to show how climatic factors affect the chemical balance of 
the human brain, consequently psychology and behaviour. 

There is a relation between human behaviour and environmental factors. Even 
though we cannot claim that environmental factors are unique in influencing human 
behavioural disorders, there is some evidence in the literature. Numerous studies in the 
area of environmental psychology have investigated the influence of exposure to 
sunlight on suicidal behaviour (Petridou et al, 2002; Preti, 1998), correlation between 
genetic and environmental factors (Jang et al, 1998), lunar effects on the human body 
and mind, and consequently human psychology and behaviour (Yuan, Zheng and Zhu, 
2005). 

If this information is considered to be accurate, it could be meaningful to 
investigate climate and weather effects on stock exchanges. Research in this area is 
rapidly expanding with very surprising results. Researchers reported that seasonal 
disorders, lunar phases, geomagnetic storms and other climate–related events show the 
greatest relationship to equity pricing (Dowling and Lucey, 2008; Kliger and Levy, 
2008; Yuan et al, 2006). Some researchers believe that sunshine puts people in a good 
mood (Saunders, 1993), consequently that people in a good mood are happier and make 
more optimistic choices. 

Recently, an increasing number of researchers in behavioral finance have 
empirically investigated the weather effect on an individual’s emotional state and 
mood, and hence, on investment decisions, by testing the different capital market 
indexes and stocks in different countries, regions and cities (Pardo and Valor, 2003; 
Loughran and Schultz, 2003; Dowling and Lucey, 2005; Tufan and Hamarat, 2004, 
2006; Borghesi, 2007; Chang et al, 2006, 2008; Forgas et al, 2008; Levy and Galili, 
2008, and others). While some research found a significant association between 
weather effect and returns, other research found an insignificant relationship.  

A limited number of empirical studies investigated the effect of weather related 
moods and feelings on  Australian stock returns (Worthington, 2006), and weather 
effects on the Australian capital market (Cao and Wei, 2005). Cao and Wei’s (2005) 
and Worthington’s (2006) results indicate no significant relationship between the 
weather and Australian market returns. 

However, there is no research that focuses on the causal direction between 
weather and stock returns, thus the present research attempts to fill this gap. The 
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purpose of this paper is to investigate whether or not the weather affects Australian 
share prices. This study contributes empirical findings on weather causality in 
Australian securities returns and discusses it from the Efficient Market Hypothesis and 
Behavioural Finance perspectives. The ARCH and GARCH time-series models and 
Granger Causality test relies on temporal predictability as evidence of causality have 
been applied, for more informative results.  

The remainder of the paper is organized as follows. Section 2 discusses the 
literature on how weather conditions affect human mood and behavior, and 
consequently stock returns. Section 3 describes the data and discusses the methodology. 
Section 4 gives empirical results, Section 5 discusses results, and the final section 
delivers conclusions and provides suggestions for future research. 

2. LITERATURE REVIEW 
EMH is based on the assumption that individuals act rationally and consider all 

available information in the decision-making process. However, many examples of 
irrational behaviour and repeated errors in judgment have been documented in 
academic studies. The weather effect on the human body and mind, and consequently 
on psychology and behavior is suggested empirically in psychological and biological 
literature. For example, Petridou et al, (2001) investigated whether exposure to 
sunshine can trigger suicidal behaviour. They applied data from 29 OECD countries 
and reported a remarkably consistent pattern of seasonality, with peak incidence around 
June in the northern hemisphere and December in the southern hemisphere.  

Preti (1998) conducted research into the direct influence of climate on suicidal 
behaviour, focussing on Italy. The researcher reported that the distribution of deaths by 
suicide shows a negative relationship to mean yearly temperature values, maximum and 
minimum, and with sun exposure indicators, and a positive, but less significant 
relationship to rainfall values. Considering climatic variables as a whole, stepwise 
regression identifies three relevant factors, with significant relationships to suicide 
rates, humidity grade, rainfall mean and sunlight exposure.  

Numerous psychological studies suggest that mood can affect human judgment 
and behavior (Frijda, 1988; Schwarz and Bless, 1991). Research undertaken by Forgas 
et al, (2008) examined the relationship between mood and weather, and found that 
weather-induced negative mood improved memory accuracy.  

Borghesi (2007) tested price efficiency in the National Football League (NFL) 
point spread betting market by examining the relationship between betting line forecast 
errors and game day temperatures for 5463 NFL games from 1981 to 2004. As a result, 
they reported that game day temperature significantly affects team performance and that 
this information is not efficiently incorporated into betting prices. 

Behaviour finance literature documents evidence on the effects of mood on 
assets prices (Avery and Chevalier, 1999, Kamstra et al, 2000). Recently, an increasing 
number of researchers in behavioural finance have investigated weather and its impact 
on the equity markets. Saunders (1993) was the first to examine the influence of the 
weather on asset returns. He examined the Dow-Jones Industrial Average (DJIA), the 
New York Stock Exchange (NYSE) and the American Stock Exchange (AMEX). He 
found that the weather in New York City is significantly correlated to the daily returns 
of the three major stock indices.  

Kramer and Runde (1997) also replicated Saunders’ study in the German stock 
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market and found that the level of cloud cover over Frankfurt did not influence the 
shares of the Deutscher Aktien Index. The same result has been reported by Pardo and 
Valor (2003) for the Madrid Stock Exchange, and Loughran and Schultz (2003) for 
portfolios of the Nasdaq share index, based on companies located in 26 U.S. cities. Keef 
and Roush (2003) found the absence of a cloud-cover effect but reported a marginal 
negative temperature effect and strong negative wind effect. 

Later, Keef and Roush (2003; 2005) again confirmed that prices of stock 
indices are negatively influenced by wind factor. They are ‘inclined to the view that the 
evidence of the influence of cloud cover on stock return remains mixed’ (p.436). 
Dowling and Lucey (2005) examined weather influence for the Irish Stock Exchange 
and concluded that rain was a minor, but significant, influence. 

Chang, Nieh, Yang and Yang (2005) investigated the effect of economically 
neutral behaviour variables on equity returns in Taiwan. They found that temperature 
and cloud cover are two important weather factors that affect stock returns. They 
suggested that weather factors should be included in assets pricing models. 

Tufan and Hamarat (2004, 2006) delivered Turkish case evidence regarding the 
weather effect on the Turkish stock exchange (ISE) and reported evidence favouring the 
effects of days when snow fell. Their research results claimed that cloudy and rainy 
days do not have any affect on ISE 100 Index returns, whilst snowy days do have an 
effect. 

Kamstra et al, (2003), Garrett et al, (2005) and Kliger and Levy (2008) 
investigated the effect of seasonal affective disorders on capital market returns. 
Kamstra et al, (2003) studied the number of hours of potential daylight, which is less in 
winter, and found that it is significantly related to returns on international equity 
indices. Garrett et al, (2005) applied a conditional CAPM to investigate the U.S., 
Sweden, New Zealand, the U.K., Japan and Australia. They concluded that seasonal 
affective disorders come with seasonal depression, which was reflected by changing 
risk premiums. Moreover, Hirshlefer and Shumway (2003) attempted to examine 
weather-equity returns’ relationship in 26 international markets and found a negative 
relationship for Milan, Rio de Janeiro and Vienna.  

Dowling and Lucey (2008) investigated the relationship between seven mood-
proxy variables which are constructed from weather data (precipitation, temperature, 
wind, geomagnetic storms) and biorhythm data (seasonal affective disorders, daylight 
savings time changes, lunar phases) and a global equity dataset using a variety of group 
tests. The researchers reported that seasonal affective disorders and low temperatures 
show the greatest relationship to equity pricing. Levy and Galili (2008) investigated the 
effect of cloudy days on 3000 individual investors. In this study, the degree of cloud 
cover has been used as a proxy for mood, and the study found that three subgroups of 
investors (male, young and poor) are more likely to be net buyers of equity on cloudy 
days.  

Cao and Wei (2005) examined the international weather effect in six markets 
including Australia, and found that the temperature was not a significant factor for the 
Australian market. However, they suggested that extreme temperatures could increase 
risk-taking, and hence, cause higher returns. Worthington (2006) examined the impact 
of weather-related moods and feelings on the Australian stock market over 47 years 
from 1958 to 2005. He used a wide range of weather indicators and proxies for mood 
and feeling factors. His results indicate that there is no statistically significant 
relationship between the weather and Australian market returns, however, he is 
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concerned about the inadequacies of the empirical techniques employed in this area. 
Following Loughran and Schultz (2004), and Goetzmann and Zhu (2005), Worthington 
suggested direct modeling investor decision making. 

Research in this area has been mainly undertaken in the United States and 
Europe, where data are more available. A limited amount of research has been 
conducted examining the weather effect on the Australian capital market; moreover, 
none of the studies address causation.  

3. DATA AND METHODOLOGY 

3.1 Data 
This study attempts to confirm or reject a causality of weather and its impact on 

the Australian capital market. The S&P/ASX All Australian 200 Index has been 
selected as a proxy for the Australian capital market. The S&P/ASX All Australian 200 
is a broad market index that consists exclusively of Australian domiciled companies.  

Following previous research in behaviour finance in the area of environmental 
psychology, the data set covers temperature, quality temperature, wet bulb temperature, 
quality wet bulb temperature, humidity, pressure and vapour pressure variables. The 
data set is a daily return time series and covers the period June 1, 1992 to July 7, 2006, 
and was provided by the Australian Bureau of Meteorology. Sydney’s meteorological 
data was selected to match the stocks that were traded on the Australian Stock 
Exchange, because Sydney is generally accepted as the financial centre of Australia. All 
missing (Sydney city) data has been replaced by data from Sydney airport’s 
meteorological station. 

capital market data is of daily–end closing share prices traded on the Australian 
Stock Exchange and was collected from DataStreem’s database. Daily stock returns are 
calculated with the formula; Rt= (Vt-Vt-1)/Vt-1. Here, Rt; indicates return in day t, Vt 
indicates closing price of day t while Vt-1 indicates closing price of day t-1.  

3.2. Methodology 
To examine a long term relationship between weather variables and S&P/ASX 

All Australian 200 Index returns and how this relationship has been formed, the 
following empirical model has been applied: 

110 εββ ++= tt TY        (1) 
Where, Y indicates return in time t, T indicates weather variables, ε indicates 

error term while β indicates parameters, respectively. 
To estimate the model, the following procedure has been applied: 

1. Jarque-Bera statistics have been used to test the null hypothesis that the 
residuals are normally distributed. 

2. Augmented Dickey-Fuller (ADF) statistics have been applied to test that time-
series data are stationary and co-integrated. 

3. ARCH and GARCH models have been used to identify the volatility of stock 
returns.  

4. The Granger Causality test has been employed to determine the causal 
relationship between weather and return on investment. 
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3.2.1. Jarque-Bera statistics 
The Jarque-Bera test is a two-sided goodness-of-fit test suitable for use when a fully-
specified null distribution is unknown and its parameters must be estimated. The test 
statistic is 

       (2) 
where n is the sample size, s is the sample skewness, and k is the sample kurtosis 
If the p-value is below the default significance level of 5%, and the test rejects 
the null hypothesis, then the distribution is normal.  

3.2.2.ADF Unit Root Test  
ADF Unit Root Test and regression model below (Gujarati 1995):  
 ttt uYY += −1ρ         (3) 

Where, Yt indicates index return in time t, Yt-1 indicates index return in time t-1 
while ut indicates stochastic error term. The same model has been applied to weather 
variables. In this model, ρ=1 indicates that the stochastic variable Yt has a unit root, so 
the series is known as a random walk. 

If the null hypothesis is rejected and series are stationary (or have been 
transformed to stationary), the assumption is that the series is integrated of order one. 
The degree of co-integration will be used as a lag coefficient in causality test. 

3.2.3.GARCH and ARCH Models 
The long-term relationship between weather and capital market return has been 

modelled as ARCH (1) and GARCH (1) processes. These processes maintain the 
essential characteristics of the ARCH (GARCH) effect, including an important 
persistence effect in volatility. Financial time series often exhibit volatility clustering or 
persistence, where large changes tend to follow large changes, and small changes tend 
to follow small changes. Volatility clustering, which is a type of heteroskedasticity, 
accounts for the excess kurtosis typically observed in financial data.  

ARCH(1) has been used since the conditional variance depends on only 
one lagged squared error. In the ARCH (1) model conditional variance of a 
shock at time t is a function of the squares of past shocks: 

h t t= + −ω α ε1 1
2

      (4) 
Where, h is the variance and ε is a ‘shock,’ ‘news’ or ‘error’. 
GARCH model is useful to examine the volatility of the series over time:   

h ht t t= + +− −ω α ε β1 1
2

1 1      (5)  
Where, the variance (ht) is a function of an intercept (ω), a shock from the prior 

period (α) and the variance from last period (β). 
If the S&P/ASX 200 Index has a variable variance, this could stem from 

weather variables and the weather factors could be Granger-cause stock returns. 

3.2.4.Granger Causality Test 
The existence of a co-integrating relationship among variables suggests that 

there must be Granger causality in at least one direction. It is not rational to expect that 
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returns on investment of the S&P/ASX200 Index could affect weather conditions. Thus, 
the one way relationship between weather variables and return on investment of the 
S&P/ASX200 Index has been determined: 
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Where, n indicates lags and it is being assumed no relationship (white noise) 
between tu1  and weather variables series error terms (which has not been given in the 

equation) tu2 (Granger 1969). Granger Causality Test is based on F statistics which 
were proven by Wald (Işığıçok, 1994): 

 )2/(
/)(

2; nmESS
nESSESS

F
ur

urr
nmn −

−
=−      (13) 

Where, ESS indicates the sum of error terms squares, ur indicates the model 
which is unrestricted, while r indicates the model which is restricted.  

If the computed F value exceeds the critical F value at the chosen level of 
significance (α) with (n;m-2n) degrees of freedom, the null hypothesis (H0) that there is 
no causality between the two series should be rejected. So, coefficients (or coefficient) 
in the model are statistically significant.  

4. EMPIRICAL ANALYSIS  

4.1 Descriptive Statistics and Pre-estimation Analysis 
The descriptive statistics of the weather variables and S&P/ASX200 Index 

returns are presented in Table 1. The descriptive statistics for weather-related variables 
indicates that the average temperature in Australia is around 21oC, maximum is around 
39oC and minimum is 8.5oC. The minimum of 2.2mb (millibars) and maximum of 
62.0mb indicate high changes in atmospheric pressure, but moderate fluctuation in 
humidity.  

The minimum of -6.78 per cent and maximum of 5.89 per cent show that daily 
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losses on return on investment are slightly higher than gains, on a daily basis. Also, a 
positive mean and median indicate a positive return on average. The high positive 
kurtosis indicates the possibility of a severe market reaction to events. 

Table 1. Descriptive Statistics 

Jarque-Bera (J-B) statistics have been used to test the null hypothesis that the 
data are from normal distribution. All J-B statistics are greater than the critical value 
5.99. Thus, the null hypothesis of normality is rejected. The return’s kurtosis of 7.30 
exceeds the value 3 of normal distribution, but skewness is less than + 1.00 due to the 
large sample size.  

4.2.Augment Dickey-Fuller Test (ADF) 
The ADF test has been used to test if the data are stationary and co-integrated. 

Augment Dickey-Fuller Test Statistics results are presented in Table 2. 

Table 2. Augmented Dickey-Fuller Test Statistics for all variables 
 

Exogenous 
Temperature 

1% level 5% level 10% level t-Statistic Prob.* 
Constant -3.431947 -2.862131 -2.567128 -5.840922  0.0000 

Constant, Linear 
Trend 

-3.960542 -3.411031 -3.127332 -5.854211  0.0000 

None -2.565593 -1.940910 -1.616641 -0.726992 0.4019 
 

Exogenous 
Quality Temperature  

1% level 5% level 10% level t-Statistic Prob.* 
Constant -3.431946 -2.862130 -2.567128 -6.948791 0.0000 

Constant, Linear 
Trend 

-3.960541 -3.411030 -3.127331 -6.979036 0.0000 

None -2.565593 -1.940910 -1.616642 -2.364890 0.0175 
 

Exogenous 
Wet bulb Temperature 

1% level 5% level 10% level t-Statistic Prob.* 
Constant -3.431946 -2.862131 -2.567128 -5.295731 0.0000 

Constant, Linear 
Trend 

-3.960542 -3.411031 -3.127332 -5.294090 0.0000 

None -2.565593 -1.940910 -1.616642 -0.984942 0.2912 
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Mean 21.21 11.31 15.90 55.76 1010.77 14.24 25.96 0.0033 
Median 21.00 12.00 15.90 56.00 1011.00 14.00 24.90 0.0002 
Maximum 38.70 24.00 26.10 99.00 1031.80 62.00 68.80 0.0589 
Minimum 8.50 -13.40 6.00 9.00 986.10 2.200 11.10 -0.0678 
Std. Dev. 4.23 5.71 3.71 16.49 7.34 5.01 7.04 0.0077 
Skewness 0.34 -0.51 0.03 -0.00 -0.25 0.40 1.13 -0.3369 
Kurtosis 3.13 2.84 2.23 2.99 2.97 4.50 5.61 7.3037 
Jarque-Bera 74.30 166.40 91.53 0.001 39.69 451.93 1836.17 2909.73 
Probability 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.99 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 
Sum 78074.3 41656.4 58536.8 205218 3719641. 52412.8 95557.7 1.2127 
Sum Sq. Dev. 65896.2 120015.6 50765.9 1000850 198658.3 92355.3 182559.8 0.2209 
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Exogenous 

Quality Wet bulb 
1% level 5% level 10% level t-Statistic Prob.* 

Constant -3.431942 -2.862129 -2.567127 -30.13833 0.0000 
Constant, Linear 

Trend 
-3.960535 -3.411027 -3.127330 -30.15889 0.0000 

None -2.565593 -1.940910 -1.616641 -1.654385 0.0927 
 

Exogenous 
Humidity 

1% level 5% level 10% level t-Statistic Prob.* 
Constant -3.431943 -2.862129 -2.567127 -17.57673 0.0000 

Constant, Linear 
Trend 

-3.960537 -3.411028 -3.127330 -17.75911 0.0000 

None -2.565595 -1.940911 -1.616641 0.255220 0.7601 
 

Exogenous 
Pressure 

1% level 5% level 10% level t-Statistic Prob.* 
Constant -3.431946 -2.862130 -2.567128 -6.762404 0.0000 

Constant, Linear 
Trend 

-3.960541 -3.411030 -3.127331 -6.788669 0.0000 

None -2.565593 -1.940910 -1.616641 -1.578393 0.1078 
 

Exogenous 
Vapour Pressure 

1% level 5% level 10% level t-Statistic Prob.* 
Constant -3.431947 -2.862131 -2.567128 -6.085786  0.0000 

Constant, Linear 
Trend 

-3.960542 -3.411031 -3.127332 -6.107463 0.0000 

None -2.565593 -1.940910 -1.616641 -1.152124 0.2278 
 

Exogenous 
ASX Return 

1% level 5% level 10% level t-Statistic Prob.* 
Constant -3.431941 -2.862128 -2.567127 -58.98151  0.0001 

Constant, Linear 
Trend 

-3.960534 -3.411027 -3.127329 -58.97828  0.0000 

None -2.565591 -1.940910 -1.616642 -58.88553  0.0001 
 *MacKinnon (1996) one-sided p-values. 

The returns could in general be affected by a time trend, a constant and a unit 
root. The ADF test has also been used to test for these possibilities and has been 
performed with a linear trend and constant, constant alone and with no constant/trend. 
The null hypothesis of a unit root has been applied to the S&P/ASX200 Index return: 

H0: ASX2000 returns have a unit root and are nonstationary, or 
 H0: 1,0 == ρδ i .  

H1: ASX2000 returns have no unit root and are stationary, or H1: 0≠iδ . 
The null hypothesis of a unit root and nonstationary data has been tested for all 

weather variables separately: 
H0: Weather variables have a unit root and are stationary, or 
H0: 1,0 == ρδ i . 

 H1: Weather variables have no unit root and are stationary, or H1: 0≠iδ .  
The absolute value of the τ statistic exceeds the DF absolute 1% (-3.95), 5% (-

3.41) and 10% (-3.127) critical τ values. However, except temperature, quality wet bulb 
(10% significance) all series are not stationary in ‘none’ conditions. The S&P/ASX200 
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Index returns series have been found stationary for all conditions after taking first 
differences into account. 

The null hypothesis of a unit root has been rejected and that means that all the 
variables do not have the unit root problem and the series are stationary. Moreover, 
since all time series are stationary, the assumption is that the series is integrated in the 
order of one. The degree of co-integration 1 will be used as a lag coefficient in the 
causality test. 

4.3 ARCH/ GARCH Effects and Granger Causality Test 
The volatility of the return has been tested by applying ARCH (1) and GARCH 

(1) models. Results from Table 3 indicate that intercept is statistically significant (t 
=5.11, p = .000) and represents the fact that an average daily return on the 
S&P/ASX200 Index is 1.33 per cent. ARCH (1), up to 1 lag, is statistically significant (t 
=13.59, p =.000). This indicates that the current square of error term is statistically 
correlated with the previous day squared of error terms. GARCH (1) up to one lag 
variance of error term is also statistically significant and indicates volatility clustering. 
Variation in the returns today is dependent upon variation and squared error term of the 
preceding trading day.  

Table 3. The Results of ARCH and GARCH Tests 
Dependent Variable: ASX2000 return 

Method: ML - ARCH (Marquardt) 
Sample: 1 3680 

Included observations: 3680 
Convergence achieved after 12 iterations 

Variance backcast: ON 
 Coefficient Std. Error z-Statistic Prob. 
 Variance Equation 

C 1.33E-06 2.61E-07 5.107223 0.0000 
ARCH(1) 0.070750 0.005206 13.59129 0.0000 

GARCH(1) 0.908652 0.008358 108.7152 0.0000 
R-squared -0.001808 Mean dependent var 0.000330 

Adjusted R-squared -0.002353 S.D. dependent var 0.007750 
S.E. of regression 0.007759 Akaike info criterion -6.995989 
Sum squared resid 0.221381 Schwarz criterion -6.990926 

Log likelihood 12875.62 Durbin-Watson stat 1.941033 
Thus, ARCH has been found to be significant and has been interpreted to show 

that today’s volatility (squared error term) has impact over the next trading day’s 
volatility. GARCH can be interpreted as today’s volatility (variance of error term) is 
correlated with the previous trading day’s volatility (with both squared error term and 
variance). The sum of ARCH (1) and GARCH (1) coefficient nearby 1 (0.97) which is 
statistically significant, indicates that the S&P/ASX200 Index has persistent volatility 
and variable variance. The Granger Causality test could reveal whether the variance 
stems from weather variables and Granger cause S&P/ASX200 Index returns. 

One way direction of causality should be present from weather variables to 
S&P/ASX200 Index returns, and a one day lag for stationary related daily variables 
should be used. Testing causality involves using F-tests to determine whether lagged 
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information on weather-related variables provides any statistically significant 
information about returns. It is assumed that the estimated coefficients on the lagged 
weather-related variables are statistically indifferent from zero, as a group indicates 
there is no causality between two series (Gujarati 2001; 621).  

The values of F statistics suggest that, with the exception of humidity, weather 
variables do not cause S&P/ASX200 Index returns. The results in Table 4 indicate that 
only humidity affects S&P/ASX200 Index returns at a 10 per cent level of significance.  

Table 4. Granger Causality Test Results (1 Lag) 
Null Hypothesis: Obs F-

Statistic 
Probabilit

y 
TEMPERATURE does not Granger Cause ASX200 RETURN 3679  0.19142  0.66177 

QUALITY TEMPERATURE does not Granger Cause 
ASX2000 RETURN 

3679  1.50619  0.21980 

WET BULB T does not Granger Cause ASX200 RETURN 3679  1.06009  0.30326 
QUAL.WET B does not Granger Cause ASX200 RETURN 3679  1.10131  0.29405 

HUMIDITY does not Granger Cause ASX200 RETURN 3679  2.97973  0.08440* 
PRESSURE does not Granger Cause ASX2000 RETURN 3679  1.22423  0.26860 
VAPOUR PRESSURE does not Granger Cause ASX2000 

RETURN 
3679  0.18178  0.66987 

* There is one way Granger causality from the humidity variable to ASX200 return 
series (10%). 
In other words, unidirectional causality from humidity Ht to S&P/ASX200 

Index returns is indicated if the estimated coefficients on the lagged Ht are statistically 
different from zero as a group (i.e. 0≠∑ iα ) and there is causality between the two 
series, at least from Ht to S&P/ASX200 Index returns.  

5. DISCUSSION 
Thus, the results from one way Granger causality suggest that past values of 

weather- related variables do not lead market behaviour, with the exception of 
humidity. Australia experiences high humidity all year round, but has an extremely 
humid wet season from December to April. Under conditions of high humidity, the 
body’s efforts to maintain an acceptable body temperature may be significantly 
impaired. Blood circulation at the body’s surface cannot shed heat by conduction to the 
air and a condition called hyperpyrexia can result. With so much blood going to the 
external surface of the body, relatively less goes to active muscles, the brain and other 
internal organs. Physical strength declines and fatigue occurs sooner than it would 
otherwise. Alertness and mental capacity may also be affected. The resulting condition 
is called heat stroke or hyperthermia. Therefore, high humidity could have a negative 
impact on physical and psychological conditions and consequently, could influence 
investors’ decision-making processes. 

However, humidity is an important metric used in forecasting weather. Weather 
has always played an important role in the economy and could have a significant impact 
on business activities. Every sector of the economy has some sort of weather 
sensitivity. Extreme weather events like heat-waves, torrential rain and freezing cold 
are bad for business, and bad weather can decrease productivity, lower profits, and 
increase the costs of running businesses. However for some companies, bad weather in 
the traditional sense of cold, grey and rainy days can be actually be good for business. 
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The Australian economy is also exposed to weather conditions and its 
variability. The Australian S&P/ASX200 Index includes companies from the major 
weather sensitive sectors of the economy such as energy suppliers, transportation 
systems and others that are heavily dependent on weather and weather forecasting. 
Thus, there is a high possibility that investors do actually incorporate weather-related 
information in their decision-making processes. 

Thus, on one hand, capital markets could respond to new weather-related 
information and incorporate this information in the stock valuation process. On other 
hand, stock prices could be affected by the mental or physical state of investors caused 
by weather conditions. People are ‘rational’ in standard finance and they are ‘normal’ in 
behavioral finance. Rational people have perfect self-control, and they are always 
averse to risk and never averse to regret. However, normal people do not always follow 
that pattern (Statman, 1999).  

The Efficient Market Hypothesis is associated with idea of ‘random walk’, 
which is used in financial literature to characterise the price series where all subsequent 
price changes represent random departures from previous prices. The logic of the 
random walk is that the information is immediately reflected in stock prices. The news 
is unpredictable, and thus price changes must be unpredictable and random. The 
importance of the EMH is that it justifies the use of movement in stock prices as the test 
of usefulness of financial and non-financial information. However, behavioural finance 
points to the existence of market bubbles and manias as examples of cases where 
human behavior may be the missing link that explains such market anomalies. This 
study suggests that Australian stock market returns are affected by weather; however, 
the way in which weather affects stock prices remains the question. 

6. CONCLUSION 
If modern finance relies on two key assumptions: rational people and a ‘fair 

price’ being determined by financial markets, behavioural finance examines the 
psychology underlying investors’ decisions to explain irrational behavior. Recent 
literature in behavioural finance investigated the effects of weather conditions on the 
emotional state of investors. This study investigated the hypothesis that the weather 
causes changes in Australian stock market returns. But contrary to previous research, 
this study found that the weather effect of humidity causes significant changes in 
Australian stock returns. 

Australia experiences high humidity throughout the year. High humidity could 
significantly affect physical and mental capacity and, consequently, could have an 
effect on financial trading activities and investment decision-making processes. 
Moreover, humidity is an important metric in weather forecasting. Weather has always 
played an important role in the economy and could significantly impact on business 
activities. The S&P/ASX 200 All Australian Index is a broad market index that includes 
Australian domicile companies as well as companies that depend on weather for their 
business.  

On one hand, the capital market could respond to new weather-related 
information and could incorporate this information in the stock valuation process. 
Alternatively, stock prices could be affected by the mental or physical changes in 
investors, caused by weather conditions. Does weather-related information have an 
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effect on stock prices? The answer is yes, it does. However, how weather–related 
information actually impacts on stock prices is a question for future research. 
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THE INFLUENCE OF THE MACROECONMIC SITUATION IN THE VALUE OF THE SYTEMATIC 

CREDIT RISK IN ALBANIA. AN STATISTICAL ANALYSIS 

Anila Mançka Ph. D  
University “Fan S. Noli” 
Faculty of Economy  
Korçë, Albania  

Abstract: The study presents the results of a statistical analysis of the 
macroeconomic impact in the credit risk in Albania. The purpose of the 
analysis is the determination of macroeconomic factors that had a 
significant impact on systematic credit risk in Albania. The analysis 
resulted that the depreciation of the currency in relation to the euro led to a 
worsening of financial situation of borrowers who have a loan in Euros, 
increasing the possibility of default loans. The world financial crisis has 
adversely affected our banking system, reducing the loans offered and 
worsening macroeconomic indicators. High inflation and GDP change also 
had a significant impact on the deterioration of the quality of the banking 
portfolio. By statistical analysis resulted in the period taken into account, 
the credit risk in Albania is not influenced by interest rates, export-imports, 
the unemployment rate and the exchange rate of the dollar. 

JEL classification: E02, E44, G01, G11, G21.  

Key words: financial crisis, modern portfolio theory, macroeconomic factors, credit 
risk factors, Albania banking system. 

1. Introduction 
It is very difficult measurement of the degree of vulnerability of the banking 

system against unexpected losses that may be caused by the process of loan payment. 
Efforts have been made to build empirical models that assess the extent of the impact of 
various macroeconomic factors on indicators measuring the quality of the banking 
system, namely the ratio of nonperforming loans to total loans. In curring loans from 
borrowers who can not turn them back or that late. These borrowers belonging to 
different economic groups develop their microeconomic activity at a time and in a 
certain space. Their behavior depends on and is influenced by the performance of basic 
indicators that characterize a country’s macroeconomic development. If such indicators 
show performance it is not conductive to the borrower, it will affect in one way or 
another loan payment also on the degree of credit and the latter would affect the quality 
of the banking system. Credit risk is measured by microanalysis, that determine 
unsystematic risk and macroanalysis, which asses systematic risk (Morton Glantz, 
2003). APT developed by Richard Roll and Stephen Ross (1976), was propagandized 
by CAPM and includes as a key tool survey systematic risk. The methodology adopts 
economic factors to explain investment returns. APT current research focus on more 
factorial statistical techniques as factor analysis to dismantle the total return on 
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investment in a separate part explained by external factors, each explains only a portion 
of the variance of total return on investment. The main factors are macroeconomic and 
include: industrial production (or market portfolio), changes in a default risk premium 
(measured by the differences in promised yields to maturity on Baa corporate bonds 
versus AAA), tuists in the yield curve (measured by the difference in promides yields to 
maturity on long and short term government bonds), unanticipated inflation, changes in 
the real rate (measured by the treasury bill rate minus consumer price index. Investment 
returns are affected by many underlying factors that affect the economy. Modifications 
of these factors affecting investments returns in many ways being conditioned on how 
the return of investment is influenced by any factor. More factorial statistical techniques 
as factor analysis, break up the total return of the vehicle in separate parts, which 
explains a part of total return variance the vehicle. The formula for price arbitrage 
model is given: 

[ ] [ ] [ ]fjfjfjfj RRERRERRERRE −+−+−+= )()()()( 332211 βββ  
)( jRE - expected return;  fR  – risk-free rate; 321 ,, jjj βββ – sensitivities 

of investment to factors 1,2,3. 
Factor 1 could be the sensitivity of investment to industrial production, factor 2 

may be sensitivity to changes in the default risk premium, the factor 3 may measure the 
response of investment to unanticipated inflation or twists in the yield curve. APT 
knowledge and techniques related to help bank managers to identify these risks. Tom 
Wilson and McKinsey and Company developed the “Credit Portfolio View” a very 
factorial model for measuring credit risk. This model may be useful to provide the 
default probability distribution and the possibility of deterioration of class credit to 
various sectors of industry and individual states. Credit Portfolio View takes into 
account the dependence that exists between the probability of default and deterioration 
of class credit to the economy. When the economy is in trouble the possibility of default 
of the companies and credit deterioration of classes increased, and the opposite happens 
when the economy is emerging. Economic slow increases cause more deterioration of 
credit classes and lower grades of credit have a high correlation with macroeconomic 
factor. The quality of the banking system is influenced by macroeconomic factors 
separate, and which of them have a significant impact on credit risk depends on the 
characteristics of the country, economic sector and in the study period. Kern / Reitzig, 
2000, assessed in seven of the eight key sectors of German economy three 
macroeconomic factors systematically influence the deterioration of credit quality. 
These factors were: change in gross domestic product, unemployment rate and the 
exchange rate of domestic currency to the U.S. dollar. Bostjan Aver, 2007, determined 
that the systematic risk of bank loan portfolio in Slovenia influenced more by interest 
rates, short, medium and long term banking institutions in that country, the 
unemployment rate and stock index trading. The quality of the banking system less 
affected by imports, exports, exchange rate, the change of GDP or the inflation rate.  

2. Purpose and Objectives  
The main purpose of this study is to analyze the trend of credit risk. Further 

using reliable date nationally and internationally, the study aims to analyze the 
relationship that exists between macroeconomic indicator and the quality of banking 
system credit. The main purpose of statistical analysis is the determination of 
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macroeconomic factors affecting the value of portfolio credit risk banking. Search 
results have confirmed the main hypothesis that certain macroeconomic factors have a 
significant impact on the credit risk of the banking system. The study focuses on two 
main directions. First we will give our assessments about the performance of credit risk 
in our banking system by identifying some important moments of time have 
significantly affected the tendency of non-performing loans. Secondly we will study the 
relationship that exists between credit risk, as measured by the ratio of nonperforming 
loans to total loans, and some key macroeconomic indicators. To achieve these goals in 
the study defined the following objectives: 1. To analyze and evaluate existing 
applications macroeconomic impact on the value of credit risk. 2. To carry out a 
detailed analysis of the activity of banking lending and credit risk tendency. 3. To 
develop an enhanced model of linear relationship between credit risk and specific 
macroeconomic factors. 4. Empirically apply the extended model and investigate the 
impact of macroeconomic factors specific to the level of nonperforming loans in the 
banking system. 5. To draw the appropriate conclusions and make recommendations for 
banking sector in Albania.  

3. Charasteristics of the loan portfolio in Albania banking system  
In recent years, banking activity has been increasing sharply, the share of total 

banking system assets to GDP at the end of 2008 was 76.7% and at the end of 2009 was 
77.5%. (Table 1). Increased lending base has been identified as one of the most 
vigorous and exerts great influence not only in banking activities, but across the 
economy. 

Table no. 1 Total of assets and privat credits to GDP in Albania banking system  

 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 

Total of assets/GDP 54.6 54.5 53.8 56.8 60.9 70.8 76.8 76.7 77.5 

Total of credits/GDP 4.8 6.3 7.3 9.3 15.7 22.4 30.2 36.5 39.3 

Source: Bank of Albania 
Despite high rates of growth, Albania is one of the countries with the lowest 

ratio of private credit to GDP. (Table 2). Commercial banks have followed a 
conservative business strategy. The funds raised by the public, in the form of deposits 
are invested largely in Treasure bills or similar instruments, high security and low rate 
of return. Credit to the economy, for businesses and individuals has been limited, 
interest rates have been high and long procedures. Demand by borrowers has been more 
stable, high and upward trend. Most of the loan portfolio of business voice accorded 
credit, 65% and 31% individual business.  

Albania economy using foreign currencies, especially the euro and U.S. dollar 
is widespread. 75% of the portfolio is in foreign currency, where the euro is 84% and 
15% in dollar. Total foreign currency loans where the borrower’s incomes are in the 
domestic currency represents 37.7% of total credit, and 54% of the loan in foreign 
currency. While the euro loans where the borrower’s incomes are in the domestic 
currency represents 31.64% of total credit, and 45.6% of credit in foreign currency. 
This part of the loan represents a potential channel negative impact on the banking 
sector to adverse changes in exchange rate that can be accompanied with increase in 
indirect credit risk as a result of the difficulties of borrowers for the payment of the loan 
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obligation.  

Table no. 2 Credit to private sector/GDP for South-eastern Europe 

Credits/GDP 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009  

Turkey  15.8 20.8 25.4 30.6 38.7 40.8  

Romania 15.5 19.5 25.9 35.7 37.6 40  

Bulgaria  34.6 42.1 45.2 64.6 69.8 73.1  

Serbia 23.1 28.8 28.7 34.2 38 40.6  

FYR Macedonia 21.2 23.9 28.7 36.3 43.1 43.1  

Albania  9 14.8 21.3 29.1 35.2 36.6  

Ukraine  25.7 32.5 45.1 59.1 76.2 76.9  

Source: Transition Report 2010 “Recovery and reform”. 
Real estate loans have increased significantly. They represent 14.6% of GDP. 

Main features of the process for real estate lending recorded over the years are: the 
prevalence of real estate loans extended to individuals and the prevalence of real estate 
loans extended in foreign currency, Figure 1. 

 
The data to draw the graph from Albanian Bank 

Figure no. 1 Real estate loans to total of credits. September 2010.  
 

Regarding the intended use, credit for business is focused on “overdraft”, 
“purchase of equipment”, “real estate” and less “capital”. Figure 2 shows the evolution 
of the quality of the banking system, nonperforming loans to total loans, respectively. 
Obviously upward steadily indicator problem loans to total loans, tend to undergoing a 
significant growth in the third quarter of 2008. This strong growth was due to the 
negative effects of economic and financial crisis in our banking system. The value of 
the ratio problematic credit versus the total credit, 2005-2010, from one quarter to the 
next one, is approximately increased by 46.9%, an increase that is estimated statistically 
important, according to the t-statistic test. (t=8.595).  
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The data to draw the graph from Albanian Bank 

Figure no. 2 The tendency of bad credits 
 

Comparison of key indicators that measures the quality of loans portfolio in the 
region a test to the quality of loans portfolio in the banking system in Albania, at 
relatively good, compared to several regional countries such as Bulgaria, Romania, 
Lithuania etc..presented with the highest ratio of non-performing loans to total loans.  

 

Table no. 3 Bank nonperforming loans to total loans for Central and Eastern 
Europe 

 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 
Albania 2.3 3.1 3.4 6.6 10.5 12 

Bosnia and Hercegovina 5.3 4 3 3.1 5.9 7.1 
Bulgaria 2.2 2.2 2.1 2.5 6.4 7.8 
Croatia 6.2 5.2 4.8 4.9 7.8 8.8 
Estonia 0.2 0.2 0.4 1.9 5.2 5.6 
Hungary 2.3 2.6 2.3 3 6.7 7.8 
Lithuania 0.6 1 1 4.6 19.3 19.2 

FYR Macedonia 15 11.2 7.5 6.8 8.9 9.9 
Montenegro 5.3 2.9 3.2 7.2 13.5 14.9 

Romania 2.6 2.8 4 6.5 15.3 17.5 
Turkey 5 3.9 3.6 3.8 5.6 4.9 

Source: IBM “Global Financial Stability Report”, October 2010 

4. Establish hypothesis 
Based on the research of scientists and international experts, we will try to 

explore macroeconomic factors that influence the systematic credit risk in bank loan 
portfolio in Albania.  

Hypotheses that arise in this case is that certain macroeconomic factors have a 
significant impact on systematic risk of credit banking system.  

The form of the model is expressed as follows: 
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y = β0 + β1×CPI + β2×IntR + β3×ExchR + β4×FinK + β5×ΔGDP + ε 
Variables used are quarterly frequency. More specifically equation expresses 

the relationship between the dependent variable, systematic credit risk, as measured by 
the ratio non-performing loans to total loans, and other independent variables, which 
are: Consumer price index; The interest rate for short-term loan in ALL; Exchange rate 
ALL/EUR; The financial crisis and economic crisis; Change of the Gross Domestic 
Product. The model described above, on the right side of the equation expresses the 
combination of main macroeconomic indicators, so in some way the indicators reflect 
the general economic situation in which their activity even borrowers. The left side gets 
indicator value that gives loans to total loans, the quality of the banking system, or the 
probability of default of loans obtained, which in this case is conditioned by the 
macroeconomic environment. This means that the values of macroeconomic indicators 
in a given time determine this report. 

The hypothesis that needed to be verified are: 
H0: β1 = β2 = β3 = β4 = β5 = 0 
H1: At least one of the above parameters is different from zero. 

5. Research Methodology 
Date on potential factors that influence the systematic credit risk Albania’s 

banking system, we can find between the different macroeconomic variables, e.g. 
change in gross domestic product, interest rates on loans offered by our banking system, 
exchange rate, consumer price index and other external factors. In this case we have 
included the financial crisis and economic turmoil. The crisis had negative effects on 
macroeconomic situation in Albania, which was reflected in the level of nonperforming 
loans. Five different macroeconomic factors were selected to test the above hypothesis. 
The design of the model is presented in Figure 3 . Figure shows selected factors which 
influence the systematic credit risk and represent the input variables of the model used 
to determine their impact on the value of significant credit risk in the banking system. 

The following sources were used to data analysis: Institute of Statistics, 
Statistical Office; Database of the Bank of Albania (archives of financial date from the 
bulletin of the Bank of Albania, the statistical time series); Various materials published 
by the Bank of Albania. The analysis of Albania’s banking portfolio is mainly 
quantitative, since four independent variables used to describe the systematic risk 
factors banking loan portfolio are quantitative and only one of them, the crisis is 
variable quality.  

Variable quality, “Dummy”, takes the values 0 and 1. Specifically it takes the 
value 1 when our banking system was influenced by economic and financial crisis and 
0 for otherwise. For the period from the third quarter of 2008, a period when our 
banking system was affected by the effects of the crisis and until the third quarter of 
2010 quality factor “Dummy” takes the value 1 and the next period of time takes the 
value 0.  

The impact of specific macroeconomic factors in the value of credit risk in the 
banking system has been tested with the help of SPSS software and specific statistical 
methods, such as multiple linear regression. The model implemented is based on date 
from the various macroeconomic factors, credit risk, collected on quarterly basis, and 
quarterly data of credit risk banking portfolio from 1 January 2005 to September 30, 
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2010. Selected period of Albania’s banking system after 2004 was more suited for the 
analysis, since the period before 2005 complicates the analysis results. 

 
The inflation rate CPI Consumer price index 

GDP ΔGDP Change of the Gross Domestic Product 
The interest rate IntR The interest rate for short-term loan in ALL 
Exchange rate ExchR Exchange rate ALL/EUR 

Variable quality “Dummy” FinK The financial crisis and economic crisis 

Figure no.3 Systematic risk factors of the credit 
 

First: For lack of data. Data series for all variables analyzed was impossible be 
provided for the period before 2005, because some time series data were calculatedby 
taking as base year 2005, it does allow us to extend our analyze before 2005. 

Second: Methodological changes. By the year 1998 classification by categories 
and sub-performing loans was on some criteria that differ from today’s charts. In this 
way, their value is not comparable to the respective periods of time. 

Third: Change in credit policy. Pre-1997 loans were given on an professional 
and not competitive . This led to the creation of multiple credit problems of the Albania 
state-owned banks. At the end of 2004 was privatized major banks in Albania, the 
Savings Bank (Reiffasen Bank). Nonperforming loans of state banks privatized were 
transferred at the Credit Treatment Agency. After the 2004 series of bad loans was 
clean, devoid of the influence of above factors, by reflecting the impact of 
macroeconomic factors. Indicator of portfolio credit quality is measured by the ratio of 
nonperforming loans to total loans offered by the banking system. 

6. Results 
As a result we obtain a multiple linear regression model for five 

macroeconomic variables, the R Square coefficient 0.948, and the adjusted R. Square 
coefficient 0.932. This means that 93.2% of the variability of the systematic credit risk 
in the banking system in Albania explained by the model built, then the linear 
dependence of the five macroeconomic variables. The results obtained are presented in 
table below. Table 4 the results of the test “t” in connection with testing the 
characteristics of the influence of independent variables in credit risk.  

Control of the importance of connectivity. 
The value of fisher, “F” is 58.136, which is greater than the critical value. This 

fact rejects the hypothesis H0, and automatically accept as true the hypothesis H1. Well 
according to Fisher’s test we proved that among the dependent variable, credit risk, and 
independent variables, five macroeconomic variables, there is an important relationship, 
then at least one of the parameters, β, is different from zero. 

Criteria “t” for assessing the significance of individual parameters. The 
equation that we get is: 

y = -54.943 + 0.221×CPI + 0.125×IntR + 0.290×ExchR + 1.934×FinK -
0.086×ΔGDP + ε 
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Table no. 4 Results of multiple linear regression 

Model Summary 
Model R R Square Adjusted R Square Std. Error of the Estimate 

1 .974a .948 .932 .95787 

ANOVA 
Model Sum of Square df Mean square F Sig. 

Regression 266.706 5 53.341 58.136 .000a 
Residual 14.680 16 .918   

Total 281.386 21    

Coefficients 
Model Unstandardized 

coefficients 
Standardized 
Coefficients 

t Sig 95% Confidence 
Interval for B 

B Std. Error Beta Lower 
Bound 

Upper 
Bound 

Constant -54.943 8.188  -6.710 .000 -72.301 -37.586 
Exchange rate .290 .069 .462 4.188 .001 .143 .436 
Financial crisis 1.934 .753 .266 2.568 .021 .338 3.531 

CPI .221 .089 .288 2.482 .025 .032 .410 
ΔGDP -.086 .089 -.066 -.965 .349 -.275 .103 
Interest .125 .253 .032 .495 .627 -.411 .662 
 
However it is interesting to do a check next to assess which of the parameters 

(β) is important. As a statistical method to control the importance of individual 
parameters serving criteria “t”. By comparing the values of “t” critical for 21-5-1=15 
degrees of freedom and α=0.05 shows that the factors that influence more credit risk in 
the banking system, are the exchange rate, consumer price index, financial and 
economic crisis and changing world gross domestic product, while the interest rate on 
short-term loans in ALL has a small impact. 

7. Conclusions and recommendations  
Conclusions 
Results of the analysis of credit risk in the banking system in Albania for the 

period January 2005-September 2010 shows that specific macroeconomic factors have 
a significant impact on credit risk in the banking portfolio in Albania. Increased credit 
risk is influenced by: 

Increased inflation. The index of consumer price has increased consistently 
during the period. CPI rises averaging 65.5% from one quarter to another showing a 
statistically significant upward trend, F=266.822. This has adversely affected the 
quality deterioration of the banking portfolio. Inflation has weakened the financial 
viability of the economy and businesses. This is reflected in the form of reduced 
revenues and profits and delayed payment of loans or paying them, so the growth of 
nonperforming loans. 

Growth rate ALL/EUR. Currency depreciation and appreciation of the euro has 
negative impact on borrowers who have a loan in euro. Much of the credit offered by 
our banking GDP was system is in euro. For 2009, 75% of credit offered by our 
banking system was in euro. Loans in euro, where the income of borrowers are in ALL 
represents 31.64% of total credit and 45.6% of credit in euro. Then the growth of non-
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performing loans as a result of increased exchange rate ALL/EUR is expected. 
Exchange rate ALL/EUR increased averaging 36.1% from one quarter to another 
showing a statistically significant upward trend, F=6.793. After the crisis the exchange 
rate values are significantly larger than the average review period. Economic and 
financial crisis led to depreciation of the dollar against the euro, the reduction of income 
from remittances and reducing exports. These factors led to the significant appreciation 
of the euro against the All. But for borrowers who have a loan in euro this mean more 
money to repay installment credit as a result increases the possibility for delay of 
payment or dishonor of credit by increasing the number of non-performing loans of the 
banking portfolio. 

Fall of growth rate of GDP. This tendency was more after the financial crisis 
and economic turmoil. Trend statistically insignificant decrease of ΔGDP was caused 
by: difficulties encountered in the business of financing from the banking sector and 
lack of external demand, the fall in consumption and investment due to not lending the 
families from banks and reduction of income from remittances. The sectors most 
affected by the crisis and GDP were negatively affected construction and industry. 
Interest rates have had little impact on the deterioration of the indicators of problem 
loans to total loans. 

Problematic loans also increased significantly due to the negative effects of the 
financial crisis and economic turmoil. Global economic and financial crisis led to a 
reduction of incremental credit offered, in terms of the existence of uncertainly in 
financial markets in the world, the crisis of confidence among the leading operators in 
these markets, lack of liquidity and the bleak prospect for economic growth global. 
Reduce of incremental credit, an average of 50% led to increased non-performing loans 
ratio to total loans provided by our banking system. The crisis led to a deterioration of 
macroeconomic indicators, which negatively affected the deterioration of the 
microeconomic environment where individuals develop their activities and businesses. 
Growth rate ALL/EUR, increased unemployment, reduced income from remittances 
brought worsening financial situation of individuals and families being reflected in 
increased access to loans taken dishonor. On the other hand, businesses had significant 
difficulties associated with the reduction and profit or their bankruptcy. Businesses had 
problems to be financed by the banking sector due to the crisis, they also were faced 
with external demand reduction as a result of declining exports and increased financing 
costs due to public debt. All this led to increased non-payment of loans taken. In the 
period of slowing economic growth increases the possibility of deteriorating credit 
grade borrowers, especially lower grades of classification. This makes incremental 
loans are larger in this period. The upward growth were 8.8% before crisis and 106.2% 
pre-crisis, (Figure 5). One element to be noted is that the economic crisis led to a 
reduction of income from remittances. Lending to real estate occupies a significant part 
of GDP, and moreover it constitutes the majority of loans offered to individuals. So the 
deterioration of income from remittances has led directly to the deterioration of non-
performing loans ratios. 

Credit risk in the banking system for the period January 2005-September 2010 
is not affected by short-term interest rates, medium and long term loans in the euro, 
ALL of the banks in Albania, the unemployment rate, the performance of exports and 
imports, and the performance of exchange rate ALL/U.S. dollar. 

Banking system and banks show a positive reaction react to adverse economic 
situations. Continued growth of the consumer price index and exchange rate ALL/EUR, 
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has significantly influenced the deterioration of credit quality through reducing the 
financial viability of borrowers. On the other hand, the effects of global financial and 
economic crisis were felt, and in Albania, through restriction of lending activity, the fall 
of incremental gross domestic product and the deterioration of some other 
macroeconomic indicators. The latter contributed even more to the growth of loans in 
Albania. So, for the period 2005-2010, the banking system have had a significant 
impact on macroeconomic factors. 

 

 

 
The data to draw the graph from Albanian Bank 

Figure no. 5 The tendency of bad credits befor and after cirisis 
 
Although the results of the analysis show that specific economic factors have 

significant impact on the value of credit risk in the banking system, we can not consider 
the influence of other factors that were not explained analysis-limitations of model 
search. These factors represent those factors that may influence the risk of credit for the 
period reviewed. 

 
Recommendation 
The average CPI rates rising by a quarter to another, for the period 2005-2010, 

are higher than average upward exchange rate ALL/EUR (65.5% versus 36.1%). Yet 
examining the correlation coefficients of the model multi factorial, shows that the 
exchange rate ALL/EUR has more influence on the level of nonperforming loans in 
Albania for the period 2005-2010. The instability of exchange rate variation explains 
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72.3% of credit risk, while the volatility of CPI variation explained 52.7% of credit risk. 
This is explained by the fact that the bulk of the loans offered by our banking system 
are in euro and it is evident that a portion of borrowers Albanians have a mismatch 
between the credit and currency inflows of income. Reports “unhedged” have been 
3.74%, 5.7% and 9.6% respectively for the years 2007, 2008 and 2009. Albanian 
borrowers have preferred this option because of lower interest rates in euro loan and 
trust for greater durability of the euro. This has led to greater impact and assessment of 
the euro in the deterioration of portfolio quality banking system. Therefore we conclude 
that the banking system is highly exposed to exchange rate volatility ALL/EUR, with 
directly affects the quality of our banking loan portfolio. For this reason, banks should 
implement a more balanced policy lending by increasing the share of loans in national 
currency. They can give loans in EURO to persons who have income flowing to the 
euro. It should also managed to net foreign exchange position of banks’ balance sheets, 
which is currently low value, significantly limiting the size of possible losses. 

One other important factor that can affect the credit quality of the banking 
portfolio price is volatility of real estate. A reduction in the price of real estate affects 
the collateral value of real estate loans, exposing banks to big losses. U.S. credit crunch 
should be taught to our bankers. They need to give important qualitative analysis of the 
borrower, assessing current flows and future cash should not rely solely on physical 
collateral. Growth of loans to real estate and its dominance to total loans exposes banks 
to risk real estate depreciation. 

Based on the forecasts of macroeconomic indicators expected deterioration of 
portfolio quality indicators banking. Therefore, banks seem to establish sufficient 
reserves for the risk of loan losses. Relying on the portfolio of loans banks have to 
identify clients with problems of temporary and surmountable by creating policies to 
support and increase the likelihood of payment. As for clients who are assessed with 
low chance of repayment of the loan, banks must follow legal procedures for the 
execution of guarantees and collateral to recover a greater amount of the loan. For new 
loans based on the experience of banks with problems faced in the loan portfolio and 
the reasons it is necessary to have a better distribution sector and a more reasonable 
balance between public and private project, and between business enterprises or 
families, between forms of giving credit in ALL or in foreign currency etc. being 
directed lending in order to minimize the exposure of banks to more problematic forms 
and low concentration in its entirety. 

The results of our analysis may be applicable to other financial institutions, 
insurance companies, pension funds etc. the risk management of their financial 
investments. They may be applicable to special economic sectors, e.g. analysis can be 
made of the impact of macroeconomic factors in sector loans to trade, or construction, 
etc. They may be applicable to the loan portfolio by currency, e.g. analysis can be made 
of the impact of macroeconomic factors on credit loans in foreign currency or ALL. Or 
the results of our analysis may be applicable to the loan portfolio by purpose of use, 
analysis can be made of the impact of macroeconomic factors in credit loans for real 
estate, and finally the results of our analysis may be applicable to the loan portfolio by 
subject, business or individual, according to the schedule, etc. 

Since the banking system appeared positive feedback on the macroeconomic 
situation in the country, banks should stress the stress-test analysis. This analysis 
assesses the various scenarios the main macroeconomic indicators and based on the 
probability of occurrence of these scenarios take measures to cope with the loss of 
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various banking portfolio. Banks should strive to be the analysis more accurate, more 
frequent and performed on more advanced forecasting programs.  
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Abstract: Business intelligence (BI) is a broad category of applications 
and technologies for gathering, storing, analyzing, and providing access to 
data to help enterprise users make better business decisions. BI 
applications include the activities of decision support systems, query and 
reporting, online analytical processing (OLAP), statistical analysis, 
forecasting and data mining. In this article, I will present a BI solution, 
implemented through QlikView Application, thanks to which it is possible to 
monitor the company sales (by establishing the performance pointers). 

JEL classification: M15, M21 

Key words: business intelligence, QlickView, management, sales analyses, reports, 
statistics  

1. Introduction  
Business intelligence is an umbrella term that refers to a variety of software 

applications used to analyze an organization’s raw data. BI as a discipline is made up of 
several related activities, including data mining, online analytical processing, querying 
and reporting. 

Companies use BI to improve decision making, cut costs and identify new 
business opportunities. BI is more than just corporate reporting and more than a set of 
tools to coax data out of enterprise systems. An essential facility associated with the BI 
Systems is their capacity to connect themselves simultaneously and coherently to many 
data bases, which may be different operational systems (accounting, ERP, CRM, SCM, 
etc), results of many market researches, activity and access logs, or anything that can be 
relevant to the beneficiary organisation, general structured information, but available in 
varied formats, from text files to data base structures. 

The Business Intelligence solution used accomplishes the following: 
- marketing analyses – demographic analyses using information about the 

customers and sales records, price sensitivity, preferences for products. The usage of 
this information can lead to a better planning of the marketing campaigns and their 
effect can be measured. 

- sales analyses – identifying tendencies, seasonal analysis, associations 
between products. By means of this information sales goals can be set and the progress 
can be measured in relation with the goals. 

When charting a course for BI, companies should first analyze the way they 
make decisions and consider the information that executives need to facilitate more 
confident and more rapid decision-making, as well as how they'd like that information 
presented to them (for example, as a report, a chart, online, hard copy). Discussions of 
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decision making will drive what information companies need to collect, analyze and 
publish in their BI systems..  

2. Objectives  
Most companies collect a large amount of data from their business operations. 

To keep track of that information, a business and would need to use a wide range of 
software programs, such as Excel, Access and different database applications for 
various departments throughout their organization. Using multiple software programs 
makes it difficult to retrieve information in a timely manner and to perform analysis of 
the data.  

The term Business Intelligence (BI) represents the tools and systems that play a 
key role in the strategic planning process of the corporation. These systems allow a 
company to gather, store, access and analyze corporate data to aid in decision-making. 
Generally these systems will illustrate business intelligence in the areas of customer 
profiling, customer support, market research, market segmentation, product 
profitability, statistical analysis, and inventory and distribution analysis to name a few. 

To stay competitive, businesses need tools to take advantage of opportunities 
and avoid risk, in real-time. As a result, business-intelligence and related business-
reporting tools are going through a transformation, driven by business leaders and their 
need for visibility into day-to-day operations. 

Business intelligence tools, when combined with your operational data, enable 
you to: 

1. Increase sales using fact-based selling tools. 
2. Build profits by targeting profitable activities.  
3. Increase customer loyalty and retain customers for life.   
In Romania, the market of Business Intelligence solutions, together with that of 

ERP solutions (Enterprise Resource Planning), experienced an impressive evolution 
due both to the national economical development and to meet the need of companies to 
remain competitive on the market. 

The work instruments which Business Intelligence applications offer give the 
managerial department of the company the possibility to get involved and to begin 
analyzing data, without having to wait for the IT departments to hand in complex 
reports. 

To be more precise, such applications can do many operations and, what is 
more, they can be done in various departments of the company. One of the activities 
performed by this application is marketing analysis. 

3. Methodology  
Seven steps to rolling out BI systems: 
1. Make sure your data is clean. 
2. Train users effectively. 
3. Deploy quickly, then adjust as you go. Don't spend a huge amount of time up 

front developing the "perfect" reports because needs will evolve as the business 
evolves. Deliver reports that provide the most value quickly, and then tweak them. 

4. Take an integrated approach to building your data warehouse from the 
beginning. Make sure you're not locking yourself into an unworkable data strategy 
further down the road. 
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5. Define ROI clearly before you start. Outline the specific benefits you expect 
to achieve, then do a reality check every quarter or six months. 

6. Focus on business objectives. 
7. Don't buy business intelligence software because you think you need it. 

Deploy BI with the idea that there are numbers out there that you need to find, and 
know roughly where they might be. 

The strong engine Business Intelligence of QlikView analysis uses the 
revolutionary technology AQL (Associative Query Logic), which accesses structured 
information from various sources in an interactive and dynamical way, propelling the 
selections of analysis throughout the entire available data basis in order to build an 
associative, non-relational and extremely efficient data basis. 

AQL offers QlikView the possibility to work with millions of data cells and yet 
to answer the questions within less than a second. By replacing the classic relational 
technology with AQL, QlikView replaces the need of pre-aggregation of data. 

Furthermore it gives the possibility of connecting to any source of data (ERP, 
CRM, Microsoft Excel, logs, Access data bases), thus achieving the gathering of the 
pieces of information generated by the multitude of independent applications used 
within a company. 

The application QlikView, an extremely efficient instrument, performs a wide 
variety of analyses. I used it to develop a BI solution through which any piece of 
information that exists in the company’s database may be used and interpreted in an 
integrated context.   

Any user/manager may settle his/her own set of analyses and value 
consequently that vital information to fulfill his/her responsibilities. Thus the decisions 
of each department are based on accurate analyses that use efficiently all available 
information of a company.  

The graphic interface provides a high interactivity for the users. A few mouse 
clicks access immediately general or detailed information. 

4. Analyses 
To give an example we considered a company that deals with product 

distribution. The company has got several warehouses situated at different addresses 
and furnishes products to several clients from all over the country. The used 
information refers to: 

Articles characterized through: Product Code, Product Name, Weight, Product 
Group, Group Type; 

Customers defined through: Customer Code, Customer Name, Location Code, 
Customer Location Name, Customer Group, Customer Group Type, Department, 
Town, Invoicing Code; 

Invoice heading which comprises: ID, Invoicing Code, Date, Warehouse 
Location, Warehouse and Bill 

Invoice lines consisting of: ID, Product Code, Quantity and Price. 
Part of the reports designed to monitoring the specific sales of the chosen 

company are shown below: 
 

1. Q, RON, PM which contains the following graphics: 
a) Periodical evolutions. It is a graphic representation of the sales from each 
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month following several dimensions, such as: value, pieces, average price. 

 
Figure no. 1  - Weekly evolution of the average prices 

 
b) The number of clients, products and sales volume. Here we analyze the sales 

from the monthly point of view. Figure 2 shows the evolution of the number of 
distributed products, but by choosing from a menu there can be drawn diagrams for the 
number of customers or for the sales turnover.  

From the table adjoining the diagram other selections can be done, for instance 
we can choose to draw the diagram for a certain product group, for a certain customer, 
for a certain geographical area, for a certain group of customers, etc. In fact these 
selections can be done within any spreadsheet built with the aid of QlikView 
application. 
 

 
Figure no. 2 – Monthly evolution of the number of distributed products 

 
c) Comparisons. Here we draw graphics in which we can change axes 

depending on the values used. Figure 3 may provide the average prices analysis on 
product groups for a certain period of time (year, month, day). 
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Figure no. 3 – Comparisons 

d) Top 10 customers. It displays the first ten clients in the order of the sold 
values. 
 

 
Figure no. 4 – Top 10 customers 

 
2. Comparative evolution. The comparative evolution between the average 

price and the margin of products for a certain period (day, week, month, semester, year) 
is made on two axes(figure 6). At the same time, other comparative evolutions may be 
analyzed: between the average price and the sold quantity of products, between the 
average price and the number of customers, between the average price and the the 
number of sold products etc.   

3. The Key Performance Indicators (KPI). The key performance indicators are 
important for the teams, managers, or businesses in order to evaluate rapidly the 
progress to measurable objectives.  

Every business area can choose to follow other types of KPIs, according to the 
objectives which are to be fulfilled. For instance, in order to increase the customers’ 
satisfaction, a calling centre can have as its goal to settle to answer to a specific number 
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of telephone calls in a shorter period of time.  

 
Figure no. 5 - Comparative evolution on two axes  between the average price and 

the margin 

 
Figure no. 6 - KPI 

Another possibility is for the sales department to use KPIs in order to settle 
performance objectives, such as the number of the new products sold every month. 
Other example of such indicators could be defined:  

- the average income on customer;  
- sales versus target for every employee of the sales department;  
- the success rate (the number of contracts signed of the total). 
In the present case, I considered as performance indicators: the products value, 

the sold quantity, and the average price and I took into account the days of the current 
month and the days of the last month till the same day. 

5. Conclusions  
Business intelligence systems are contrasted to more classic forms of 

information gathering by their interdepartmental focus and their general overview 
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towards business performance. They are also unique in their use of advanced 
technology and techniques to mine for data and to crunch that data in the most optimal 
manner. While a group in charge of market analysis might have a strong understanding 
of the particular sector of the market in which a business operates, their lack of the 
same detailed understanding about specific competitors and the inner management of 
the company make their information less useful. In a business intelligence model, all 
these various forms of business improvement are tied together so that communication is 
quick and easy, and each segment helps inform the other segments so their insights are 
even more valuable than they would be on their own. 

All companies need information in order to make decisions. There is usually 
too much data spread in the IT systems of the company, but transforming the data into 
information that can be analyzed in order to make decisions is a difficult process. A 
Business Intelligence solution makes information accessible to the users who need it: 
analysts, and experts – multidimensional analyses, statistics; information consumers – 
dynamic interrogations, simple analyses; information users – reports. 

Good BI systems need to give context. It's not enough that they report sales 
were X yesterday and Y a year ago that same day. They need to explain what factors 
influencing the business caused sales to be X one day and Y on the same date the 
previous year. 

Business intelligence has been used to identify cost-cutting ideas, uncover 
business opportunities, roll ERP data into accessible reports, react quickly to retail 
demand and optimize prices. 

This information system is a Business Intelligence product offers informational 
support to those with analysis and decision powers in the „Marketing” and „Sales” 
departments. Implementing a business intelligence solution has the following benefits: 

- It places at the users’ disposal all relevant information about the business they 
need in due time. 

- Simplifies the search for complex data and automatizes business processes. 
- The solution is adapted to the specific requirements of the organization, unlike 

a prefabricated and difficult to adjust one. 
- It makes use of the existing technologies: Excel and requires little training as 

it is based on the present knowledge of the users. 
- It reduces the period of time for decision making, allowing rapid reaction to 

changes and generating a competitive advantage. 
I believe that, in the future, Business Intelligence solutions will become 

indispensable tools in the management of any company since quick and good decisions 
will become critical for survival and evolution on the European market. Romania shows 
a great potential to assimilate IT solutions, the receptivity for Business Intelligence 
solutions becoming more and more obvious both as mentality and practical application 
within the Romanian business environment. There are still problems, as there are 
Romanian managers that still need to be convinced to adopt global Business 
Intelligence solutions. 
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